

Investment Migration Council (IMC) Position Paper on TAX3 Committee Report *'Financial Crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance'*

March 2019

Investment Migration Council (IMC) cautions MEPs against phasing out industry responsible for vital investments

Key Ask: IMC calls on MEPs to table a plenary amendment to the TAX3 Committee report supporting better industry standards and regulation and removing references to phasing out the citizenship and residency-by-investment industry

The IMC recognise the significance of the European Parliament's TAX3 Committee report 'Financial Crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance' in promoting discussion around the Investment Migration sector. Open discussion and scrutiny are the first steps in addressing the public concerns about Investment Migration and improving standards across the board to ensure the risks of abuse are mitigated.

However, the IMC opposes the TAX3 Committee's call for the Investment Migration sector to be phased out since these programmes are responsible for vital investments in EU Member States.

The IMC calls on MEPs to table and support a plenary amendment (refer to <u>IMC Proposed Amendments</u> to <u>TAX3 Committee Report.pdf</u>) deleting direct references to banning or phasing out citizenship-byinvestment and residency-by-investment programmes, essentially pioneering categories of immigration and instead supporting the implementation of improved standards and possible regulation of the sector.

Investment Migration Council, 16 rue Maunoir, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland investmentmigration.org



Investment Migration is a €20 billion industry responsible for significant investment, job creation and societal development

Investment Migration accounts for billions of direct and indirect revenues in some smaller European states, as noted by the International Monetary Fund in its 2015 publication <u>"A Passport of</u> <u>Convenience"</u> as well as individual annual Country Reports. The European Parliament Research Service's 2018 report <u>"Citizenship by Investment (CBI) and Residency by Investment (RBI)</u>" likewise found that Investment Migration contributes several percentage points of GDP to small economies on the European periphery. Beyond Europe these contributions can be even larger, effectively creating a lifeline to foreign investment and development finance otherwise not possible.

We ask the European Parliament for better recognition of the existing evidence demonstrating the significant societal and economic benefits created by our industry. Phasing out Investment Migration programmes would be detrimental to the economies and public finances of Member States on the European periphery.

Instead, we call on MEPs to support better regulation, higher industry standards, educational programmes for industry professionals and better oversight to address the concerns that these programmes currently pose. These will help address key issues surrounding transparency, due diligence, and the potential for nefarious or in some cases illegal activities that can occur when Investment Migration is abused.

This amendment will support investments to peripheral economies while curtailing risks of abuse

The IMC's proposed amendment will align the Parliament's report with calls for better industry standards, ensuring the benefits of Investment Migration can be maximised and retained, while minimising the risks of abuse through more effective regulation.

The IMC supports calls in TAX3 Committee's report and the European Commission's report '<u>Investor</u> <u>Citizenship and Residence Schemes in the European Union</u>' for enhanced transparency, better risk management, control systems and oversight mechanisms, in addition to enhanced customer due diligence and better information-sharing about applicants between industry and governments.

These are crucial steps in raising standards and will complement the IMC's existing work in creating mandatory educational qualifications for professionals working in Investment Migration -

Investment Migration Council, 16 rue Maunoir, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland investmentmigration.org



professionalising our industry in line with other recognised sectors. We call on MEPs to build on this work and help to lead on setting global industry standards.

Include the Investment Migration industry in future policy discussions

The IMC are committed to implementing higher standards and look forward to collaborating with the European institutions to addressing their valid concerns about Investment Migration while maintaining and enhancing the sector's benefits to the individual, the country and wider society.

Better data and information are needed on this relatively new industry in order to support a wellinformed policy debate. This is why the IMC are proactively working with our industry members to provide independent research into key areas that we have identified as priorities: Due Diligence in Investment Migration, Setting Global Standards, National Security and Investment Migration; Societal Benefits of Investment Migration; Financial Crimes and Investment Migration.

We will be sharing these research reports and findings with the European Commission, European Parliament, OECD and IMF to proactively enhance cooperation and information-sharing over the coming period.

Good policymaking is built on solid factual debate and consultation with industry, therefore we call for the IMC's inclusion on all future initiatives at EU level and the EU policymaking process on the Investment Migration sector. A rigorous, fair and formalised system for Investment Migration is in the interests of the individual, the country and the wider society, and we look forward to cooperating with the institutions to help deliver it.

About the Investment Migration Council

The **Investment Migration Council** (IMC) is the worldwide association for Investment Migration, bringing together the leading stakeholders in the field and giving the industry a voice. The IMC sets the standards on a global level and interacts with other professional associations, governments and international organisations in relation to investment migration. The IMC helps to improve public understanding of the issues faced by clients and governments in this area and promotes education and high professional standards among its members.

Investment Migration Council, 16 rue Maunoir, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland investmentmigration.org



The IMC is constituted as a not-for-profit association under Swiss law. Based in Geneva, it has representative offices in New York, London and the Cayman Islands. Managed by a Secretariat under the direction of a Governing Board, the IMC also has a non-executive Advisory Committee, in which the most important industry stakeholders are represented. The IMC is funded by membership fees, donors and income from activities such as events, education, training, and publications.

Media Contact Office: +41 22 533 1333 Email: media@investmentmigration.org

Investment Migration Council, 16 rue Maunoir, 1211 Geneva, Switzerland investmentmigration.org

European Parliament

2014-2019



Plenary sitting

A8-0170/2019

8.3.2019

REPORT

on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (2018/2121(INI))

Special Committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance

Co-rapporteurs: Jeppe Kofod, Luděk Niedermayer

RR\1179147EN.docx

PE627.890v02-00

CONTENTS

Page

MOTION FOR A EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT RESOLUTION
OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE MANDATE
I. LIST OF ACRONYMS
II. COMMITTEE MANDATE
III. COMMITTEE COMPOSITION
IV. ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE
IV-1. Summary of the Committee's activities
IV-2. Programme of Committee meetings / Public hearings / Workshops and missions
VI-3. List of speakers (Committee meetings/Public hearings /workshops and missions)
IV-4. State of play on "Who refused to participate in hearing/delegation and why?" 125
IV-5. Fact-finding missions of the TAX3 Committee 128
IV-5.1 Mission to Washington D.C 16 - 18 July 2018 128
IV-5.2 Mission to Riga (Latvia) - 30 - 31 August 2018
IV-5.3 Mission to Douglas (Isle of Man) - 22 - 23 November 2018 141
IV-5.4 Mission to Estonia and Denmark -6-8 February 2019 146
V. LIST OF STUDIES
INFORMATION ON ADOPTION IN COMMITTEE RESPONSIBLE
FINAL VOTE BY ROLL CALL IN COMMITTEE RESPONSIBLE

MOTION FOR A EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT RESOLUTION

on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (2018/2121(INI))

The European Parliament,

- having regard to Articles 4 and 13 of the Treaty on European Union (TEU),
- having regard to Articles 107, 108, 113, 115 and 116 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU),
- having regard to its decision of 1 March 2018 on setting up a special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (TAX3), and defining its responsibilities, numerical strength and term of office¹,
- having regard to its TAXE committee resolution of 25 November 2015² and its TAX2 committee resolution of 6 July 2016³ on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect,
- having regard to its resolution of 16 December 2015 with recommendations to the Commission on bringing transparency, coordination and convergence to corporate tax policies in the Union⁴,
- having regard to the results of the Committee of Inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion, which were submitted to the Council and the Commission on 13 December 2017⁵,
- having regard to the Commission's follow-up to each of the above-mentioned Parliament resolutions,⁶
- having regard to the numerous revelations by investigative journalists, such as the LuxLeaks, the Panama Papers, the Paradise Papers and, more recently, the cum-ex scandals, as well as the money laundering cases involving, in particular, banks in Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Latvia, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom,
- having regard to its resolution of 29 November 2018 on the cum-ex scandal: financial crime and loopholes in the current legal framework⁷,

¹ Decision of 1 March 2018 on setting up a special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (TAX3), and defining its responsibilities, numerical strength and term of office, <u>Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0048</u>. ² Resolution of 25 November 2015 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect, OJ C 366,

<u>27.10.2017, p. 51</u>.

³ Resolution of 6 July 2016 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect, <u>OJ C 101, 16.3.2018, p. 79</u>. ⁴ <u>OJ C 399, 24.11.2017, p. 74</u>.

⁵ Recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion, <u>OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132</u>.

⁶ The joint follow-up of 16 March 2016 on bringing transparency, coordination and convergence to corporate tax policies in the Union and TAXE 1 resolutions, the follow-up of 16 November 2016 to the <u>TAXE 2</u> resolution and the follow-up to the <u>PANA</u> resolution of April 2018.

⁷ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0475.

- having regard to its resolution of 19 April 2018 on protection of investigative journalists in Europe: the case of Slovak journalist Ján Kuciak and Martina Kušnírová⁸,
- having regard to the studies prepared by the European Parliamentary Research Service on 'Citizenship by investment (CBI) and residency by investment (RBI) schemes in the EU: state of play, issues and impacts', 'Money laundering and tax evasion risks in free ports and customs warehouses' and 'An overview of shell companies in the European Union'⁹,
- having regard to the study on 'VAT fraud: economic impact, challenges and policy issues'¹⁰, the study on 'Cryptocurrencies and blockchain Legal context and implications for financial crime, money laundering and tax evasion' and the study on the 'Impact of Digitalisation on International Tax Matters'¹¹,
- having regard to the Commission studies on 'aggressive tax planning indicators'¹²,
- having regard to the evidence collected by the TAX3 committee in its 34 hearings with experts or exchanges of views with Commissioners and Ministers and during the missions to Washington, Riga, the Isle of Man, Estonia and Denmark,
- having regard to the modernised and more robust corporate tax framework introduced during this legislative term, notably the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directives (ATAD I¹³ and ATAD II¹⁴) and the reviews of the Directive on Administrative Cooperation in taxation (DAC)¹⁵,

⁸ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0183.

⁹ Scherrer A. and Thirion E., <u>Citizenship by Investment (CBI) and Residency by Investment (RBI) schemes in the EU</u>, EPRS, PE 627.128, European Parliament, October 2018; Korver R., <u>Money laundering and tax evasion risks in free ports</u>, EPRS, PE 627.114, European Parliament, October 2018 and Kiendl Kristo I. and Thirion E., <u>An overview of shell companies in the European Union</u>, EPRS, PE 627.129, European Parliament, October 2018.
¹⁰ Lamensch M. and Ceci, E., <u>VAT fraud: Economic impact, challenges and policy issues</u>, European Parliament,

Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A – Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 15 October 2018.

¹¹Houben R. and Snyers A, <u>Cryptocurrencies and blockchain</u>, European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A – Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 5 July 2018 and Hadzhieva E., <u>Impact of Digitalisation on International Tax Matters</u>, European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A – Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 15 February 2019.

 ¹² 'Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators – Final Report' (<u>Taxation paper No 61</u>, 27 January 2016), 'The Impact of Tax Planning on Forward-Looking Effective Tax Rates' (<u>Taxation paper No 64</u>, 25 October 2016) and 'Aggressive tax planning indicators – Final Report' (<u>Taxation paper No 71</u>, 7 March 2018).
 ¹³ Council Directive (EU) 2016/1164 of 12 July 2016 laying down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market, OJ L 193, 19.7.2016, p. 1.

¹⁴ Council Directive (EU) 2017/952 of 29 May 2017 amending Directive (EU) 2016/1164 as regards hybrid mismatches with third countries, <u>OJ L 144, 7.6.2017, p. 1</u>.

¹⁵ Relating respectively to the automatic exchange of tax rulings (Council Directive (EU) 2015/2376 of 8 December 2015 amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation, OJ L 332, 18.12.2015, p. 1, DAC3), exchange of country-by-country reports between tax authorities (Council Directive 2016/881 of 25 May 2016 amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation, OJ L 146, 3.6.2016, p. 8, DAC4), access to anti-money-laundering information by tax authorities, beneficial ownership and other customer due diligence (Council Directive 2016/2258 of 6 December 2016 amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation, OJ L 342, 16.12.2016, p. 1, DAC5), mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation in relation to reportable cross-border arrangements (Council Directive 2018/822 of 25 May 2018

- having regard to the Commission proposals pending for adoption, in particular on the CC(C)TB¹⁶, the digital taxation package¹⁷ and public country-by-country reporting (CBCR)¹⁸, as well as Parliament's position on these proposals,
- having regard to the resolution of the Council and the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States of 1 December 1997 on a Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation (CoC Group), and to this Group's regular reports to the ECOFIN Council,
- having regard to the Council list of non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes adopted on 5 December 2017 and amended on the basis of the ongoing monitoring of third country commitments,
- having regard to the Commission communication of 21 March 2018 on new requirements against tax avoidance in EU legislation governing in particular financing and investment operations (C(2018)1756),
- having regard to the ongoing modernisation of the VAT framework, in particular the VAT definitive regime,
- having regard to its resolution of 24 November 2016 on towards a definitive VAT system and fighting VAT fraud¹⁹,
- having regard to the recently adopted new EU anti-money laundering framework, in particular after the adoption of the fourth (AMLD4)²⁰ and fifth (AMLD5)²¹ reviews of the Anti-Money Laundering Directive,
- having regard to the infringement procedures against 23 Member States for having failed to transpose or for only having partially transposed AMLD4 into national law,

amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation, OJ L 139, 5.6.2018, p. 1, DAC6).

¹⁶ Proposal of 25 October 2016 for a Council Directive on a Common Corporate Tax Base (CCTB), <u>COM(2016)0685</u> and of 25 October 2016 on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (CCCTB), <u>COM(2016)0683</u>.

¹⁷ The package consists of the Commission communication of 21 March 2018 entitled 'Time to establish a modern, fair and efficient taxation standard for the digital economy' (COM(2018)0146), the proposal of 21 March 2018 for a Council directive laying down rules relating to the corporate taxation of a significant digital presence (COM(2018)0147, the proposal of 21 March 2018 for a Council directive on the common system of a digital services tax on revenues resulting from the provision of certain digital services (COM(2018)0147, and the Commission recommendation of 21 March 2018 relating to the corporate taxation of a significant digital presence (C(2018)0147, the proposal of 21 March 2018 relating to the corporate taxation of a significant digital services (COM(2018)0148, and the Commission recommendation of 21 March 2018 relating to the corporate taxation of a significant digital presence (C(2018)1650).

¹⁸ Proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 April 2016 amending Directive 2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of income tax information by certain undertakings and branches (COM(2016)0198).

¹⁹ OJ C 224, 27.6.2018, p. 107.

²⁰ Directive (EU) 2015/849 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2015 on the prevention of the use of the financial system for the purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing, amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and repealing Directive 2005/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and Commission Directive 2006/70/EC, <u>OJ L 141, 5.6.2015, p. 23</u>.

²¹ Directive (EU) 2018/843 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 amending Directive (EU) 2015/849 on the prevention of the use of the financial system for the purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing, and amending Directives 2009/138/EC and 2013/36/EU, <u>OJ L 156, 19.6.2018, p. 43</u>.

- having regard to the Commission Action Plan of 2 February 2016 on strengthening the fight against terrorist financing (COM(2016)0050)²²,
- having regard to the Commission communication of 12 September 2018 on strengthening the Union framework for prudential and anti-money laundering supervision (COM(2018)0645),
- having regard to the Platform of the Financial Intelligence Units of the European Union (EU FIUs' Platform) mapping exercise and gap analysis of 15 December 2016 on EU FIUs' powers and obstacles in obtaining and exchanging information, and to the Commission Staff Working Document of 26 June 2017 on improving cooperation between EU Financial Intelligence units (SWD(2017)0275),
- having regard to the Recommendation of the European Banking Authority (EBA) and the Commission of 11 July 2018 to the Maltese Financial Intelligence Analysis Unit (FIAU) on action necessary to comply with the Anti-Money Laundering and Countering Terrorism Financing Directive,
- having regard to the letter of 7 December 2018 sent by the TAX3 Committee Chair to the Permanent Representative of Malta to the EU, HE Daniel Azzopardi, seeking explanations about the company '17 Black',
- having regard to the state aid investigations and decisions of the Commission²³,
- having regard to the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2018 on protection of persons reporting on breaches of Union law (COM(2018)0218),
- having regard to the outcomes of the various G7, G8 and G20 summits held on international tax issues,
- having regard to the resolution adopted by the United Nations General Assembly on 27 July 2015 on the Addis Ababa Action Agenda,
- having regard to the report by the High Level Panel on Illicit Financial Flows from Africa, jointly commissioned by the African Union Commission(AUC)/UN Economic Commission for Africa (ECA) Conference of African Ministers of Finance, Planning and Economic Development,
- having regard to the Commission communication of 28 January 2016 on an External Strategy for Effective Taxation (COM(2016)0024), in which the Commission also called for the EU to 'lead by example',
- having regard to its resolutions of 8 July 2015 on tax avoidance and tax evasion as

 $^{^{22}}$ Communication of 2 February 2016 from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on an Action Plan for strengthening the fight against terrorist financing, <u>COM(2016)0050</u>.

²³ Relating to Fiat, Starbucks and the Belgian excess-profit ruling, and decisions to open state aid investigations on McDonald's, Apple and Amazon.

challenges for governance, social protection and development in developing countries²⁴, and of 15 January 2019 on gender equality and taxation policies in the EU²⁵,

- having regard to the obligation under Article 8(2) of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) to observe privacy laws at all times,
- having regard to the Commission report of 23 January 2019 on Investor Citizenship and Residence Schemes in the European Union (COM(2019)0012),
- having regard to the Commission communication of 15 January 2019 entitled 'Towards a more efficient and democratic decision making in EU tax policy' (COM(2019)0008),
- having regard to the European Economic and Social Committee opinion of 18 October 2017 entitled 'EU development partnerships and the challenge posed by international tax agreements',
- having regard to Rule 52 of its Rules of Procedure,
- having regard to the report of the Special Committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (A8-0170/2019),

1. General introduction setting the scene

1.1. Changes

- 1. Asserts that existing tax rules are often unable to keep up with the increasing speed of the economy; recalls that current international and national tax rules were mostly conceived in the early 20th century; asserts that there is an urgent and continuous need for reform of the rules, so that international, EU and national tax systems are fit for the new economic, social and technological challenges of the 21st century; notes the broad understanding that current tax systems and accounting methods are not equipped to keep up with these developments and ensure that all market participants pay their fair share of taxes;
- 2. Highlights that the European Parliament has made a substantial contribution to the fight against financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance as uncovered inter alia in the LuxLeaks, Panama Papers, Paradise Papers, Football Leaks, Bahamas Leaks, and cum-ex cases, notably with the work of the TAXE, TAX2²⁶ and TAX3 special committees, the PANA inquiry committee and the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs (ECON);
- 3. Welcomes the fact that during its current term the Commission has put forward 26 legislative proposals aimed at closing some of the loopholes, improving the fight against financial crimes and aggressive tax planning, and enhancing tax collection efficiency and tax fairness; deeply regrets the lack of progress in the Council on major initiatives in

²⁴ OJ C 265, 11.8.2017, p. 59.

²⁵ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2019)0014.

²⁶ According to Parliament's internal rules, Committee names can be abbreviated by a maximum of four letters, hence the former temporary Committees on taxation are referred to as TAXE, TAX2, PANA and TAX3. It should be noted, however, that the mandate 'Setting-up of a special committee on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect' refers exclusively to TAXE2.

relation to corporate tax reform that have not yet been finalised due to the lack of genuine political will; calls for the swift adoption of the EU initiatives that have not yet been finalised and for careful monitoring of the implementation to ensure efficiency and proper enforcement, in order to keep pace with the versatility of tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning;

- 4. Recalls that a tax jurisdiction has control only over tax matters related to its territory, whereas economic flows and some taxpayers such as multinational enterprises (MNEs) and high net worth individuals (HNWIs) operate globally;
- 5. Emphasises that defining tax bases requires being in possession of a full picture of a taxpayer's situation, including the components that are outside of the given tax jurisdiction, and determining which component refers to which jurisdiction; notes that it also requires that such tax bases are allocated between tax jurisdictions to avoid double-taxation and double non-taxation; affirms that priority should be given to eliminating double non-taxation, as well as ensuring that the issue of double taxation is tackled;
- 6. Considers that efforts need to be made by all EU institutions, as well as Member States, to explain to citizens the work being done in the field of taxation and the actions taken to remedy existing problems and loopholes; considers that the EU needs to adopt a broad strategy whereby the EU supports, with relevant policies, Member States in moving from their current detrimental tax systems to a tax system compatible with the EU's legal framework and the spirit of the EU Treaties;
- 7. Notes that economic flows²⁷ and opportunities to change tax residence have substantially increased; warns that some new phenomena²⁸ are inherently opaque or facilitate opaqueness, allowing for tax fraud, tax evasion, aggressive tax planning, and money laundering;
- 8. Deplores the fact that some Member States confiscate the tax base of other Member States by attracting profits generated elsewhere, thereby allowing companies to artificially lower their tax base; points out that this practice not only harms the principle of EU solidarity, but also gives rise to a redistribution of wealth towards MNEs and their shareholders at the expense of EU citizens; supports the important work by academics and journalists who are helping to shed light on these practices;

1.2. Purpose of taxation and the impact of tax fraud, tax evasion, harmful tax practices and money laundering on European societies

9. Considers that fair taxation and the determined fight against tax fraud, tax evasion, aggressive tax planning and money laundering have a central role to play in shaping a fair society and a strong economy while defending the social contract and the rule of law; notes that a fair and efficient taxation system is key to addressing inequality, not only by financing public spending to support social mobility, but also by reducing income inequalities; highlights that tax policy can have a major influence on employment

²⁷ Such as financialisation

²⁸ For example, the use of software programs to automatically skim cash from electronic cash registers or point-ofsale systems ('zapping'), the growing usage of third-party payroll processors enabling fraudsters to channel off legitimate taxes.

decisions, investment levels and the willingness of companies to expand;

- 10. Underlines that the most urgent priority is to reduce the tax gap resulting from tax fraud, tax evasion, aggressive tax planning and money laundering and their impact on national and EU budgets to ensure a level playing field and tax fairness between and among all taxpayers, to fight the rise in inequality and to strengthen trust in democratic policymaking by ensuring that fraudsters do not have a competitive tax advantage over honest taxpayers;
- 11 Stresses that joint efforts at EU and national level are crucial to defend the EU and national budgets from losses due to unpaid taxes; notes that only with fully and efficiently collected tax revenues, can states provide for, among other things, quality public services, including affordable education, healthcare and housing, security, crime control and emergency response, social security and care, enforcement of occupational and environmental standards, the fight against climate change, promotion of gender equality, public transport, and essential infrastructure in order to foster and, if necessary, to stabilise socially balanced development, to move towards the Sustainable Development Goals;
- 12. Considers that recent developments in taxation and tax collection, which have shifted the tax incidence from wealth to income, from capital income to labour income and consumption, from MNEs to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), and from the financial sector to the real economy, has had a disproportionate impact on women and low-income people, who typically rely more on labour income and spend a higher proportion of their income on consumption²⁹; notes that higher rates of tax evasion exist among the wealthiest³⁰; calls on the Commission to consider the impact on social development, including gender equality and the other aforementioned policies, in its legislative proposals in the areas of tax and anti-money laundering;

1.3. Risk and benefits linked to cash transactions

- 13. Stresses that cash transactions remain a very high risk in terms of money laundering and tax evasion, including VAT fraud, despite its benefits, such as accessibility and speed; notes that a number of Member States already have restrictions on cash payments in place; also notes that while rules on cash controls at the EU external borders have been harmonised, rules among Member states concerning cash movements within the EU's borders vary;
- 14. Notes that fragmentation and the divergent nature of these measures have the potential to disrupt the proper functioning of the internal market; calls on the Commission, therefore, to prepare a proposal on European restrictions on payments in cash, while maintaining cash as a means of payment; notes, furthermore, that high-denomination euro notes present a higher risk in terms of money laundering; welcomes the fact that the European Central

²⁹ Gunnarsson A., Schratzenstaller M. and Spangenberg U., Gender equality and taxation in the European Union, European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department C – Citizens' Rights and Constitutional Affairs, 15 March 2017; Grown C. and Valodia I (editors), *Taxation and Gender Equity: A Comparative Analysis of Direct and Indirect Taxes in Developing and Developed Countries*, Routledge, 2010, pp. 32 – 74, pp. 309 – 310, and p. 315; Action Aid, *Value-Added Tax (VAT)*, Progressive taxation policy briefing, 2018; and Stotsky J. G., *Gender and Its Relevance to Macroeconomic Policy: A Survey*, IMF Working Paper, WP/06/233, p. 42.

³⁰ TAX3 hearing of 24 January 2018 on the EU Tax Gap: see Figure 4.

Bank (ECB) announced in 2016 that it would no longer issue new EUR 500 notes (even though the outstanding stock remains legal tender); calls on the ECB to draw up a timetable to phase out the ability to use EUR 500 notes;

1.4. Quantitative assessment

- 15. Stresses that tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning result in lost resources for national and European Union budgets³¹; acknowledges that quantification of these losses is not straightforward; notes, however, that increased transparency requirements would not only provide better data, but also would contribute to reducing opaqueness;
- 16. Notes that several assessments have attempted to quantify the magnitude of losses from tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning; recalls that none of these provide a large enough picture on their own due to the nature of the data or the lack thereof; notes that some of the recent assessments supplement each other, based on different but complementary methodologies;
- 17. Deplores, once again, 'the lack of reliable and unbiased statistics on the magnitude of tax avoidance and tax evasion' and stresses 'the importance of developing appropriate and transparent methodologies to quantify the scale of these phenomena, as well as their impact on countries' public finances, economic activities and public investments'³²; points out the importance of the political and financial independence of statistical institutes to ensure the reliability of statistical data; calls for technical assistance to be requested from Eurostat for the collection of comprehensive and accurate statistics, so that they are provided in a comparable, easily coordinated digital format;
- 18. Recalls in particular the empirical assessment of the magnitude of annual revenue losses caused by aggressive corporate tax planning in the EU which was drawn up in 2015; notes that the assessment ranges from EUR 50-70 billion (sum lost to profit-shifting only, equivalent to at least 17 % of corporate income tax (CIT) revenue in 2013 and 0.4 % of GDP) to EUR 160-190 billion (adding individualised tax arrangements of major MNEs and inefficiencies in collection);
- 19. Calls on the Council and Member States to prioritise projects, notably with the support of the Fiscalis programme, aimed at quantifying the magnitude of tax avoidance in order to better address the current tax gap; stresses that the European Parliament has adopted³³ an increase in the Fiscalis programme; urges Member States, under the coordination of the Commission, to estimate their tax gaps and publish the results annually;
- 20. Notes that the IMF working paper³⁴ estimates worldwide losses due to base erosion and

³¹ Paragraph 49 of its position of 14 November 2018 on the Multiannual Financial Framework 2021-2027, Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0449.

 $^{^{32}}$ See paragraph 59 of the European Parliament's recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion, <u>OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p.</u> <u>132</u>.

³³ In the Multiannual Financial Framework 2021-2027 – Parliament's position with a view to an agreement and the amendments adopted by the European Parliament on 17 January 2019 on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing the 'Fiscalis' programme for cooperation in the field of taxation (Texts adopted, <u>P8_TA(2019)0039</u>).

³⁴ Crivelli E., De Mooij R. A., and Keen M., *Base Erosion, Profit Shifting and Developing Countries*, 2015.

profit shifting (BEPS) and relating to tax havens to be approximately USD 600 billion per year; notes that the IMF long-run approximate estimates are USD 400 billion for OECD countries (1 % of their GDP) and USD 200 billion for developing countries (1.3 % of their GDP);

- 21. Welcomes the recent estimates of the non-observed economy (NOE) often called the shadow economy in the 2017 Survey of Tax Policies in the European Union³⁵, which provides a broader indication of tax evasion; stresses that the value of the NOE measures economic activities which may not be captured in the basic data sources used for compiling national accounts;
- 22. Highlights that close to 40 % of MNEs' profits are shifted to tax havens globally each year with some European Union countries appearing to be the prime losers of profit shifting, as 35 % of shifted profits come from EU countries, followed by developing countries (30 %)³⁶; points out that about 80 % of the profits shifted from many EU Member States are channelled to or through a few other EU Member States; points out that MNEs can pay up to 30 % less tax than domestic competitors, and that aggressive tax planning distorts competition for domestic firms, in particular SMEs;
- 23. Notes that the MNEs heard by the TAX3 committee produce their own estimates of Effective Tax Rates (ETR)³⁷; points out that these estimates are questioned by some experts;
- 24. Calls for statistics to be collected on large transactions at free ports, customs warehouses and special economic zones, as well as disclosures made by intermediaries and whistle-blowers;

1.5. Tax fraud, tax evasion, tax avoidance and aggressive tax planning (ATP)

- 25. Recalls that the fight against tax evasion and fraud tackles illegal acts, whereas the fight against tax avoidance addresses situations that exploit loopholes in the law or are *a priori* within the limits of the law unless deemed illegal by the tax or, ultimately, the judicial authorities but against its spirit; calls, therefore, for simplification of the tax framework;
- 26. Recalls that improving tax collection in EU countries is likely to reduce crime associated with tax evasion and the money laundering that follows it;
- 27 Recalls that ATP describes the setting of a tax design aimed at reducing tax liability by using the technicalities of a tax system or arbitrating between two or more tax systems that go against the spirit of the law;
- 28. Welcomes the Commission's reply to the calls made in its TAXE, TAX2 and PANA resolutions to better identify ATP and harmful tax practices;

³⁵ Tax Policies in the European Union 2017 Survey, ISBN 978-92-79-72282-0.

³⁶ Tørsløv T. R., Wier L. S. and Zucman G., *The missing profits of nations*, National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No 24701, 2018.

 ³⁷ <u>Mission Report of the Delegation to Washington</u> D.C.
 Verbatim report of the TAX3 public hearing of 27 November 2018

- 29. Calls on the Commission and the Council to propose and adopt a comprehensive and specific definition of ATP indicators, building on both the hallmarks identified in the fifth review of the Directive on administrative cooperation (DAC6)³⁸ and the Commission's relevant studies and recommendations³⁹; stresses that these clear indicators may be based, where necessary, on internationally agreed standards; calls on Member States to use these indicators as a basis to repeal all harmful tax practices deriving from existing tax loopholes; calls on the Commission and the Council to regularly update these indicators if new ATP arrangements or practices emerge;
- 30. Stresses the similarity between corporate taxpayers and HNWIs in the use of corporate structures and similar structures such as trusts and offshore locations for the purpose of ATP; points out the role of intermediaries⁴⁰ in setting up such schemes; recalls, in this context, that most of the HNWIs' income arrives in the form of capital gains rather than earnings;
- 31. Welcomes the Commission's assessment and inclusion of ATP indicators in its 2018 European Semester country reports; calls for such an assessment to become a regular feature in order to ensure a level playing field in the EU internal market, as well as the greater stability of public revenue in the long run; invites the Commission to ensure clear follow-up to end ATP practices, if appropriate in the form of formal recommendations;
- 32. Reiterates its call on companies, as taxpayers, to fully comply with their tax obligations and refrain from ATP leading to BEPS, and to consider fair taxation strategy, as well as abstaining from harmful tax practices, as an important part of their corporate social responsibility, taking into account the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises in order to secure taxpayers' trust in tax frameworks;
- 33. Urges Member States taking part in the enhanced cooperation procedure to agree as quickly as possible on the adoption of a Financial Transaction Tax (FTT), while acknowledging that a global solution would be the most appropriate;

2. Corporate taxation

- 34. Recalls that opportunities for choosing a business or residence location on the basis of the regulatory framework have increased with globalisation and digitalisation;
- 35. Recalls that taxes must be paid in the jurisdictions where the actual substantive and genuine economic activity and value creation take place or, in the case of indirect taxation, where consumption takes place; highlights that this can be achieved by adopting the Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (CCCTB) in the EU with an appropriate and fair distribution, incorporating among other things all tangible and intangible assets;

³⁸ Council Directive (EU) 2018/822 of 25 May 2018 amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation in relation to reportable cross-border arrangements, <u>OJ L</u> <u>139, 5.6.2018, p. 1</u>.

³⁹ <u>Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators – Final Report (Taxation paper No 61, 27 January</u> 2016) and <u>Tax policies in the EU – 2017 Survey</u>

⁴⁰ Sometimes also referred to as enablers or promoters of tax evasion.

- 36. Notes that an exit tax was adopted by the EU in ATAD I, allowing Member States to tax the economic value of capital gain created on its territory even when that gain has not yet been realised at the time of exit; considers that the principle of taxing profits made in Member States before they leave the Union should be strengthened, for example through coordinated withholding taxes on interests and royalties, so as to close existing loopholes and avoid profits leaving the EU untaxed; calls on the Council to resume negotiations on the interest and royalties proposal⁴¹; notes that tax treaties often reduce the withholding tax rate with a view to avoiding double taxation⁴²;
- 37. Reaffirms that the adaptation of international tax rules needs to respond to avoidance deriving from the possible exploitation of the interplay between national tax provisions, and networks of tax treaties, resulting in an erosion of the tax base and double non-taxation while ensuring that there is no double-taxation;

2.1. BEPS action plan and its implementation in the EU: ATAD

- 38. Acknowledges that the G20/OECD-led BEPS project was meant to tackle in a coordinated manner the causes and circumstances creating BEPS practices, by improving the coherence of tax rules across borders, reinforcing substance requirements and enhancing transparency and certainty; states, however, that the degree of willingness and commitment to cooperate on the OECD BEPS action plan varies among countries and the particular actions concerned;
- 39. Notes that the G20/OECD 15-point BEPS action plan, intended to tackle in a coordinated manner the causes and circumstances creating BEPS practices, is being implemented and monitored and further discussions are taking place, in a broader context than just the initial participating countries, through the Inclusive Framework; calls, therefore, on Member States to support a reform of both the mandate and the functioning of the Inclusive Framework to ensure that remaining tax loopholes and unsolved tax questions such as the allocation of taxing rights among countries are covered by the current international framework to combat BEPS practices;
- 40. Takes note of the fact that the actions require implementation; takes note of the policy note⁴³ of the Inclusive Framework on BEPS, which aims to devise possible solutions to the identified challenges relating to the taxation of the digital economy;
- 41. Points out that some countries have recently adopted unilateral countermeasures against harmful tax practices (such as the UK's Diverted Profits Tax and the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI) provisions of the US tax reform) to ensure that the foreign income of MNEs is duly taxed at a minimum effective tax rate in the parent's country of residence; calls for an EU assessment of these measures; notes that, in contrast to these unilateral measures, the EU generally promotes multilateral and consensual solutions to deal with a fair allocation of taxing rights; stresses that, for example, the EU prioritises a

⁴¹ Proposal for a Council directive of 11 November 2011 on a common system of taxation applicable to interest and royalty payments made between associated companies of different Member States (COM(2011)0714).

⁴² Hearson M., *The European Union's Tax Treaties with Developing Countries: leading By Example*?, 27 September 2018.

⁴³ Policy note as approved by the Inclusive Framework on BEPS entitled 'Addressing the Tax Challenges of the Digitalisation of the Economy', released on 29 January 2019.

global solution for taxing the digital sector, but is nevertheless proposing an EU Digital Services Tax (DST) as global discussions have been progressing slowly;

- 42. Recalls that the 2016 EU 'anti-tax-avoidance package' supplements existing provisions so as to implement the 15 BEPS actions in a coordinated manner across the EU in the single market;
- 43. Welcomes the adoption by the EU of ATAD I and ATAD II; notes that these directives provide fairer taxation by establishing a minimum level of protection against corporate tax avoidance throughout the EU and ensuring a fairer and more stable environment for businesses, from both demand and supply perspectives; welcomes the provisions on hybrid mismatches to prevent double non-taxation in order to eliminate existing mismatches and refrain from creating further mismatches, between Member States and with third countries;
- 44. Welcomes the provisions on Controlled Foreign Corporation (CFC) included in ATAD I to ensure that profits made by related companies parked in low or no-tax countries are effectively taxed; acknowledges that they prevent the absence or diversity of national CFC rules within the Union from distorting the functioning of the internal market beyond situations of wholly artificial arrangements as called for repeatedly by Parliament; deplores the coexistence of two approaches to implement CFC rules in ATAD I and calls on Member States to implement only the simpler and most efficient CFC rules as in ATAD I Article 7(2)(a);
- 45. Welcomes the general anti-abuse rule for the purposes of calculating corporate tax liability included in ATAD I, allowing Member States to ignore arrangements that are not genuine and having regard to all relevant facts and circumstances aimed solely at obtaining a tax advantage; reiterates its repeated call for the adoption of a general and common, stringent anti-abuse rule, namely in existing legislation and in particular in the parent-subsidiary directive, the merger directive and the interest and royalties directive;
- 46. Reiterates its call for a clear definition of permanent establishment and significant economic presence so that companies cannot artificially avoid having a taxable presence in a Member State in which they have economic activity;
- 47. Calls for the finalisation of the work being done within the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum (JTPF) on the development of good practices and monitoring of Member States' implementation by the Commission;
- 48. Recalls its concerns relating to the use of transfer prices in ATP and consequently recalls the need for adequate action and improvement of the transfer pricing framework to address the issue; stresses the need to ensure that they reflect the economic reality, provide certainty, clarity and fairness for Member States and for companies operating within the Union, and reduce the risk of misuse of the rules for profit-shifting purposes, taking into account the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administration 2010⁴⁴; notes, however, that, as has been highlighted by experts and

⁴⁴ See <u>OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations 2017</u> from 10 July 2017.

publications, the use of the 'independent entity concept' or 'arm's length principle' constitutes one of the main factors enabling harmful tax practices⁴⁵;

- 49. Emphasises that the EU actions aimed at addressing BEPS and ATP have equipped tax authorities with an updated toolbox to ensure fair tax collection while maintaining the competitiveness of EU businesses; stresses that tax authorities should be responsible for making effective use of the tools without imposing an additional burden on responsible taxpayers, particularly SMEs;
- 50. Recognises that the new flow of information to tax authorities following the adoption of ATAD I and DAC4 creates the need for adequate resources to ensure the most efficient use of such information and to effectively reduce the current tax gap; calls on all Member States to make sure that the tools used by the authorities are sufficient and adequate to use this information and to combine and cross-check information from different sources and data sets;

2.2. Strengthening EU actions to fight against ATP and supplementing BEPS action plan

2.2.1. Scrutinising Member States' tax systems and overall tax environment – ATP within the EU (European Semester)

- 51. Welcomes the fact that Member States' tax systems and overall tax environment have become part of the European Semester in line with Parliament's call to that effect⁴⁶; welcomes the studies and data drawn up by the Commission⁴⁷ that allow situations that provide economic ATP indicators to be better addressed, and give a clear indication of the exposure to tax planning as well as furnishing a rich data base for all Member States on the phenomenon; points out that Member States, in the spirit of loyal cooperation, must not facilitate the creation of ATP schemes incompatible with the EU legal framework and the spirit of the EU Treaties;
- 52. Calls for these new tax indicators for the European Semester to be given the same status as the indicators relating to expenditure control; underlines the benefit of providing the European Semester with this tax dimension, as it will make it possible to tackle certain harmful tax practices that had not thus far been tackled through the ATAD Directive and other existing European regulations;
- 53. Welcomes the fact that DAC6 sets out the hallmarks of reportable cross-border arrangements that intermediaries must report to tax authorities to allow them to be assessed by the latter; welcomes the fact that these features of ATP schemes can be updated if new arrangements or practices emerge; points out that the deadline for the implementation of the directive has not yet elapsed and that the provisions will need to be monitored to ensure

⁴⁵ Public hearing of 24 January 2019 on the evaluation of the tax gap and 'Addressing the Tax Challenges of the Digitalisation of the Economy', OECD Policy Note, published 29 January 2019.

⁴⁶ European Parliament resolution of 25 November 2015 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect, OJ C 366, 27.10.2017, p. 51, paragraph 96.

⁴⁷ Referred to above. The studies provide an overview of Member States' exposure to ATP structures affecting their tax base (erosion or increase), although there is no stand-alone indicator of the phenomenon, a set of indicators seen as a 'body of evidence' nevertheless exists.

their efficiency;

- 54. Calls on the CoC Group to report yearly to the Council and Parliament on the main arrangements reported in Member States to allow decision makers to keep up with the new tax schemes which are being elaborated, and to take the necessary countermeasures that might potentially be needed;
- 55. Calls for both the EU institutions and the Member States to ensure that public procurement contracts do not facilitate tax avoidance by suppliers; points out that Member States should monitor and ensure that companies or other legal entities involved in tenders and procurement contracts do not participate in tax fraud, tax evasion and ATP; calls on the Commission to clarify existing procurement practice under the EU Procurement Directive, and if necessary, propose an update of the directive that does not prohibit the application of tax-related considerations as criteria for exclusion or even as selection criteria in public procurement;
- 56. Calls on the Commission to issue as soon as possible a proposal aimed at repealing patent boxes, and calls on Member States to favour non-harmful and, if appropriate, direct support for R&D on their territory; stresses that tax reliefs for companies need to be carefully constructed and implemented only where there is a positive impact on jobs and growth and any risk of creating new loopholes in the taxation system is excluded;
- 57. Reiterates, in the meantime, its call to ensure that current patent boxes establish a genuine link to economic activity, such as expenditure tests, and that they do not distort competition; notes the growing role of intangible assets in the MNE value chain; notes the improved definition of R&D costs in the common corporate tax base (CCTB) proposal; upholds Parliament's position on tax credit for genuine R&D expenses instead of R&D deduction;

2.2.2. Better cooperation in the area of taxation, including the CCCTB

- 58. Stresses that taxation policy in the European Union should focus both on fighting tax avoidance and ATP and on facilitating cross-border economic activity through cooperation between tax authorities and smart tax policy design;
- 59. Underlines that there is a multitude of tax-related obstacles that hamper cross-border economic activity; notes, in this regard, its resolution of 25 October 2012 on the 20 main concerns of European citizens and business with the functioning of the Single Market⁴⁸; urges the Commission to adopt an action plan addressing these obstacles as a matter of priority;
- 60. Welcomes the re-launch of the CCCTB project with the Commission's adoption of interconnected proposals on CCTB and CCCTB; stresses that once implemented fully, the CCCTB will eliminate loopholes between national tax systems, in particular transfer pricing;
- 61. Calls on the Council to swiftly adopt and implement the two proposals simultaneously

⁴⁸ OJ C 72 E, 11.3.2014, p. 1.

taking into consideration Parliament's opinion that already includes the concept of virtual permanent establishment and apportionment formulas that would close the remaining loopholes allowing tax avoidance to take place and level the playing field in light of digitalisation; regrets the continued refusal of certain Member States to find a solution, and calls on the Member States to bridge their diverging positions;

- 62. Recalls that the application of the C(C)CTB should be accompanied by the implementation of common accounting rules and appropriate harmonisation of administrative practices;
- 63. Recalls that in order to end the practice of profit shifting and introduce the principle that tax is paid where profit is generated, the CCTB and CCCTB should be introduced simultaneously in all Member States; calls on the Commission to issue a new proposal based on Article 116 of the TFEU, whereby the European Parliament and the Council act in accordance with the ordinary legislative procedure to issue the necessary legislation, should the Council fail to adopt a unanimous decision on the proposal to establish a CCCTB;

2.2.3. Corporate digital taxation

- 64. Notes that the phenomenon of digitalisation has created a new situation in the market, whereby digital and digitalised companies are able to take advantage of local markets without having a physical, and therefore taxable, presence in that market, creating a non-level playing field and putting traditional companies at a disadvantage; notes that digital businesses models in the EU face a lower effective average tax burden than traditional business models⁴⁹;
- 65. Points out, in this context, the gradual shift from tangible production to intangible assets in the value chains of MNEs, as reflected in the relative rates of growth over the last five years of royalties and licensing fee receipts (almost 5 % annually) compared with trade in goods and foreign direct investment (FDI) (less than 1 % annually)⁵⁰; deplores the fact that digital businesses pay almost no taxes in some Member States despite their significant digital presence and large revenues in those Member States;
- 66. Believes that the EU should allow for an attractive business environment in order to achieve a smoothly functioning digital single market while ensuring fair taxation of the digital economy; recalls that, when it comes to the digitalisation of the economy as a whole, the location of the value creation should take users' input into account, as well as information collected on consumers' behaviour online;
- 67. Underlines that a lack of a common Union approach to addressing the taxation of the digital economy will lead and indeed already has led Member States to adopt unilateral solutions, which will lead to regulatory arbitrage and the fracturing of the single market, and might become a burden for companies operating on a cross-border basis, as well as for tax authorities;

 ⁴⁹ As evidenced in the impact assessment of 21 March 2018 accompanying the digital tax package (SWD(2018)0081), according to which on average, digitalised businesses face an effective tax rate of only 9.5 %, compared to 23.2 % for traditional business models.
 ⁵⁰ LINCTAD. World Investment Report 2018

⁵⁰ UNCTAD, World Investment Report, 2018.

- 68. Notes the leading role played by the Commission and some Member States in the global debate on the taxation of the digitalised economy; encourages the Member States to continue their proactive work at OECD and UN level, especially via the process introduced by the Inclusive Framework on BEPS in its Policy Note⁵¹; recalls, however, that the EU should not wait for a global solution and must act immediately;
- 69. Welcomes the digital tax package adopted by the Commission on 21 March 2018; deplores, however, the lack of progress in the Council⁵² and its inability to come to an agreement on this Commission package; is concerned that, instead, the Council is considering a proposal that is much less ambitious in scope than the initial proposal and Parliament's subsequent position adopted on 13 December 2018⁵³; calls on the Council to swiftly adopt these proposals;
- 70. Emphasises that the agreement on what constitutes digital permanent establishment, the only one to have been reached hitherto, is a step in the right direction, but does not resolve the issue of tax base allocation;
- 71. Calls on the Member States willing to consider the introduction of a digital tax to do so within the framework of enhanced cooperation, should the Council not be able to reach agreement on the DST;
- 72. Understands that the so-called interim solution is not optimal; believes that it will help speed up the search for a better solution at global level, while levelling the playing field in local markets to some extent; calls on the EU Member States to discuss, adopt and implement the long-term solution concerning the taxation of the digital economy (on significant digital presence) as soon as possible in order for the EU to remain a trendsetter at global level; stresses that the long-term solution proposed by the Commission should serve as a basis for further work at international level;
- 73. Notes the strong demand for the DST by the EU citizens; recalls that surveys show that 80 % of citizens from Germany, France, Austria, the Netherlands, Sweden and Denmark are supportive of a DST, and think that the EU should pioneer international efforts; underlines, furthermore, that a majority of the surveyed citizens would like a broad scope for a DST⁵⁴;
- 74. Calls on the Member States to ensure that the DST remains a temporary measure by including a 'sunset clause' to the proposal for a Council Directive of 21 March 2018 on the common system of a digital services tax on revenues resulting from the provision of certain digital services⁵⁵ (COM(2018)0148), and by speeding up the discussion on a significant digital presence;

⁵¹ Addressing the Tax Challenges of the Digitalisation of the Economy – Policy Note, published on 29 January 2019. ⁵² Conclusions of the Economic and Financial Affairs Council, 4 December 2018.

⁵³ European Parliament legislative resolution of 13 December 2018 on the proposal for a Council directive on the common system of a digital services tax on revenues resulting from the provision of certain digital services, Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0523.

 ⁵⁴ KiesKompas, <u>Public Perception towards taxing digital companies in six countries</u>, December 2018.
 ⁵⁵ COM(2018)0148.

2.2.4. Effective Taxation

- 75. Notes that nominal corporate tax rates have decreased at EU level from an average of 32 % in 2000 to 21.9 % in 2018⁵⁶, which represents a decrease of 32 % ; is concerned about the implications of this competition on the sustainability of tax systems and its potential spillover effects on other countries; observes that the first G20/OECD-led BEPS project did not touch upon this phenomenon; welcomes the announcement of the Inclusive Framework on BEPS to explore on a 'without prejudice' basis taxing rights that would strengthen the ability of jurisdictions to tax profits where the other jurisdiction with taxing rights applies a low effective rate of tax to those profits, by 2020⁵⁷, which translates into minimum effective taxation; notes that, as stated by the Inclusive Framework on BEPS, the current OECD-led work does not imply changes to the fact that countries or jurisdictions remain free to set their own tax rates or not to have a corporate income tax system at all⁵⁸;
- 76. Welcomes the new OECD global standard on substantial activities factor to no or only nominal tax jurisdiction⁵⁹, largely inspired by the EU's work on the EU listing process (Fair criterion 2.2 of the EU list);
- 77. Notes the discrepancies between estimates of large corporations' effective tax rates often based on provision for taxes⁶⁰ and the actual tax paid by large MNEs; notes that traditional sectors pay on average an effective corporate tax rate of 23 %, while the digital sector pays about 9.5 %⁶¹;
- 78. Notes the diverging methodologies in assessing effective tax rates, which do not allow for reliable comparison of ETRs in the EU and globally; notes that some assessments of effective tax rates in the EU diverge from 2.2 % to 30 %⁶²; calls on the Commission to develop its own methodology and regularly publish the ETRs in the Member States;
- 79. Calls on the Commission to assess the phenomenon of decreasing nominal tax rates and its impact on ETRs in the EU, and to propose remedies, both within the EU and towards third countries as applicable, including strong anti-abuse rules, defensive measures, such as stronger controlled foreign company rules, and a recommendation to amend tax treaties;
- 80. Invites the Member States to update the mandate of the CoC Group to explore the concept of minimum effective taxation of corporate profits to follow up on the OECD's work on the Tax Challenges of the Digitalisation of the Economy;
- 81. Takes note of the statement made by the French Finance Minister at the TAX3 meeting of 23 October 2018 regarding the need to discuss the concept of minimum taxation; welcomes

⁵⁶ Taxation Trends in the European Union, Table 3: Top statutory corporate income tax rates (including surcharges), 1995-2018, European Commission, 2018.

⁵⁷ Addressing the Tax Challenges of the Digitalisation of the Economy – Policy Note, as approved by the Inclusive Framework on BEPS on 23 January 2019.

⁵⁸ Ibid.

⁵⁹ OECD, <u>Resumption of Application of Substantial Activities Factor to No or only Nominal Tax Jurisdictions –</u> <u>Inclusive Framework on BEPS: Action 5</u>, 2018.

⁶⁰ Public hearing of 27 November 2018 on 'Alleged aggressive tax planning schemes within the EU'.

⁶¹ Commission communication entitled 'Time to establish a modern, fair and efficient taxation standard for the digital economy' (COM(2018)0146).

⁶² Public hearing of 24 January 2019 on The Evaluation of the Tax Gap'.

France's readiness to include the debate on minimum taxation as one of the priorities of its G7 Presidency in 2019;

2.3. Administrative cooperation in relation to direct taxes

- 82. Stresses that since June 2014 the DAC has been amended four times;
- 83. Calls on the Commission to assess and present proposals to close loopholes in DAC2, particularly by including hard assets and cryptocurrencies in the scope of the directive, by prescribing sanctions for non-compliance or false reporting from financial institutions, as well as by including more types of financial institution and types of accounts that are not being reported at the moment, such as pension funds;
- 84. Reiterates its call for a broader scope in relation to the exchange of tax rulings and broader access by the Commission, and for greater harmonisation of the tax ruling practices of different national tax authorities;
- 85. Calls on the Commission to swiftly release its first assessment of DAC3 in this regard, looking in particular at the number of rulings exchanged and the number of occasions on which national tax administrations accessed information held by another Member State; asks that the assessment also consider the impact of disclosing key information related to tax rulings (the number of rulings, the names of beneficiaries, the effective tax rate deriving from each ruling); invites the Member States to publish domestic tax rulings;
- 86. Deplores the fact that the Commissioner in charge of taxation does not recognise the need to extend the existing system for the exchange of information between national tax authorities;
- 87. Reiterates, furthermore, its call to ensure simultaneous tax audits of persons of common or complementary interests (including parent companies and their subsidiaries), and its call to further enhance tax cooperation between Member States through an obligation to answer group requests on tax matters; points out that the right to remain silent in dealings with tax authorities does not apply to a purely administrative investigation and that cooperation is mandatory⁶³;
- 88. Considers that coordinated on-site inspections and joint audits should be part of the European framework of cooperation between tax administrations;
- 89. Emphasises that not only information exchanges and the processing of information, but also the sharing of best practices among tax authorities, contribute to more efficient tax collection; calls on Member States to give priority to the sharing of best practices among tax authorities, particularly regarding the digitalisation of tax administrations;
- 90. Calls on the Commission and Member States to harmonise procedures for a digital system of filing tax returns in order to facilitate cross-border activities and reduce red tape;
- 91. Calls on the Commission to swiftly assess the implementation of DAC4 and whether national tax administrations effectively access country-by-country information held by

⁶³ ECtHR, judgment of 16 June 2015 (No 787/14), van Weerelt v the Netherlands.

another Member State; asks the Commission to assess how DAC4 relates to Action 13 of the G20/BEPS action plan on exchange of country-by-country information;

- 92. Welcomes the automatic exchange of financial account information based on the global standard which has been developed by the OECD with Andorra, Liechtenstein, Monaco, San Marino and Switzerland; calls on the Commission and the Member States to upgrade the Treaty provisions so as to match the DAC as amended;
- 93. Stresses, furthermore, the contribution made through the Fiscalis 2020 Programme, which aims to enhance cooperation between participating countries, their tax authorities and their officials; stresses the added value brought by joint actions in this field and the role of the possible programme in developing and operating major trans-European IT systems;
- 94. Reminds Member States of all their obligations under the Treaty⁶⁴, in particular to cooperate loyally, sincerely and expeditiously; calls, therefore, in the light of cross-border cases, and most notably the so-called cum-ex files, for the nomination of Single Points of Contact (SPoC) by all Member States' national tax authorities, in line with the SPoC-system of the Joint International Taskforce on Shared Intelligence and Collaboration (JITSIC) in the framework of the OECD⁶⁵, to facilitate and enhance cooperation in combating tax fraud, tax evasion and ATP; calls further on the Commission to facilitate and coordinate cooperation between Member States' SPoCs;
- 95. Recommends that Member States' authorities which are notified by their counterparts in other Member States of potential breaches of law be required to provide an official notification of receipt and, where appropriate, a substantive response on actions taken following the aforementioned notification in a timely manner;

2.4. Dividend stripping and coupon washing

- 96. Notes that cum-ex transactions have been a known global problem since the 1990s, including in Europe, yet no coordinated counteraction has been taken; deplores the tax fraud revealed by the so-called cum-ex files scandal which has led to publicly reported losses of Member States' tax revenue, amounting to as much as EUR 55.2 billion according to some media estimates; highlights that the consortium of European journalists identifies Germany, Denmark, Spain, Italy and France as allegedly the main target markets for cum-ex trading practices, followed by Belgium, Finland, Poland, the Netherlands, Austria and the Czech Republic;
- 97. Stresses that the complexity of tax systems can give rise to legal loopholes facilitating tax fraud schemes such as cum-ex;
- 98. Notes that the systematic fraud centred around the cum-ex and cum-cum schemes was made possible in part because the relevant authorities in the Member States did not perform sufficient checks on applications for the reimbursement of taxes and lack a clear and complete picture of the actual ownership of shares; calls on the Member States to give access to all relevant authorities to complete and up-to-date information on ownership of

 $^{^{64}}$ Article 4(3) of the TEU.

⁶⁵ Joint International Taskforce on Shared Intelligence and Collaboration.

shares; calls on the Commission to assess whether EU action is needed in this regard, and to present a legislative proposal should the assessment demonstrate a need for such action;

- 99. Underlines that the revelations seem to indicate possible shortcomings in national taxation laws and in the current systems of exchange of information and cooperation between Member State authorities; urges the Member States to effectively use all communication channels, national data and data made available by the strengthened framework for exchange of information;
- 100. Stresses that the cross-border aspects of the cum-ex files should be addressed multilaterally; warns that the introduction of new bilateral treaties on exchanges of information and bilateral cooperation mechanisms between individual Member States would complicate the already complex web of international rules, introduce new loopholes and contribute to the lack of transparency;
- 101. Urges all Member States to thoroughly investigate and analyse dividend payment practices in their jurisdictions, to identify the loopholes in their tax laws that generate opportunities for exploitation by tax fraudsters and avoiders, to analyse any potential cross-border dimension of these practices and to put an end to all these harmful tax practices; calls on Member States to exchange best practices in this regard;
- 102. Calls on the Member States and their financial supervisory authorities to assess the need to ban exclusively tax-driven financial practices such as dividend arbitrage or dividend stripping and similar schemes, in absence of proof to the contrary by the issuer that these financial practices have a substantive economic purpose other than unjustified tax reimbursement and/or tax avoidance; calls for the EU legislators to evaluate the possibility of implementing this measure at EU level;
- 103. Calls on the Commission to start working immediately on a proposal for a European financial police force within the framework of Europol with its own investigatory capabilities, as well as on a European framework for cross-border tax investigations and other cross-border financial crimes;
- 104. Concludes that the cum-ex-files demonstrate the urgent need to improve cooperation between EU Member States' tax authorities, particularly with regard to information sharing; urges, therefore, the Member States to enhance their cooperation in detecting, stopping, investigating and prosecuting tax fraud and evasion schemes such as cum-ex and, where applicable, cum-cum, including exchange of best practices, and to support EU-level solutions where justified;

2.5. Transparency in relation to corporate tax

- 105. Welcomes the adoption of DAC4 providing for CBCR to tax authorities, in line with the BEPS Action 13 standard;
- 106. Recalls that public CBCR is one of the key measures to create greater transparency on tax information of companies; stresses that the proposal for public CBCR by certain undertakings and branches was submitted to the co-legislators just after the Panama Papers

PE627.890v02-00

scandal on 12 April 2016, and that Parliament adopted its position on it on 4 July 2017⁶⁶; recalls that it called for an enlargement of the scope of reporting and protection of commercially sensitive information with due regard to the competitiveness of EU enterprises;

- 107. Deplores the lack of progress and cooperation from the Council since 2016; urges that swift progress be made in the Council so that it enters into negotiations with Parliament;
- 108. Recalls that public scrutiny is useful for researchers⁶⁷, investigative journalists, investors and other stakeholders to properly assess risks, liabilities and opportunities to stimulate fair entrepreneurship; recalls that similar provisions already exist for the banking sector in Article 89 of Directive 2013/36/EU (CDR IV)⁶⁸ and for the extractive and logging industries in Directive 2013/34/EU⁶⁹; notes that some private stakeholders are voluntarily developing new reporting tools enhancing tax transparency, such as the Global Reporting Initiative standard 'Disclosure on tax and payments to governments', as part of their corporate social responsibility policy;
- 109. Recalls that measures on corporate tax transparency are to be regarded as relating to Article 50, paragraph 1 of the TFEU on freedom of establishment, hence the above-mentioned article is the appropriate legal base for the proposal for public CBCR as found in the Commission's impact assessment published on 12 April 2016 (COM(2016)0198);
- 110. Notes that, with regard to the limited capacity of developing countries to meet requirements through existing exchange of information procedures, transparency is particularly important, as it would ease access to information for their tax administrations;

2.6. State aid rules

- 111. Recalls that the area of direct business taxation falls within the scope of State aid⁷⁰ when fiscal measures discriminate between taxpayers, contrary to fiscal measures of a general nature that apply to all undertakings without distinction;
- 112. Calls on the Commission and, in particular, the Directorate-General for Competition, to assess possible measures to discourage Member States from granting such State aid in the form of a tax advantage;
- 113. Welcomes the Commission's new proactive and open approach to investigations into illegal State aid during the present term, which has led to a number of high-profile cases

⁶⁶ See also the European Parliament recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132). ⁶⁷ Public hearing of 24 January 2019 on 'The Evaluation of the Tax Gap'.

⁶⁸ Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC, OJ L 176, 27.6.2013, p. 63.

⁶⁹ Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain types of undertakings, amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC, OJ L 182, 29.6.2013, p. 19.

⁷⁰ As the Court of Justice of the European Union stated as early as 1974.

being concluded by the Commission;

- 114. Welcomes the fact that since 2014, the Commission has been investigating the tax ruling practices of Member States, following up on allegations of the favourable tax treatment of certain companies, and has launched nine formal investigations since 2014, six of which concluded that the tax ruling constituted illegal State aid⁷¹; notes that one investigation was closed concluding that the double non-taxation of certain profits did not constitute State aid⁷², while the other two are ongoing⁷³;
- 115. Notes that despite the fact that the Commission found McDonald's benefited from double non-taxation on certain of its profits in the EU, no decision under EU State aid rules could be issued, as the Commission concluded that the double non-taxation stemmed from a mismatch between Luxembourg and US tax laws and the Luxembourg-United States double taxation treaty⁷⁴; acknowledges the announcement by Luxembourg to revise its double taxation treaties to conform with international tax law;
- 116. Is concerned by the magnitude of tax unpaid for all Member States over long periods⁷⁵; recalls that the aim of the recovery of unlawful aid is to restore the position to the status quo, and that calculating the exact amount of aid to be repaid is part of the implementation obligation incumbent on the national authorities; calls on the Commission to assess and establish viable countermeasures, including fines, to help Member States avoid offering selective favourable tax treatment which constitutes State aid that is non-compliant with EU rules;
- 117. Reiterates its calls to the Commission for guidelines clarifying what constitutes tax-related State aid and 'appropriate' transfer pricing; calls also for the Commission to remove legal uncertainties for both compliant taxpayers and tax administrations, and provide a comprehensive framework for Member States' tax practices accordingly;

2.7. Letterbox companies

118. Notes that there is no single definition of letterbox companies, i.e. companies registered in a jurisdiction for tax avoidance or tax evasion purposes only and without any significant economic presence; points out, however, that simple criteria such as actual business activity or the physical presence of staff working for a company could serve to identify letterbox companies and combat their proliferation; reiterates its call for a clear definition;

⁷¹ Decision of 20 June 2018 on State aid implemented by Luxembourg in favour of ENGIE (<u>SA.44888</u>); decision of 4 October 2017 on State aid granted by Luxembourg to Amazon (<u>SA.38944</u>); decision of 30 August 2016 on State aid implemented by Ireland to Apple (<u>SA.38373</u>); decision of 11 January 2016 on 'Excess Profit exemption in Belgium – Art. 185§2 b) CIR92' (<u>SA.37667</u>); decision of 21 October 2015 on State aid implemented by the Netherlands to Starbucks(<u>SA.38374</u>); and decision of 21 October 2015 on State aid which Luxembourg granted to Fiat (<u>SA.38375</u>). There are pending proceedings before the Court of Justice of the European Union and the General Court related to all six decisions.

⁷² Decision of 19 September 2018 on 'Alleged aid to Mc Donald's – Luxembourg' (SA.38945).

 ⁷³ 'Possible State aid in favour of Inter IKEA investigation' opened on 18 December 2017 (<u>SA.46470</u>) and 'UK tax scheme for multinationals (Controlled Foreign Company rules)' opened on 26 October 2018 (<u>SA.44896</u>).
 ⁷⁴ <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-18-5831 en.htm</u>

⁷⁵ As in the case of decision of 30 August 2016 (<u>SA.38373</u>) on State aid implemented by Ireland to Apple. The tax rulings in question were issued by Ireland on 29 January 1991 and 23 May 2007.

- 119. Stresses that, as proposed in Parliament's position for inter-institutional negotiations for the amending directive as regards cross-border conversions, mergers and divisions⁷⁶, Member States should be required to ensure that cross-border conversions correspond to the actual pursuit of a genuine economic activity, including in the digital sector, to avoid the setting up of 'letterbox' companies;
- 120. Calls for Member States to request that a set of financial information be exchanged between the competent authorities ahead of the execution of cross-border conversions, mergers or divisions;
- 121. Calls for the identities of the actual owners to be disclosed to tax authorities;
- 122. Points out national measures to specifically ban commercial relationships with letterbox companies; highlights, in particular, the Latvian legislation which defines a letterbox company as an entity having no actual economic activity and holding no documentary proof to the contrary, as being registered in a jurisdiction where companies are not required to submit financial statements, and/or as having no place of business in its country of residence; notes, however, that, according to EU law, the banning of letterbox companies in Latvia cannot be used to ban letterbox companies resident in EU Member States, as that would be considered discriminatory⁷⁷; calls for the Commission to propose changes to the current EU law that would enable the banning of letterbox companies even if resident in EU Member States;
- 123. Highlights that the high level of inward and outward FDI as a percentage of GDP in seven Member States (Belgium, Cyprus, Hungary, Ireland, Luxembourg, Malta, and the Netherlands) can only to a limited extent be explained by real economic activities taking place in these Member States⁷⁸;
- 124. Underlines the high share of FDI in several Member States, particularly in Luxembourg, Malta, Cyprus, the Netherlands and Ireland⁷⁹; notes that such FDI is usually held by special purpose entities (SPEs) that often serve to exploit loopholes; calls on the Commission to assess the role of the SPEs holding FDI;
- 125. Notes that economic indicators such as an unusually high level of FDI, as well as FDI held by SPEs, are included among ATP indicators⁸⁰;
- 126. Notes that the ATAD anti-abuse rules (artificial arrangements) cover letterbox companies, while the CCTB and CCCTB would ensure that the income is attributed to where the real

⁷⁶ Directive (EU) 2017/1132 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 relating to certain aspects of company law, OJ L 169, 30.6.2017, p. 46.

⁷⁷ TAX3 Delegation to Riga (Latvia), 30-31 August 2018, Mission Report.

⁷⁸ Kiendl Kristo I. and Thirion E., <u>An overview of shell companies in the European Union</u>, EPRS, PE 627.129, European Parliament, October 2018, p. 23.

⁷⁹ Kiendl Kristo I. and Thirion E., <u>op. cit.</u>, p. 23; 'Study on Structures of Aggressive Tax Planning and Indicators – Final Report' (<u>Taxation paper No 61</u>, 27 January 2016); 'The Impact of Tax Planning on Forward-Looking Effective Tax Rates' (<u>Taxation paper No 64</u>, 25 October 2016) and '<u>Aggressive tax planning indicators – Final Report</u>' (<u>Taxation paper No 71</u>, 7 March 2018).

⁸⁰ IHS, <u>Aggressive tax planning indicators</u>, prepared for the European Commission, DG TAXUD Taxation papers, Working paper No 71, 7 March 2018.

economic activity takes place;

- 127. Urges the Commission and the Member States to establish coordinated, binding, enforceable and substantial economic activity requirements as well as expenditure tests;
- 128. Calls on the Commission to carry out, within two years, fitness checks of the interconnected legislative and policy initiatives aimed at addressing the use of letterbox companies in the context of tax fraud, tax evasion, aggressive tax planning and money laundering;

3. VAT

- 129. Underscores the need for harmonisation of VAT rules at EU level to the extent that it is necessary to ensure the establishment and the functioning of the internal market and to avoid distortion of competition⁸¹;
- 130. Stresses that VAT is an important source of tax revenue for national budgets; notes that in 2016, VAT revenues in the EU-28 Member States amounted to EUR 1 044 billion, which corresponds to 18 % of all tax revenues in the Member States; takes note of the fact that the 2017 annual EU budget amounted EUR 157 billion;
- 131. Regrets, however, that every year, large amounts of the expected VAT revenue are lost because of fraud; highlights that according to the Commission's statistics, the VAT gap (which is the difference between the expected VAT revenue and the VAT actually collected, thereby providing an estimate of the VAT lost due not only to fraud, but also to bankruptcy, miscalculations and avoidance) in the EU in 2016 amounted to EUR 147 billion, which represents more than 12 % of the total expected VAT revenue⁸², although the situation is much worse in a number of Member States where the gap is close to or even above 20 %, showing a big difference between Member States in their handling of the VAT gap;
- 132. Notes that the Commission estimates that around EUR 50 billion or EUR 100 per EU citizen each year is lost to cross-border VAT fraud⁸³; while Europol estimates that around EUR 60 billion of VAT fraud is linked to organised crime and terrorism financing; notes the increased harmonisation and simplification of VAT regimes in the EU, although cooperation between Member States is neither sufficient nor effective as of yet; calls on the Commission and the Member States to reinforce their cooperation to better fight against VAT fraud; calls on the next Commission to prioritise the introduction and implementation of the definitive VAT regime in order to improve it;
- 133. Calls for reliable statistics to estimate the VAT gap and stresses the need for a common approach to data collection and sharing within the EU; urges the Commission to ensure that harmonised statistics are collected and published regularly in the Member States;
- 134. Underlines that the feature of the current VAT (transitional) regime of applying an exemption to intracommunity supplies within the EU and exports has been abused by

⁸¹ Article 113 of the TFEU

 ⁸² Study and Reports on the VAT Gap in the EU-28 Member States: 2018 Final Report / <u>TAXUD/2015/CC/131</u>.
 ⁸³ See <u>Commission press release</u>.

fraudsters, in particular in the VAT carousel fraud or missing trader intra-community fraud (MTIC);

135. Takes note of the fact that according to the Commission, businesses trading on a crossborder basis currently suffers from compliance costs which are 11 % higher compared to those incurred by companies that only trade domestically; notes that, in particular, SMEs suffer from disproportionate VAT compliance costs, which is one of the reasons they have remained wary of reaping the advantages of the single market; calls on the Commission and Member States to develop solutions to reduce the VAT compliance costs linked to cross-border trade;

3.1. Modernisation of the VAT framework

- 136. Welcomes, therefore, the Commission's VAT action plan of 6 April 2016 to reform the VAT framework and the 13 legislative proposals adopted by the Commission since December 2016 that address the shift towards the definitive VAT regime, remove VAT obstacles to e-commerce, review the VAT regime for SMEs, modernise the VAT rates policy and tackle the VAT tax gap;
- 137. Welcomes the fact that a VAT Mini One Stop Shop (MOSS) on telecommunications, broadcasting and electronic services was introduced in 2015 as a voluntary system for the registration, declaration and payment of VAT; welcomes the extension of the MOSS to other supplies of goods and services to final consumers as of 1 January 2021;
- 138. Notes that the Commission estimates that the reform to modernise VAT is expected to reduce red tape by 95 %, which amounts to an estimated EUR 1 billion;
- 139. Welcomes in particular the fact that on 5 December 2017 the Council adopted new rules making it easier for online businesses to comply with VAT obligations ; welcomes in particular the fact that the Council took Parliament's opinion on board in relation to introducing online platforms' liability for collecting VAT on the distance sales that they facilitate; considers that this measure will ensure a level playing field with non-EU businesses, as many goods that are imported for distance sales currently enter the EU VAT-free; calls on the Member States to correctly implement the new rules by 2021;
- 140. Welcomes the definitive VAT system proposals adopted on 4 October 2017⁸⁴ and 24 May 2018⁸⁵; welcomes in particular the Commission's proposal to apply the destination principle to taxation, which means that VAT would be paid to the tax authorities of the Member State of the final consumer at the rate applicable in that Member State;
- 141. Welcomes in particular the progress made by the Council towards the definitive VAT regime by adopting the Quick Fixes⁸⁶ on 4 October 2018; expresses its concern, however, that no safeguards in relation to its fraud-sensitive aspects were adopted along the lines of

⁸⁴ COM(2017)0569, COM(2017)0568 and COM(2017)0567.

⁸⁵ COM(2018)0329.

⁸⁶ Proposal for a Council Directive amending Directive 2006/112/EC as regards harmonising and simplifying certain rules in the value added tax system and introducing the definitive system for the taxation of trade between the Member States (COM(2017)0569).

Parliament's position⁸⁷ on the Certified Taxable Person (CTP) proposal⁸⁸, as expressed in its opinion of 3 October 2018⁸⁹; profoundly regrets that the Council postponed the decision on introduction of CTP status until the adoption of the definitive VAT regime;

- 142. Calls on the Council to ensure that CTP status is consistent with Authorised Economic Operator (AEO) status, which is granted by the customs authorities;
- 143. Calls for a minimal EU transparent coordination on the definition of CTP status, including a regular assessment by the Commission on how Member States grant CTP status; calls for the exchange of information between Member States' tax authorities about refusals to grant CTP status to certain companies, in order to enhance coherence and common standards;
- 144. Welcomes, furthermore, the revision of the special schemes for SMEs⁹⁰ which is key to ensuring a level playing field, as VAT exemption schemes are currently only available to domestic entities, and can contribute to the reduction of VAT compliance costs for SMEs; calls on the Council to take Parliament's opinion of 11 September 2018⁹¹ into account, particularly when it comes to further administrative simplification for SMEs; calls, therefore, on the Commission to set up an online portal through which SMEs willing to avail themselves of the exemption in another Member State are required to register, and to put in place a one-stop shop through which small enterprises can file VAT returns for the different Member States in which they operate;
- 145. Notes the adoption of the Commission proposal for a general reverse charge Mechanism (GRCM)⁹² that will allow temporary derogations from normal VAT rules in order to better prevent carousel fraud in the Member States that are most severely affected by this type of fraud; calls on the Commission to closely monitor the application and the potential risks and benefits of this new legislation; insists, however, that the GRCM should by no means delay the swift implementation of a definitive VAT system;
- 146. Notes that the expansion of e-commerce can often pose a challenge for tax authorities, e.g. the absence of a seller's taxable identification in the EU, and the registration of VAT declarations well below the real value of the declared transactions; welcomes, therefore, the spirit of the proposed implementing rules relating to distance sales of goods adopted on 11 December 2018 by the Commission (COM(2018)0819 and COM(2018)0821),

⁸⁷ European Parliament legislative resolution of 3 October 2018 on the proposal for a Council directive amending Directive 2006/112/EC as regards harmonising and simplifying certain rules in the value added tax system and introducing the definitive system for the taxation of trade between Member States, texts adopted, P8 TA(2018)0366.

⁸⁸ Proposal for a Council Directive amending Directive 2006/112/EC as certain value added tax obligations for supplies of services and distance sales of goods (COM(2016)0757).

⁸⁹ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0367.

⁹⁰ Proposal for a Council Directive amending Directive 2006/112/EC on the common system of value added tax as regards the special scheme for small enterprises (COM(2018)0021).

⁹¹European Parliament legislative resolution of 11 September 2018 on the proposal for a Council directive amending Directive 2006/112/EC on the common system of value added tax as regards the special scheme for small enterprises, Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0319.

⁹² Proposal for a Council Directive of 21 December 2016 amending Directive 2006/112/EC on the common system of value added tax as regards the temporary application of a generalised reverse charge mechanism in relation to supplies of goods and services above a certain threshold (COM(2016)0811).

according to which, notably, from 2021 online platforms will have the responsibility to ensure that VAT is collected on sales of goods by non-EU companies to EU consumers taking place on their platforms;

147. Calls on the Commission and Member States to monitor e-commerce transactions involving sellers based outside the EU that would declare no VAT (for example by unduly using the 'sample' statute) or would deliberately underestimate the value in order to avoid altogether or reduce the VAT due; considers that such practices endanger the integrity and smooth functioning of the EU's internal market; calls on the Commission to come up with proposals if appropriate and necessary;

3.2. The VAT gap, the fight against VAT fraud and administrative cooperation on VAT

- 148. Reiterates its call to the factors contributing to the tax gap, not least VAT;
- 149. Welcomes the opening of infringement procedures by the Commission on 8 March 2018 against Cyprus, Greece and Malta, and on 8 November 2018 against Italy and the Isle of Man as regards abusive VAT practices in relation to the acquisition of yachts and aircraft, to ensure that they stop offering allegedly unlawful favourable tax treatment for private yachts and aircraft, which distorts competition in the maritime and aviation sectors;
- 150. Welcomes the amendments to Regulation (EU) No 904/2010 as regards measures to strengthen administrative cooperation in the field of VAT; welcomes the Commission's monitoring visits to 10 Member States carried out in 2017, notably the subsequent recommendation to improve the reliability of the VAT Information Exchange System (VIES);
- 151. Notes that the Commission has recently proposed additional control tools and an enhanced role for Eurofisc, as well as mechanisms for closer cooperation between customs and tax administrations; calls on all Member States to participate more actively in the Transactional Network Analysis (TNA) system in the framework of Eurofisc;
- 152. Is of the opinion that the participation of all Member States in Eurofisc must be mandatory and a condition for receiving EU funds; echoes the preoccupation of the European Court of Auditors on VAT reimbursement in Cohesion spending⁹³ and on the EU Anti-Fraud Programme⁹⁴;
- 153. Urges the Commission to examine the possibilities for real-time collection and communication of transactional VAT data by the Member States, as this would increase the effectiveness of Eurofisc and allow the further development of new strategies to defeat VAT fraud; calls on all relevant authorities to use a variety of statistical and data-mining technologies to identify anomalies, suspicious relationships and patterns, enabling tax agencies to better address a wide spectrum of non-compliance behaviours in a proactive, targeted and cost-effective way;

⁹³ ECA, Rapid case review, VAT reimbursement in Cohesion – an error-prone and sub-optimal use of EU funds, 29 November 2018.

⁹⁴ ECA Opinion No 9/2018 of 22 November 2018 concerning the proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing the EU Anti-Fraud Programme.

- 154. Welcomes the adoption of the Protection of Financial Interests (PIF) Directive⁹⁵ which clarifies the issues of cross-border cooperation and mutual legal assistance between Member States, Eurojust, Europol, the European Public Prosecutor's Office (EPPO), the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) and the Commission in tackling VAT fraud; calls on the EPPO, OLAF, Eurofisc, Europol and Eurojust to cooperate closely with a view to coordinating their efforts against VAT fraud and to identifying and adapting to new fraudulent practices;
- 155. Points, however, to the need for better cooperation between the administrative, judicial and law-enforcement authorities within the EU, as highlighted by experts during the hearing held on 28 June 2018 and in a study commissioned by the TAX3 committee;
- 156. Welcomes the Commission's communication to extend the competences of the EPPO to cross-border terrorist crimes; calls on the Commission and Member States to ensure that the EPPO can begin operating as soon as possible and no later than 2022, ensuring close cooperation with the already established institutions, bodies, agencies and offices of the Union in charge of the protection of the financial interests of the Union; calls for exemplary, dissuasive and proportional sanctions to be pronounced; considers that anyone engaged in an organised VAT fraud scheme should be severely sanctioned in order to avoid a perception of impunity;
- 157. Considers that one of the main issues allowing fraudulent behaviour in relation to VAT to occur is the 'cash profit' that a fraudster can make; calls, therefore, on the Commission to analyse the proposal made by experts⁹⁶ to place cross-border transactional data on a blockchain, and to use secured digital currencies that can only be used for VAT payments (single purpose) instead of using fiat currency;
- 158. Welcomes the fact that the fraud linked to imports has been addressed by the Council⁹⁷; considers that the proper integration of data from customs declarations into the VIES will allow the Member States of destination to cross-check customs and VAT information in order to ensure that VAT is paid at the country of destination; calls on Member States to implement this new legislation in an effective and timely manner by 1 January 2020;
- 159. Considers that administrative cooperation between tax and customs authorities is suboptimal⁹⁸; calls on Member States to mandate Eurofisc to develop new strategies to track goods under customs procedure 42, the mechanism which allows the importer to obtain a VAT exemption when the imported goods are eventually intended for transport to

⁹⁵ Directive (EU) 2017/1371 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2017 on the fight against fraud to the Union's financial interests by means of criminal law, OJ L 198, 28.7.2017, p. 29, in particular Articles 3 and 15 thereof.

⁹⁶ Ainsworth, R. T., Alwohabi, M., Cheetham, M. and Tirand, C.: 'A VATCoin Solution to MTIC Fraud: Past Efforts, Present Technology, and the EU's 2017 Proposal', Boston University School of Law, Law and Economics Series Paper, No 18-08, 26 March 2018. See also: Ainsworth, R. T., Alwohabi, M. and Cheetham, M.: 'VATCoin: Can a Crypto Tax Currency Prevent VAT Fraud?', *Tax Notes International*, Vol 84, 14 November 2016.

 ⁹⁷ Council Regulation (EU) 2017/2454 of 5 December 2017 amending Regulation (EU) No 904/2010 on administrative cooperation and combating fraud in the field of value added tax, OJ L 348, 29.12.2017, p. 1.
 ⁹⁸ Lamensch M. and Ceci E., VAT fraud: Economic impact, challenges and policy issues, European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A – Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life Policies, 15 October 2018.

a business customer in a Member State other than the Member State of importation;

- 160. Highlights the importance of the implementation of a register of beneficial owners of corporate entities under AMLD5 as an important tool to tackle VAT fraud; urges Member States to enhance the competences and qualifications of the police forces, tax services, prosecutors and judges dealing with this type of fraud;
- 161. Is concerned by the results of the study⁹⁹ commissioned by the TAX3 committee stating that the Commission's proposals will reduce fraud on imports but not eliminate it; takes note that the issue of undervaluation and enforcement of EU rules in general in the case of non-EU taxable persons will not be solved; calls on the Commission to investigate alternative collection methods for these supplies for the longer term; stresses that relying on the good faith of non-EU taxable persons to collect EU VAT is not a sustainable option; considers that such alternative collection models should not only target sales made via electronic platforms, but encompass all sales made by non-EU taxable persons, irrespective of the business model that they use;
- 162. Calls on the Commission to closely monitor the consequences of the introduction of the definitive regime for VAT revenues on Member States; calls on the Commission to investigate seriously the possibilities of new fraud risks in the definitive VAT system, notably the potentially missing supplier in cross-border transactions supplanting the missing customer type of carousel fraud; stresses, in this regard, that the custom transit system, among others, can certainly facilitate trade within the EU; notes, however, that abuses are possible and that criminal organisations, by avoiding the payment of taxes and duties, may cause a huge loss both to Member States and the EU (by avoiding VAT); calls, therefore, on the Commission to monitor the custom transit system and come up with proposals building on the recommendations made notably by OLAF, Europol and Eurofisc;
- 163. Believes that a large majority of European citizens expect clear European and national legislation that enables those who do not pay the tax which they are due to pay to be identified and sanctioned, and for the missing tax to be recuperated in a timely manner;

4. Taxation of individuals

- 164. Emphasises that natural persons do not generally exercise their freedom of movement for the purposes of tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning; underlines, however, that some natural persons have a tax base large enough to span several tax jurisdictions;
- 165. Regrets the fact that HNWIs and ultra HNWIs (UHNWIs), using complex tax structures, including the setting up of companies, continue to have the possibility to shift their earnings and funds or their purchases through different tax jurisdictions to obtain substantially reduced or zero liability by using the services of wealth managers and other intermediaries; deplores the fact that some EU Member States have implemented tax schemes to attract HNWIs without creating real economic activity;
- 166. Notes that headline rates for labour income are usually higher than for income from capital throughout the EU; notes that, overall, the contribution of wealth-based taxes to overall tax

⁹⁹ Ibid.

RR\1179147EN.docx

revenues has remained rather limited, at 4.3 % of overall tax revenues in the EU¹⁰⁰;

- 167. Notes with regret that corporate tax fraud, tax evasion and ATP contribute to shifting the tax liability on to honest and fair taxpayers;
- 168. Calls on the Member States to impose dissuasive, effective, and proportionate penalties in cases of tax fraud, tax evasion and illegal ATP, and to ensure that these penalties are enforced;
- 169. Deplores the fact that some Member States have created dubious tax regimes allowing individuals who become resident for tax purposes to obtain income tax benefits, thereby undermining other Member States' tax base and fostering harmful policies which discriminate against their own citizens; notes that these regimes may include benefits not available to national citizens, such as the non-taxation of foreign possessions and income, lump-sum tax on foreign income, tax-free allowances on a part of incomes earned domestically or lower tax rates on pensions remitted to the country of origin;
- 170. Recalls that the Commission, in a communication from 2001, suggested the inclusion of special regimes for highly-qualified expatriate staff in the list of harmful tax practices of the CoC Group (on Business Taxation)¹⁰¹, but has not provided any data on the scope of the problem since; calls on the Commission to reassess this issue and, in particular, to assess the risks of double taxation as well as double non-taxation of such schemes;

4.1. Citizenship by investment (CBI) and residency by investment (RBI) schemes

- 171. Is concerned that a majority of Member States have adopted citizenship by investment (CBI) or residency by investment (RBI) schemes¹⁰², generally known as 'golden visa and passports' or investor programmes, by which citizenship or residence is granted to EU and non-EU citizens in exchange for financial investment;
- 172. Observes that the investments made under these programmes do not necessarily promote the real economy of the Member State granting citizenship or residency, and that they often do not require applicants to spend any time on the territory in which the investment is made, and that even when such a requirement formally exists, its fulfilment is usually not verified; stresses that such schemes jeopardise the attainment of the Union's objectives and are therefore in breach of the principle of sincere cooperation;
- 173. Observes that at least 5 000 non-EU citizens have obtained EU citizenship through

¹⁰⁰ Gunnarson A., Spangenberg U. and Schratzenstaller M., *Gender equality and taxation in the European Union*, European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department C – Citizens' Rights and Constitutional Affairs, 17 January 2017.

¹⁰¹ <u>Commission communication entitled 'Tax policy in the European Union – Priorities for the years ahead</u>' (COM(2001)0260).

¹⁰² 18 Member States have some form of RBI scheme in place, including four Member States that operate CBI schemes in addition to RBI schemes: Bulgaria, Cyprus, Malta, and Romania. 10 Member States have no such schemes: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia and Sweden. Source: Scherrer A. and Thirion E., <u>*Citizenship by investment (CBI) and residency by investment (RBI) schemes in the EU*</u>, EPRS, PE 627.128, European Parliament, October 2018, pp. 12-13 and 55-56; ISBN: 978-92-846-3375-3.

citizenship by investment schemes¹⁰³; notes that, according to a study¹⁰⁴, at least 6 000 people have been granted citizenship and almost 100 000 residence permits have been issued;

- 174. Worries that CBI and RBI are awarded without proper security screening of the applicants, including to high-risk third-country nationals, and therefore pose security risks for the Union; deplores the fact that the opaqueness surrounding the origin of the money connected to CBI and RBI schemes has significantly increased the political, economic and security risks for European countries;
- 175. Stresses that CBI and RBI schemes carry other significant risks, including a devaluation of EU and national citizenships and the potential for corruption, money laundering and tax evasion; notes that one Member State's decision to implement CBI and RBI schemes has spillover effects on other Member States; reiterates its concern that citizenship or residence could be granted through these schemes without proper or indeed any customer due diligence (CDD) having been carried out by the competent authorities;
- 176. Notes that the obligation laid down by AMLD5, whereby obliged entities should consider CBI and RBI applicants as high-risk in the course of their CDD process, does not absolve Member States of their responsibility to establish and conduct enhanced due diligence themselves; notes that several formal investigations into corruption and money laundering have been launched at national and EU level directly related to CBI and RBI schemes;
- 177. Underlines that, at the same time, the economic sustainability and viability of the investments provided through these schemes remain uncertain; highlights that citizenship and the rights associated to it should never be for sale;
- 178. Notes that the CBI and RBI schemes of some Member States have been used profusely by Russian citizens and by citizens from countries under Russian influence; highlights that these schemes may serve Russian citizens included in the sanctions list adopted after the illegal annexation of Crimea by Russia and the aggression of Russia on Crimea as a means to avoid EU sanctions;
- 179. Criticises that these programmes regularly involve tax privileges or special tax regimes for the beneficiaries; is concerned that these privileges could hamper the objective of making all citizens contribute fairly to the tax system;
- 180. Worries about the lack of transparency in relation to the number and origin of applicants, the numbers of individuals granted citizenship or residency by these schemes, the amount invested through these schemes and the origin thereof; appreciates the fact that some Member States make explicit the name and nationalities of the individuals who are granted citizenship or residency under these schemes; encourages other Member States to follow this example;
- 181. Is concerned that according to the OECD, CBI and RBI schemes could be misused to undermine the common reporting standard (CRS) due diligence procedures, leading to

¹⁰³ See the above-mentioned study. Other studies provide higher figures, also including RBI.

¹⁰⁴ Transparency International and Global Witness, *European Getaway: Inside the Murky World of Golden Visas*, 10 October 2018.

inaccurate or incomplete reporting under the CRS, in particular when not all jurisdictions of tax residence are disclosed to the financial institution; notes that in the OECD's view, the visa schemes which are potentially high-risk for the integrity of the CRS are those that give a taxpayer access to a low personal income tax rate of less than 10 % on offshore financial assets, and do not require a significant physical presence of at least 90 days in the jurisdiction offering the golden visa scheme;

- 182. Is concerned that Malta and Cyprus have schemes¹⁰⁵ among those that potentially pose a high risk to the integrity of CRS;
- 183. Concludes that the potential economic benefits of CBI and RBI schemes do not offset the serious security, money laundering and tax evasion risks they present;
- 184. Calls on Member States to phase out all existing CBI or RBI schemes as soon as possible;
- 185. Stresses that, in the meantime, Member States should require physical presence in the country as a condition for benefiting from CBI and RBI schemes, and should properly ensure that enhanced CDD on applicants for citizenship or residence through these schemes is duly carried out, as required by AMLD5; stresses that AMLD5 imposes enhanced CDD for politically exposed persons (PEPs); calls on Member States to ensure that governments bear the ultimate responsibility for performing due diligence on applicants for CBI or RBI; calls on the Commission to monitor rigorously and continuously the proper implementation and application of CDD within the framework of CBI and RBI schemes until they are repealed in each Member State;
- 186. Notes that the acquisition of a residence permit for or citizenship of a Member State gives the grantee access to a wide range of rights and entitlements in the entire territory of the Union, including the right to move and reside freely in the Schengen area; calls, therefore, on Member States implementing CBI and RBI programmes, until they are finally repealed, to duly verify the character of the applicants and refuse their application if they present security risks, including money laundering; further alerts to the dangers posed by CBI and RBI schemes associated with family reunification, whereby family members of CBI or RBI beneficiaries can acquire citizenship or residence with little or no checks;
- 187. Calls, in this context, on all Member States to compile and publish transparent data related to their CBI and RBI schemes, including the number of refusals and the reasons for denial; calls on the Commission, until the schemes are finally repealed, to issue guidelines and to ensure better data collection and exchange of information among Member States in the context of their CBI and RBI schemes, including in relation to applicants who have had their application denied due to security issues;
- 188. Considers that until CBI and RBI are finally repealed, Member States should impose the same obligations on intermediaries in the trade of CBI and RBI as apply to obliged entities under AML legislation, and calls on Member States to prevent conflicts of interest linked to CBI and RBI schemes, which might arise when private firms which assisted the

¹⁰⁵ The Cypriot Citizenship by Investment: Scheme for Naturalisation of Investors by Exception, the Cypriot Residence by Investment, the Maltese Individual Investor Programme, and the Maltese Residence and Visa programme.

government in the design, management and promotion of these schemes, also advised and supported individuals by screening them for suitability and filing their applications for citizenship or residence;

- 189. Welcomes the Commission's report of 23 January 2019 on Investor Citizenship and Residence Schemes in the European Union (COM(2019)0012); notes that the report confirms that both types of schemes pose serious risks for the Member States and the Union as a whole, particularly in terms of security, money laundering, corruption, the circumvention of EU rules and tax evasion, and that these serious risks are further accentuated by shortcomings in the transparency and governance of the schemes; worries that the Commission has concerns that the risks posed by the schemes are not always sufficiently mitigated by the measures taken by the Member States;
- 190. Takes note of the Commission's intention to set up a group of experts to address matters of the transparency, governance and security of these schemes; welcomes the fact that the Commission has undertaken to monitor the impact of investor citizenship schemes implemented by visa-free countries as part of the visa suspension mechanism; calls on the Commission to coordinate information sharing between Member States on rejected applications; calls on the Commission to assess the risks associated with the selling of citizenship and residence as part of its next supranational risk assessment; calls on the Commission to assess the extent to which these schemes have been used by EU citizens;

4.2. Free ports, customs warehouses and other specific economic zones (SEZs)

- 191. Welcomes the fact that free ports will become obliged entities under AMLD5, and that they will be under an obligation to carry out CDD requirements and report suspicious transactions to the financial intelligence units (FIUs);
- 192. Notes that free ports within the EU can be established under the 'free zone' procedure; notes that free zones are enclosed areas within the customs territory of the Union where non-Union goods can be introduced free of import duty, other charges (i.e. taxes) and commercial policy measures;
- 193. Recalls that free ports are warehouses in free zones, which were originally intended as spaces to store merchandise in transit; deplores the fact that they have since become popular for the storage of substitute assets, including art, precious stones, antiques, gold and wine collections often on a permanent basis¹⁰⁶ and financed from unknown sources; stresses that free ports or free zones must not be used for the purposes of tax evasion or to achieve the same effects as tax havens;
- 194. Notes that, apart from secure storage, the motivations for the use of free ports include a high degree of secrecy and the deferral of import duties and indirect taxes such as VAT or user tax;
- 195. Underlines that there are over 80 free zones in the EU¹⁰⁷ and many thousands of other warehouses under 'special storage procedures' in the EU, notably 'customs warehouses',

¹⁰⁶ Korver R., '<u>Money Laundering and tax evasion risks in free ports</u>', EPRS, PE: 627.114, October 2018; ISBN: 978-92-846-3333-3.

¹⁰⁷ European Commission <u>list of EU free zones</u>.

which can offer the same degree of secrecy and (indirect) tax advantages¹⁰⁸;

- 196. Observes that under the Union Customs Code, customs warehouses are on an almost identical legal footing with free ports; recommends, therefore, that they be put on an equal footing with free ports under legal measures aimed at mitigating money laundering and tax evasion risks therein, such as AMLD5; considers that warehouses should be equipped with sufficient and qualified staff to be able to undertake the necessary scrutiny of the operations that they host;
- 197. Notes that money laundering risks in free ports are directly associated with money laundering risks in the substitute assets market;
- 198. Notes that under DAC5, as of 1 January 2018, direct tax authorities have 'access upon request' to a broad information set with regard to ultimate beneficial ownership (UBO) information collected under the AMLD; notes that EU AML legislation is built on the trust in reliable CDD research and the diligent reporting of suspicious transactions by obliged entities, which will become AML gatekeepers; notes with concern that 'access upon request' to information held by free ports may only have very limited effect in specific cases¹⁰⁹;
- 199. Calls on the Commission to assess the extent to which free ports and shipping licenses may be misused for the purposes of tax evasion¹¹⁰; calls on the Commission, moreover, to table a legislative proposal to ensure the automatic exchange of information between the relevant authorities such as law enforcement, tax and customs authorities and Europol, on beneficial ownership and transactions taking place in free ports, customs warehouses or SEZs, and to include a traceability obligation;
- 200. Notes that the end of banking secrecy has led to the emergence of investment in new assets such as art, which has led to rapid growth of the art market in recent years; stresses that free zones provide them with a safe and widely disregarded storage space, where trade can be conducted untaxed and ownership can be concealed, while art itself remains an unregulated market, due to factors such as the difficulty of determining market prices and finding specialists; points out that, for example, it is easier to move a valuable painting to the other side of the world than a similar amount of money;

4.3. Tax amnesties

201. Recalls¹¹¹ the need to use amnesties with extreme caution or to refrain from using them altogether, as they only represent a source of easy and quick tax collection in the short run, often introduced to close budget loopholes, but may also serve to encourage residents to evade taxes and wait for the next amnesty without being subject to dissuasive sanctions or penalties; calls on the Member States which enact tax amnesties to always require the

¹⁰⁸ Korver R., op. cit.

¹⁰⁹ Korver R., op. cit.

¹¹⁰ European Parliament recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132).

¹¹¹ European Parliament recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132).

beneficiary to explain the source of funds previously omitted;

- 202. Calls on the Commission to assess past amnesty programmes enacted by Member States, and, in particular, the public revenues recovered and their impact in the medium and long term on tax base volatility; urges Member States to ensure that relevant data related to the beneficiaries of previous and future tax amnesties is duly shared with the judiciary, law enforcement and tax authorities, and to ensure compliance with AML/CFT rules and possible prosecution for other financial crimes;
- 203. Takes the view that the CoC Group should mandatorily screen and clear each tax amnesty programme before its implementation by a Member State; takes the view that a taxpayer or UBO of a company who has already benefited from one or more tax amnesties should never be entitled to benefit from another one; calls for national authorities managing the data on persons who have benefited from tax amnesties to engage in an effective exchange of the data from law enforcement or other competent authorities investigating crimes other than tax fraud or tax evasion;

4.4. Administrative cooperation

- 204. Acknowledges the fact that administrative cooperation in the field of direct tax frameworks now covers both individual and corporate taxpayers;
- 205. Stresses that international standards on administrative cooperation are minimum standards; considers, therefore, that Member States should go further than merely complying with these minimum standards; calls on the Member States to further remove barriers to administrative and legal cooperation;
- 206. Welcomes the fact that, with the adoption of the global standard on the automatic exchange of information (AEOI) implemented by DAC1, and the repeal of the 2003 Savings Directive, a single EU mechanism for the exchange of information has been established;

5. Anti-Money Laundering (AML)

207. Stresses that money laundering can assume various forms, and that the money laundered can have its origin in various illicit activities, such as corruption, arms and human trafficking, drug dealing, tax evasion and fraud, and can be used to finance terrorism; notes with concern that the proceeds from criminal activity in the EU are estimated to amount to EUR 110 billion per year¹¹², corresponding to 1 % of the Union's total GDP; highlights that the Commission estimates that in some Member States up to 70 % of money laundering cases have a cross-border dimension¹¹³; further notes that the scale of money laundering is estimated by the UN¹¹⁴ to be the equivalent of between 2 to 5 % of global GDP, or around EUR 715 billion and 1.87 trillion a year;

¹¹² From illegal markets to legitimate businesses: the portfolio of organised crime in Europe, Final report of Project OCP – Organised Crime Portfolio, March 2015.

¹¹³ <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-room/20171211IPR90024/new-eu-wide-penalties-for-money-laundering;</u> Commission proposal of 21 December 2016 for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on countering money laundering by criminal law (COM(2016)0826). ¹¹⁴ UNODC

- 208. Underlines that various recent cases of money laundering within the Union are linked to capital, ruling elites, and/or citizens who come from Russia and from the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) in particular; expresses its concern about the threat posed to European security and stability by illicit proceeds from Russia and CIS countries which enter the European financial system in order to be laundered and further used to finance criminal activities; stresses that these proceeds endanger the security of EU citizens and create distortions and unfair competitive disadvantages for law-abiding citizens and companies; considers that, in addition to capital flight, which cannot be curbed without solving the economic and administrative problems of the country of origin, and money laundering for purely criminal reasons, these hostile activities, the intention of which is to weaken European democracies, their economies and their institutions, are carried out at such a magnitude as to destabilise the European continent; calls for better cooperation between Member States regarding the control of capital entering the Union from Russia;
- 209. Reiterates its call¹¹⁵ for EU-wide sanctions on human rights abuses, inspired by the US Global Magnitsky Act, which should allow for the imposition of visa bans and targeted sanctions such as the blocking of property and interests in property within the EU jurisdiction vis-à-vis individual public officials or persons acting in an official capacity who are responsible for acts of corruption or serious human rights violations; welcomes Parliament's adoption of the report on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for screening of foreign direct investments into the European Union¹¹⁶; calls for increased scrutiny and supervision of banks' non-resident portfolios and the share thereof originating in countries deemed to pose security risks for the Union;
- 210. Welcomes the adoption of AMLD4 and of AMLD5; stresses that they represent significant steps in improving the effectiveness of the Union's efforts to combat the laundering of money from criminal activities and to counter the financing of terrorist activities; notes that the Union's AML framework chiefly relies on a preventive approach to money laundering, with a focus on the detection and the reporting of suspicious transactions;
- 211. Deplores the fact that a large number of Member States have failed to fully or partially transpose AMLD4 into their domestic legislation within the set deadline, and that for this reason, infringement procedures have had to be opened by the Commission against them, including referrals before the Court of Justice of the European Union¹¹⁷; calls on these Member States to swiftly remedy this situation; urges Member States, in particular, to comply with their legal obligation to respect the deadline of 10 January 2020 for transposing AMLD5 into their domestic legislation; emphasises and welcomes the Council conclusions of 23 November 2018 inviting Member States to transpose AMLD5 into their domestic legislation to make full use of the instruments at hand to provide support and ensure that Member States duly transpose

¹¹⁵ See, for example, the European Parliament resolution of 13 September 2017 on corruption and human rights in third countries (OJ C 337, 20.9.2018, p. 82), paragraphs 35 and 36, and the <u>Outcome of the 3662nd Council Meeting</u> on Foreign Affairs held in Brussels on 10 December 2018.

¹¹⁶ European Parliament legislative resolution of 14 February 2019 (Texts adopted, P8_TA(2019)0121).

¹¹⁷ On 19 July 2018, the Commission referred Greece and Romania to the Court of Justice of the European Union for failing to transpose the fourth Anti-Money Laundering Directive into their national law. Ireland had transposed only a very limited part of the rules and was also referred to the Court of Justice.

and implement AMLD5 as soon as possible;

- 212. Recalls the crucial importance of CDD as part of the know-your-customer (KYC) obligation which consists of obliged entities having to properly identify their customers and the source of their funds as well as the UBOs of the assets, including the immobilisation of anonymous accounts; deplores the fact that some financial institutions and their related business models have actively facilitated money laundering; calls on the private sector to take an active role in combating the financing of terrorism and in the prevention of terrorist activities, as far as they may be able; calls on financial institutions to actively review their internal procedures to prevent any risk of money laundering;
- 213. Welcomes the Action Plan adopted by the Council on 4 December 2018, which includes several non-legislative measures to better tackle money laundering and the financing of terrorism in the Union; calls on the Commission to regularly update Parliament on the progress of the implementation of the Action Plan;
- 214. Is concerned by the absence of concrete procedures to assess and review the probity of members of the Governing Council of the ECB, especially when they are formally accused of criminal activity; calls for mechanisms to monitor and review the conduct and propriety of the members of the Governing Council of the ECB, and calls for them to be protected in the case of abuse of power by the appointing authority;
- 215. Condemns the fact that systemic failures in the enforcement of AML requirements, coupled with inefficient supervision, has led to a number of recent high-profile cases of ML in European banks linked to systematic breaches of the most basic KYC and CDD requirements;
- 216. Recalls that KYC and CDD are essential and should continue throughout the business relationship, and that customers' transactions should be continuously and carefully monitored for suspicious or unusual activities; recalls, in this context, the obligation for obliged entities to promptly inform national FIUs, on their own initiative, of transactions suspected of ML, associate predicate offences or terrorist financing; regrets the fact that, in spite of Parliament's efforts, AMLD5 continues, as a last resort, to allow for the natural person(s) who hold(s) the position of senior managing official to be registered as beneficial owners of a company or trust, while the real beneficial owner is not known or there is a suspicion about them;
- 217. Notes that in some Member States there are unexplained wealth control mechanisms tracking the proceeds of criminal activities; stresses that this mechanism often consists of a court order requiring a person who is reasonably suspected of being involved in serious crime, or of being connected to a person involved in it, to explain the nature and extent of their interest in particular property, and to explain how that property was obtained, where there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the respondent's known lawfully obtained income would be insufficient to enable the respondent to obtain the property; invites the Commission to assess the effects and feasibility of such a measure at Union level;
- 218. Welcomes the decision in some Member States to ban the issuing of bearer shares and to convert existing ones into nominal securities; asks the Member States to consider the need to enact similar measures in their jurisdictions, in view of the new provisions of AMLD5

concerning beneficial ownership reporting and risks identified;

- 219. Calls on the Commission to present a legislative proposal to end the practice of accepting the UBOs as a means of hiding behind straw men, and to urge other jurisdictions at international level to do the same; calls on the Member States to ensure, when transposing AMLD5 into national law, that obliged entities terminate the business relationship with companies whose UBOs are not known;
- 220. Stresses the urgent need to create a more efficient system for the exchange of communication and information among judicial authorities within the Union, thereby replacing the traditional instruments of mutual legal assistance in criminal matters, which provide for lengthy and burdensome procedures and therefore harm cross-border investigations into money laundering and other serious crimes; reiterates its call for the Commission to assess the need for legislative action in this regard;
- 221. Calls on the Commission to assess and report to Parliament on the role and particular money laundering risks posed by legal arrangements such as special purpose vehicles (SPVs), SPEs and non-charitable purpose trusts (NCPTs), particularly in the UK and its Crown Dependencies and Overseas Territories;
- 222. Urges the Member States to fully comply with AML legislation when issuing sovereign bonds on the financial markets; considers that due diligence in such financial operations is also strictly necessary;
- 223. Notes that during the mandate of the TAX3 committee alone, three deplorable cases of money laundering through EU banks have been disclosed: ING Bank N.V. recently admitted serious shortcomings in the application of AML/CFT provisions and agreed to pay EUR 775 million in a settlement with the Netherlands' Public Prosecution Service¹¹⁸; ABLV Bank in Latvia went into voluntary liquidation after the United States Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) decided to propose a ban on ABLV from having a correspondence account in the United States due to money laundering concerns¹¹⁹, and Danske Bank admitted, after an investigation into 15 000 customers and around 9.5 million transactions linked to its Estonian branch had taken place, that major deficiencies in the bank's governance and control systems had made it possible to use its Estonian branch for suspicious transactions¹²⁰;
- 224. Notes that in the case of Danske Bank, transactions worth upwards of EUR 200 billion flowed in and out of its Estonian branch¹²¹ without the bank having put in place adequate internal AML and KYC procedures, as subsequently admitted by the bank itself and confirmed by both the Estonian and Danish Financial Supervisory Authorities; considers that this failure shows a complete lack of responsibility on the part of both the bank and the competent national authorities; calls on the competent authorities to carry out urgent

PE627.890v02-00

¹¹⁸ Netherlands' Public Prosecution Service, 4 September 2018

¹¹⁹ European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Economic Governance Support Unit, in-depth analysis entitled 'Money laundering - Recent cases from a EU banking supervisory perspective', April 2018, PE 614.496.

¹²⁰ Bruun & Hjejle: <u>Report on the Non-Resident Portfolio at Danske Bank's Estonian Branch</u>, Copenhagen, 19 September 2018.

¹²¹ Ibid.

evaluations of the adequacy of AML and KYC procedures in all European banks to ensure proper enforcement of the Union's AML legislation;

- 225. Further notes that 6 200 customers of the Estonian branch of Danske Bank have been found to have engaged in suspicious transactions, that around 500 customers have been linked to publicly reported money laundering schemes, that 177 have been linked with the 'Russian Laundromat' scandal, and 75 to the 'Azerbaijani Laundromat' scandal, and that 53 customers were companies found to share addresses and directors¹²²; calls on the relevant national authorities to track the destinations of the suspicious transactions of the 6 200 customers of the Estonian branch of Danske Bank in order to confirm that the money laundered was not used for further criminal activities; calls on the relevant national authorities to duly cooperate in this matter as the chains of suspicious transactions are clearly cross-border;
- 226. Highlights that the ECB has withdrawn the banking licence of Malta's Pilatus Bank following the arrest in the United States of Ali Sadr Hashemi Nejad, Chairman of Pilatus Bank and its sole shareholder, on, among other things, charges of money laundering; stresses that the EBA concluded that the Maltese FIAU had breached EU law because it had failed to conduct an effective supervision of Pilatus Bank due to, among other things, procedural deficiencies and lack of supervisory actions; notes that on 8 November 2018, the Commission addressed a formal opinion to the Maltese FIAU calling on it to take additional measures to comply with its legal obligations¹²³; calls on the Maltese FIAU to take steps to comply with the respective recommendations;
- 227. Takes note of the letter to the TAX3 committee from the Permanent Representative of Malta to the EU in reply to the committee's concerns regarding the alleged involvement of some Maltese PEPs in a possible new episode of money laundering and tax evasion connected to a United Arab Emirates (UAE)-based company called '17 Black'¹²⁴; regrets the lack of precision in the answers received; is concerned about the apparent political inaction by the Maltese authorities; is particularly concerned at the fact that according to the 17 Black revelations, PEPs from the highest levels of the Maltese Government seem to be implicated; calls on the Maltese authorities to request evidence from the UAE in the form of letters of legal assistance; calls on the UAE to cooperate with the Maltese and European authorities and to ensure that funds frozen in the bank accounts of 17 Black remain frozen until a thorough investigation has been conducted; highlights, in particular, the apparent lack of independence of both the Maltese FIAU and the Maltese Commissioner of Police; regrets the fact that no measures have hitherto been taken against those PEPs involved in alleged corruption cases; underlines that the Maltese investigation would benefit from the establishment of a Joint Investigation Team (JIT), based on an ad hoc agreement¹²⁵, in order to address the serious doubts about the independence and quality

¹²² Ibid.

¹²³ Commission Opinion of 8 November 2018 addressed to the Financial Intelligence Analysis Unit of Malta, based on Article 17(4) of Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010, on the action necessary to comply with Union law (C(2018)7431).

¹²⁴ Letter from the Permanent Representative of Malta to the EU of 20 December 2018 in reply to the letter from the Chair of the TAX3 committee of 7 December 2018.

¹²⁵ Based on the annex to the Council Resolution on a Model Agreement for setting up a Joint Investigation Team (JIT) (OJ C 18, 19.1.2017, p. 1).

of ongoing national investigations, with the support of Europol and Eurojust;

- 228. Notes that at the time of her murder, the investigative journalist Daphne Caruana Galizia had been working on the largest information leak she had ever received from the servers of ElectroGas, the company operating Malta's power station; further notes that the owner of 17 Black, who was due to transfer large amounts of money to Maltese PEPs responsible for the power station, is also the director and a shareholder of ElectroGas;
- 229. Is concerned about the rise of money laundering in the context of other forms of business activities, in particular the phenomenon of the so-called 'flying money' and 'notorious streets'; stresses that stronger coordination and cooperation between local and regional administrative and law enforcement authorities is necessary in order to address these issues in European cities;
- 230. Is aware that the current AML legal framework has so far consisted of directives and is based on minimum harmonisation, which has led to different national supervisory and enforcement practices in the Member States; calls on the Commission to assess, in the context of a future revision of the AML legislation, in the required impact assessment, whether a regulation would be a more appropriate legal act than a directive; calls, in this context, for a swift transformation into a regulation of the AML legislation if the impact assessment so advises;

5.1. Cooperation between anti-money laundering and prudential supervisors in the European Union

- 231. Welcomes the fact that, following recent cases of breaches or alleged breaches of AML rules, supplementary action was announced by the President of the Commission in his State of the Union address of 12 September 2018;
- 232. Calls for the necessary increased scrutiny and continuous supervision of the members of management boards and shareholders of credit institutions and investment firms and insurers in the Union, and stresses in particular the difficulty of revoking banking licences or equivalent specific authorisations;
- 233. Supports the work undertaken by the Joint Working Group comprising representatives of the Commission's Directorate-General for Justice and Consumers and its Directorate-General for Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union, the ECB, the European Supervisory Authorities (ESAs) and the Chair of the ESAs Joint Committee Anti-Money Laundering Sub-committee, with a view to detecting current shortcomings and proposing measures to enable effective cooperation and the coordination and exchange of information among supervisory and enforcement agencies;
- 234. Concludes that the current level of coordination of anti-money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism (AML/CFT) supervision of financial institutions, particularly in AML/CFT situations with cross-border effects, is not sufficient to address current challenges in this sector and that the Union's ability to enforce coordinated AML rules and practices is currently inadequate;
- 235. Calls for an assessment of long-term objectives leading to an enhanced AML/CFT

PE627.890v02-00

42/154

framework as mentioned in the 'Reflection paper on possible elements of a Roadmap for seamless cooperation between Anti Money Laundering and Prudential Supervisors in the European Union'¹²⁶, such as the establishment at EU level of a mechanism to better coordinate the activities of AML/CFT supervisors of financial sector entities, notably in situations where AML/CFT concerns are likely to have cross-border effects, and a possible centralisation of AML supervision via an existing or new Union body empowered to enforce harmonised rules and practices across Members States; considers that if that mechanism is established, it should be allocated sufficient human and financial resources in order for its functions to be carried out efficiently;

- 236. Recalls that the ECB has the competence and responsibility for withdrawing authorisation from credit institutions for serious breaches of AML/CFT rules; notes, however, that the ECB is fully dependent on national AML supervisors for information relating to such breaches detected by national authorities; calls on national AML authorities, therefore, to make quality information available to the ECB in a timely manner, so that the ECB can perform its function properly; welcomes, in this regard, the Multilateral Agreement on the practical modalities for exchange of information between the ECB and all competent authorities (CAs) responsible for supervising the compliance of credit and financial institutions with AML/CFT obligations under AMLD4;
- 237. Considers that prudential and anti-money laundering supervision cannot be treated separately; highlights that ESAs have limited capabilities to take a more substantial role in the fight against money laundering owing to their decision-making structures, a lack of powers and limited resources; stresses that the EBA should take a leading role in this fight, while coordinating closely with the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) and the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (EIOPA), and should therefore, as a matter of urgency, be provided with sufficient capacity in human and material resources to contribute effectively to the consistent and efficient prevention of the use of the financial system for the purposes of money laundering, including by conducting risk assessments of competent authorities and reviews within its overall framework; calls for greater publicity for those reviews and, in particular, for relevant information to be systematically provided to Parliament and the Council in the event of serious shortcomings identified at national or EU level¹²⁷;
- 238. Notes the increased importance of national financial supervisors; urges the Commission, following a consultation with the EBA, to propose mechanisms to facilitate increased cooperation and coordination between financial supervisory authorities; calls, in the long term, for increased harmonisation of the supervisory procedures of the different national AML authorities;
- 239. Welcomes the Commission communication of 12 September 2018 on strengthening the Union framework for prudential and anti-money laundering supervision for financial institutions (COM(2018)0645) and the proposal it contains on the ESAs' review to strengthen supervisory convergence; considers that the EBA should take a leading, coordinating and monitoring role at Union level to protect the financial system effectively

¹²⁶ <u>Reflection paper on possible elements of a Roadmap for seamless cooperation between Anti Money Laundering</u> and Prudential Supervisors in the European Union, 31 August 2018.

¹²⁷ At the time of the TAX3 committee vote on 27 February 2019, interinstitutional negotiations were still ongoing.

from money laundering and the risks of terrorism financing, in view of the undesirable potential systemic consequences for the Union's financial stability which could ensue from abuses of the financial sector for money laundering or terrorism financing purposes, and in the light of the experience already gained by the EBA in protecting the banking sector from such abuses as an authority with the power of oversight over all Member States;

240. Notes the EBA's concerns about the implementation of the Capital Requirements Directive (2013/36/EU) on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms¹²⁸; welcomes the EBA's suggestions to tackle the deficiencies caused by the current EU legal framework; calls on Member States to swiftly transpose the recently adopted changes to the Capital Requirements Directive into national law:

5.2. Cooperation between financial intelligence units (FIUs)

- 241. Recalls that pursuant to AMLD5, Member States are obliged to set up automated centralised mechanisms enabling swift identification of holders of bank and payment accounts, and to ensure that any FIU is able to provide information held in those centralised mechanisms to any other FIU in a timely manner; stresses the importance of having access to information in a timely manner in order to prevent financial crimes and the discontinuation of investigations; calls on the Member States to speed up the establishment of these mechanisms so that Member States' FIUs are able to cooperate effectively with each other in order to detect and counteract money laundering activities; strongly encourages Member States' FIUs to use the FIU.net system; notes the importance of data protection also in this field;
- 242. Considers that in order to help fight money laundering activities effectively, it is crucial that national FIUs should be provided with adequate resources and capacities;
- 243. Highlights that in order to fight money laundering activities effectively, cooperation is also essential, not only between Member States' FIUs but also between Member States' FIUs and the FIUs of third countries; notes the political agreements on the interinstitutional negotiations¹²⁹ with a view to the future adoption of the directive of the European Parliament and of the Council laying down rules facilitating the use of financial and other information for the prevention, detection, investigation or prosecution of certain criminal offences and repealing Council Decision 2000/642/JHA;
- 244. Calls on the Commission to develop specialised training courses for FIUs, with particular regard to the more reduced capacities in some Member States; notes the contribution of the Egmont Group, which brings together 159 FIUs and aims to strengthen their operational cooperation by encouraging the continuation and implementation of numerous projects; awaits the Commission's assessment of the framework for FIUs' cooperation with third countries and obstacles and opportunities to enhance cooperation between FIUs in the Union, including the possibility of establishing a coordination and support mechanism;

¹²⁸ Letter to Tiina Astola of 24 September 2018 on the request to investigate a possible breach of Union law under Article 17 of Regulation (EU) No 1093/2010. ¹²⁹ COM(2018)0213.

recalls that this assessment should be ready by 1 June 2019;

- 245. Calls on the Commission to engage actively with Member States to find mechanisms to improve and enhance the cooperation of Member States' FIUs with the FIUs of third countries; calls on the Commission to take opportune action in this regard at the relevant international forums, such as the OECD and the Financial Action Task Force (FATF); considers that in any resulting agreement proper consideration should be given to the protection of personal data;
- 246. Calls on the Commission to draw up a report to be addressed to Parliament and the Council assessing whether the differences in status and organisation between Member States' FIUs are hampering cooperation in the fight against serious crimes with a cross-border dimension;
- 247. Points out that the non-standardisation of suspicious transaction report (STR) formats and of STR thresholds among Member States and with respect to the different obliged entities leads to difficulties in the processing and exchange of information between FIUs; calls on the Commission to explore, with support from the EBA, mechanisms to set up, as soon as possible, standardised reporting formats for obliged entities in order to facilitate and enhance the processing and exchange of information between FIUs in cases with a cross-border dimension, and to consider the standardisation of suspicious transaction thresholds;
- 248. Calls on the Commission to explore the possibility of setting up automated STR retrieval systems that would allow Member States' FIUs to look up transactions and their initiators and receivers repeatedly reported as suspicious in different Member States;
- 249. Encourages the competent authorities and FIUs to engage with financial institutions and other obliged entities to enhance suspicious activity reporting and to reduce defensive reporting, thereby helping to ensure that FIUs receive more useful, focused and complete information to properly perform their duties, while at the same time ensuring compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation;
- 250. Recalls the importance of developing enhanced channels for dialogue, communication and the exchange of information between public authorities and specific private sectors stakeholders, generally known as public–private partnerships (PPPs), particularly for obliged entities under the AMLD, and highlights the existence and positive results of the only transnational PPP, the Europol Financial Intelligence Public-Private Partnership, which promotes strategic information-sharing between banks, FIUs, law enforcement agencies (LEAs) and national regulators across Member States;
- 251. Supports the continuous improvement of information-sharing between FIUs and LEAs, including Europol; considers that such a partnership should be established in the field of new technologies, including virtual assets, so as to formalise pre-existing operations in the Member States; calls on the European Data Protection Board (EDPB) to provide further clarification to market operators that process personal data as part of their due diligence obligations to enable them to comply with the relevant provisions on data protection;
- 252. Highlights that increasing and improving the cooperation between national supervisory authorities and FIUs is crucial to fight money laundering and tax evasion effectively;

```
RR\1179147EN.docx
```

further highlights that the fight against money laundering and tax evasion also requires good cooperation between FIUs and customs authorities;

253. Calls on the Commission to report on the status quo and improvements in Member States' FIUs regarding the dissemination, exchange and processing of information, following the PANA recommendations¹³⁰ and the mapping report carried out by the Member States' FIUs Platform;

5.3. Obliged entities (scope)

- 254. Welcomes the fact that AMLD5 has broadened the list of obliged entities to include providers engaged in exchange services between virtual currencies and fiat currencies, custodian wallet providers, art traders and free ports;
- 255. Calls on the Commission to take action to improve the enforcement of CDD, in particular to better clarify that the responsibility for correct application of CDD always falls on the obliged entity, even when outsourced, and for provision to be made for penalties in the event of negligence or conflicts of interest in cases of outsourcing; underlines the legal obligation under AMLD5 for obliged entities to conduct enhanced checks and systematic reporting when performing CDD relating to business relationships or transactions involving countries identified by the Commission as high-risk third countries for money-laundering purposes;

5.4. Registers

- 256. Welcomes the access to beneficial ownership and other CDD information granted to tax authorities in DAC5; recalls that this access is necessary for tax authorities to properly carry out their duties;
- 257. Notes that the Union's AML legislation obliges Member States to establish central registers containing complete beneficial ownership data for companies and trusts, and that it also provides for their interconnection; welcomes the fact that AMLD5 obliges Member States to ensure that the information on beneficial ownership is accessible in all cases to any member of the general public;
- 258. Notes, however, that in respect of trusts, national registers will only be accessible in principle to those demonstrating a legitimate interest to access; stresses that Member States remain free to open beneficial ownership registers for trusts to the public, as recommended by Parliament already; invites Member States to establish freely accessible and open data registers; recalls, in any case, that the fee they may decide to impose should not exceed the administrative costs of making the information available, including the registers' maintenance and developments costs;
- 259. Stresses that the interconnection of registers of beneficial owners should be ensured by the Commission; considers that the Commission should closely monitor the functioning of this interconnected system and assess within reasonable time whether it is working properly and whether it should be supplemented by the establishment of an EU public register of

¹³⁰ European Parliament recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132).

beneficial ownership or other instruments that could remedy any potential shortcomings effectively; calls on the Commission, in the meantime, to develop and issue technical guidelines to promote convergence of format, interoperability and interconnection of Member States' registers; takes the view that beneficial ownership of trusts should have the same level of transparency as companies under AMLD5, while ensuring appropriate safeguards;

- 260. Is concerned that the information in the registers of beneficial owners is not always sufficient and/or accurate; calls on Member States to ensure, therefore, that registers of beneficial owners contain verification mechanisms to ensure the accuracy of the data; calls on the Commission to assess their verification mechanisms and reliability of the data in its reviews;
- 261. Calls for a more stringent and precise definition of beneficial ownership to ensure that all natural persons who ultimately own or control a legal entity are identified;
- 262. Recalls the need for clear rules facilitating straightforward identification of beneficial owners, including an obligation for trusts and similar arrangements to exist in written form and to be registered in the Member State where the trust is created, administered or operated;
- 263. Underscores the problem of money laundering through investment in real estate in European cities through foreign shell companies; recalls that the Commission should assess the necessity and proportionality of harmonising the information in the land and real estate registers and assess the need for the interconnection of those registers; calls on the Commission to accompany the report with a legislative proposal, if appropriate; takes the view that Member States should have publicly accessible information in place on the ultimate beneficial ownership of land and real estate;
- 264. Reiterates its position on the creation of beneficial ownership registers for life insurance contracts, as articulated in the interinstitutional negotiations on AMLD5; calls on the Commission to assess the feasibility and necessity of making beneficial ownership information on life insurance contracts and financial instruments accessible to the relevant authorities;
- 265. Notes that under AMLD5 the Commission must carry out an analysis of the feasibility of specific measures and mechanisms at Union and Member State level making it possible to collect and access the beneficial ownership information of corporate and other legal entities incorporated outside of the Union; calls on the Commission to present a legislative proposal for such a mechanism should the feasibility analysis be favourable;

5.5. Technology risks and virtual assets, including virtual and crypto-currencies

266. Underlines the positive potential of new distributed ledger technologies (DLTs), such as blockchain technology; notes at the same time the increasing abuse of new payment and transfer methods based on these technologies to launder criminal proceeds or to commit other financial crimes; acknowledges the need to monitor fast-changing technological developments to ensure that legislation addresses in an effective manner the abuse of new technologies and anonymity, which facilitates criminal activity, without curtailing its

positive aspects;

- 267. Urges the Commission to closely examine those relevant crypto players not yet covered by the Union's AML legislation, and to expand the list of obliged entities if required, particularly service providers in the field of transactions involving exchanges of one or more virtual currencies; calls on the Member States, meanwhile, to transpose as soon as possible the provisions of AMLD5 imposing an obligation on virtual currency wallets and on the exchange of services to identify their customers, which would make the anonymous use of virtual currencies very difficult;
- 268. Calls on the Commission to closely monitor technological developments, including the swift expansion of innovative Fintech business models and the adoption of emerging technologies such as AI, DLTs, cognitive computing and machine learning, in order to assess technological risks and potential loopholes and boost resilience to cyberattacks or system breakdowns, namely by promoting data protection; encourages the competent authorities and the Commission to undertake a thorough assessment of the possible systemic risks involving DLT applications;
- 269. Stresses that the development and use of virtual assets is a long-term trend that is expected to continue and increase in the coming years, in particular through the use of virtual coins for various purposes, such as corporate financing; calls on the Commission to develop an appropriate framework at EU level to manage these developments, drawing inspiration from work at international level and from European bodies such as ESMA; considers that this framework should provide the necessary safeguards against the specific risks posed by virtual assets without hindering innovation;
- 270. Notes, in particular, that the opacity of virtual assets could be used to facilitate money laundering and tax evasion; urges the Commission, in this context, to provide clear guidance about the conditions under which virtual assets could be classified as an existing or new financial instrument in MiFID2 and the circumstances in which EU legislation is applicable to initial coin offerings;
- 271. Calls on the Commission to assess the banning of certain anonymity measures on specific virtual assets, and, should it be deemed necessary, to consider regulating virtual assets as financial instruments; considers that FIUs should be able to link virtual and crypto-currency addresses to the identity of the owner of virtual assets; considers that the Commission should assess the possibility of the mandatory registration of virtual assets users; recalls that some Member States have already adopted various types of measures for specific segments in this field, such as initial coin offerings, which could be a source of inspiration for future EU action;
- 272. Stresses that the FATF has recently highlighted the urgent need for all countries to take coordinated action to prevent the use of virtual assets for crime and terrorism, urging all jurisdictions to take legal and practical steps to prevent the misuse of virtual assets¹³¹; calls on the Commission to seek ways of incorporating into the European legal framework the recommendations and standards developed by the FATF on virtual assets; stresses that the Union should continue advocating a coherent and coordinated international regulatory

¹³¹ FATF, Regulation of virtual assets, 19 October 2018

framework around virtual assets, building on the efforts it has undertaken at the G20;

- 273. Reiterates its call for an urgent assessment by the Commission of the implications of egaming activities for money laundering and tax crimes; considers such an assessment to be a priority; notes the rise of the e-gaming sector in some jurisdictions, including certain UK Crown Dependencies such as the Isle of Man, where e-gaming already accounts for 18 % of national income;
- 274. Takes note of the expert-level work on electronic identification and remote KYC processes, which explores issues such as the possibility of financial institutions using electronic identification (e-ID) and of KYC portability to identify customers digitally; calls on the Commission, in this regard, to assess the potential advantages of introducing a European e-ID system; recalls the importance of maintaining a proper balance between data and privacy protection and the need for the competent authorities to have access to information for the purposes of criminal investigations;

5.6. Sanctions

- 275. Stresses that EU AML legislation requires Member States to lay down sanctions for breaches of anti-money laundering rules; stresses that these sanctions must be effective, proportionate and dissuasive; calls for the introduction of simplified procedures in Member States for the enforcement of financial sanctions imposed for breaches of AML legislation;
- 276. Urges Member States to publish, as soon as possible and unfailingly, information on the nature and value of the sanctions imposed, in addition to information on the type and nature of the breach and the identity of the person responsible; calls on Member States to also apply sanctions and measures vis-à-vis the members of the management body and other natural persons who are responsible for breaches of AML rules under national law¹³²;
- 277. Calls on the Commission to report to Parliament every two years on the national legislation and practices with regard to sanctions for breaches of AML legislation;
- 278. Welcomes the adoption of Regulation (EU) 2018/1805 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 November 2018 on the mutual recognition of freezing orders and confiscation orders¹³³, which aims to facilitate the cross-border recovery of criminal assets and will therefore help to strengthen the Union's capacity to fight organised crime and terrorism and cut off the sources of financing for criminals and terrorists across the Union;
- 279. Welcomes the adoption of Directive (EU) 2018/1673 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2018 on combating money laundering by criminal law¹³⁴, which introduces new criminal law provisions and facilitates more efficient and faster cross-border cooperation between competent authorities in order to prevent, more effectively, money laundering and the related financing of terrorism and organised crime; notes that Member States should have to take the necessary measures to ensure, as appropriate, that their competent authorities freeze or confiscate, in accordance with Directive

¹³² TAX3 mission report of the delegation to Estonia and Denmark, 6-8 February 2019.

¹³³ OJ L 303, 28.11.2018, p. 1.

¹³⁴ OJ L 284, 12.11.2018, p. 22.

2014/42/EU¹³⁵, the proceeds derived from and instrumentalities used or intended to be used in the commission or contributing to the commission of those offences;

5.7. International dimension

- 280. Notes that under AMLD4, the Commission is obliged to identify high-risk third countries that present strategic deficiencies in their regimes on anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing;
- 281. Considers that, even if the work undertaken at international level to identify high-risk third countries for the purposes of fighting money laundering and terrorist financing should be taken into consideration, particularly that of the FATF, it is essential that the Union have an autonomous list of high-risk third countries; welcomes, in this regard, the Commission Delegated Regulation of 31 January 2019 supplementing Directive (EU) 2015/849 of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards for the minimum action and the type of additional measures credit and financial institutions must take to mitigate money laundering and terrorist financing risk in certain third countries¹³⁶;
- 282. Welcomes the Commission's adoption of the Methodology for identifying high-risk third countries under Directive (EU) 2015/849, published on 22 June 2018¹³⁷; welcomes the Commission's assessment of 31 January 2019 regarding 'Priority 1' countries;
- 283. Stresses the need to ensure consistency and complementarity between the AML list of high-risk third countries and the European list of non-cooperative jurisdictions; reiterates its call to entrust the Commission with a central role for the management of both lists; calls on the Commission to ensure the transparency of the jurisdictions' screening process;
- 284. Is concerned at allegations that the competent authorities in Switzerland are not performing their AML/CFT functions properly¹³⁸; calls on the Commission to take these elements into consideration when updating the list of high-risk third countries and in future bilateral relations between Switzerland and the Union;
- 285. Calls on the Commission to provide technical assistance to third countries with the aim of developing effective systems for combating money laundering and the continuous improvement thereof;
- 286. Calls on the Commission and the Member States to ensure that the EU speaks with one voice at the FATF and that they actively contribute to the ongoing reflection on its reform, with a view to strengthening its resources and its legitimacy; calls on the Commission to include European Parliament staff as observers in the Commission delegation to the FATF;
- 287. Calls on the Commission to lead a global initiative for the establishment of public central

¹³⁵ Directive 2014/42/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 3 April 2014 on the freezing and confiscation of instrumentalities and proceeds of crime in the European Union (OJ L 127, 29.4.2014, p. 39). ¹³⁶ C(2019)0646.

¹³⁷ SWD(2018)0362.

¹³⁸ At the TAX3 hearing of 1 October 2018 on relations with Switzerland in tax matters and the fight against money laundering, panellists stated that Switzerland was not complying with FATF Recommendations 9 and 40.

registers of beneficial ownership in all jurisdictions; stresses, in this regard, the vital role of international organisations such as the OECD and the UN;

6. International dimension of taxation

- 288. Points out that a European fair tax system requires a fairer global tax environment; reiterates its call to monitor ongoing tax reforms of third countries;
- 289. Notes the effort made by some third countries to act decisively against BEPS; stresses, however, that such reforms should remain in line with existing WTO rules;
- 290. Considers the information gathered during the committee visit to Washington DC about the US tax reforms and their possible impact on international cooperation to be of particular importance; finds that some of the provisions of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 would be incompatible with existing WTO rules according to some experts; notes that certain provisions of the US tax reform seek, unilaterally and without any reciprocity, to revitalise transnational benefits attributable to US territory (presuming that at least 50 % of these are generated on US territory); welcomes the fact that the Commission is currently in the process of assessing the potential regulatory and commercial implications of, in particular, the BEAT, GILTI and FDII¹³⁹ provisions of the assessment;
- 291. Notes that two types of intergovernmental agreements (IGAs) on the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) were developed to help FATCA conform with international laws¹⁴⁰; notes that only one of the IGA Models is reciprocal; deplores the severe imbalance in the reciprocity of these agreements, as the US typically receives far more information from foreign governments than it provides; calls on the Commission to conduct a mapping exercise to analyse the extent of reciprocity in the exchange of information between the US and the Member States;
- 292. Calls on the Council to give a mandate to the Commission to negotiate an agreement with the US to ensure reciprocity in FATCA;
- 293. Reiterates the proposals put forward in its resolution of 5 July 2018 on the adverse effects of FATCA on EU citizens and in particular 'accidental Americans'¹⁴¹, which calls on the Commission to take action to ensure that the fundamental rights of all citizens, in particular those of 'accidental Americans', are guaranteed;
- 294. Calls on the Commission and the Council to present a joint EU approach to FATCA in order to adequately protect the rights of European citizens (particularly 'accidental Americans') and ensure reciprocity in the automatic exchange of information by the US, with the CRS being the preferred standard; calls on the Commission and Council, in the meantime, to consider countermeasures, such as a withholding tax, where appropriate, to

¹³⁹ Respectively 'Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax' (BEAT), 'Global Intangible Low Tax Income' (GILTI) and 'Foreign-Derived Intangible Income' (FDII).

¹⁴⁰ More specifically: IGA Model 1, whereby foreign financial institutions report relevant information to their home authorities, which then passes this on to the US IRS, and IGA Model 2, whereby foreign financial institutions do not report to their home governments but directly to the IRS.

¹⁴¹ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2018)0316.

ensure a level playing field if the US does not ensure reciprocity in the framework of FATCA;

295. Calls on the Commission and the Member States to monitor new corporate tax provisions of countries that cooperate with the EU on the basis of an international agreement¹⁴²;

6.1. Tax havens and jurisdictions facilitating ATP within and outside the EU

- 296. Recalls the importance of a common EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes (referred to herein as 'the EU list') based on comprehensive, transparent, robust, objectively verifiable and commonly accepted criteria that are regularly updated;
- 297. Regrets the fact that the initial EU listing process only considered third countries; notes that the Commission, within the framework of the European Semester, has identified shortcomings in some Member States' tax systems which facilitate ATP; welcomes, nonetheless, the statement made by the Chair of the Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation during the TAX3 committee hearing of 10 October 2018 about the possibility of screening Member States against the same criteria set for the EU list in the context of the revision of the mandate of the CoC Group¹⁴³;
- 298. Welcomes the adoption by the Council of the first EU list on 5 December 2017 and the ongoing monitoring of the commitments made by third countries; notes that the list has been updated several times on the basis of the assessment of those commitments and, as a consequence, various countries have been removed; notes that on 9 November 2018 the list comprised just five tax jurisdictions: American Samoa, Guam, Samoa, Trinidad and Tobago, and the US Virgin Islands;
- 299. Underlines that the screening and monitoring processes are opaque and that it is unclear whether real progress has been achieved with regard to those countries taken off the list;
- 300. Underlines that the assessment by the Council and its CoC Group on Business Taxation is based on criteria deriving from a technical scoreboard by the Commission and that Parliament had no legal involvement in this process; calls on the Commission and the Council, in this context, to inform Parliament in detail ahead of any proposed change to the list; calls on the Council to publish a regular progress report regarding black- and grey-listed jurisdictions as part of the regular update from the CoC Group to the Council;
- 301. Calls on the Commission and the Council to work on an ambitious and objective methodology which does not rely on commitments but on an assessment of the effects of duly and properly implemented legislation in those countries;
- 302. Deeply regrets the lack of transparency during the initial listing process and deplores the non-objective application of the listing criteria laid down by ECOFIN; insists that the process must be free from any political interference; welcomes, however, the improvement in transparency made by the disclosure of letters sent to jurisdictions screened by the CoC Group, as well as the set of commitment letters received; calls for all remaining

¹⁴² As mentioned in the <u>TAX 3 hearing of 1 October</u> 2018.

¹⁴³ TAX3 exchange of views with Fabrizia Lapecorella, Chair of the Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation, held on 10 October 2018.

undisclosed letters to be made publicly available to ensure scrutiny and proper implementation of commitments; takes the view that those jurisdictions refusing to consent to the disclosure of their commitments arouse public suspicion of not being cooperative in tax matters;

- 303. Welcomes the recent clarifications from the CoC Group on fair taxation criteria, especially regarding the lack of economic substance for jurisdictions having no corporate income tax rate or a rate close to 0 %; calls on the Member States to work towards the gradual improvement of the EU listing criteria to cover all harmful tax practices¹⁴⁴;
- 304. Welcomes the new OECD global standard on application of substantial activities factor to no or only nominal tax jurisdictions¹⁴⁵, largely inspired by the EU's work on the EU listing process¹⁴⁶; calls on the Member States to push the G20 to reform the OECD blacklist criteria to go beyond pure tax transparency and tackle tax evasion and ATP;
- 305. Calls, in the specific case of Switzerland, for which no precise deadline is envisaged due to a previous agreement between Switzerland and the EU, for the country to be put on Annex I by the end of 2019, provided that by then, following the proper escalation process, Switzerland does not repeal its non-compliant tax regimes, which allow unequal treatment of foreign and domestic income as well as tax benefits for certain types of companies;
- 306. Notes with concern that third countries may repeal non-compliant tax regimes but substitute them with new ones that are potentially harmful to the EU; stresses that this could be particularly true in the case of Switzerland; calls on the Council to properly reassess Switzerland and any other third country¹⁴⁷ that introduces similar legislative changes¹⁴⁸;
- 307. Notes that the negotiations between the EU and Switzerland on the revision of the bilateral approach to reciprocal market access are still ongoing; calls on the Commission to ensure that the final agreement between the EU and Switzerland contains a tax good governance clause including specific rules on State aid under the form of a tax advantage, automatic exchange of information on taxation, public access to beneficial ownership information, where appropriate, and anti-money laundering provisions; requests that the EU negotiators finalise an agreement that, inter alia, eliminates shortcomings¹⁴⁹ in the Swiss supervisory system and protects whistle-blowers;
- 308. Is concerned that Austrian residents who hold bank accounts with credit institutions in Liechtenstein are not affected by the Act on Common Reporting Standards if their capital incomes are yielded from asset structures (private foundations, establishments, trusts and the like), and the credit institution in Liechtenstein takes care of the taxation in accordance

¹⁴⁶ Fair taxation criterion 2.2 of the EU List.

¹⁴⁴ Work on fair taxation criteria 2.1 and 2.2 of <u>Council conclusions 14166/16</u> of 8 November 2016.

¹⁴⁵ OECD, '<u>Resumption of Application of Substantial Activities Factor to No or only Nominal Tax Jurisdictions</u> <u>Inclusive Framework on BEPS': Action 5</u>, 2018.

¹⁴⁷ Including Andorra, Liechtenstein and San Marino.

¹⁴⁸ TAX3 hearing on relations with Switzerland in tax matters and the fight against money laundering, 1 October

^{2018,} and exchange of views with Fabrizia Lapecorella, Chair of the Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation, 10 October 2018.

¹⁴⁹ Ibid.

with bilateral treaties; calls on Austria to change its law in this regard so as to close the loophole of the CRS;

- 309. Notes, by way of example, that according to OECD data on FDI, Luxembourg and the Netherlands combined have more inward investment than the US, a substantial part of which has been in SPEs with no evident substantial economic activity, and that Ireland has more inward investment than either Germany or France; points out that according to its National Statistics Office, foreign investment in Malta amounts to 1 474 % of the size of its economy;
- 310. Recalls a research study showing that tax avoidance via six EU Member States results in a loss of EUR 42.8 billion in tax revenue in the other 22 Member States¹⁵⁰, which means that the net payment position of these countries can be offset against the losses they inflict on the tax base of other Member States;
- 311. Recalls that, in order to improve the Union and Member States' fight against tax fraud, tax avoidance and money laundering, all available data, including macroeconomic data, must be used effectively;
- 312. Recalls that the Commission has criticised seven Member States¹⁵¹ Belgium, Cyprus, Hungary, Ireland, Luxembourg, Malta and the Netherlands – for shortcomings in their tax systems that facilitate aggressive tax planning, arguing that they undermine the integrity of the European single market; takes the view that these jurisdictions can also be regarded as facilitating aggressive tax planning globally;
- 313. Looks forward to the expected review of the EU list in the first quarter of 2019; asks the Council to release a detailed assessment of commitments from jurisdictions which voluntarily committed to reform and were listed in Annex II when the first EU list was released on 5 December 2017; demands that jurisdictions listed in Annex II thanks to commitments made in 2017 are listed in Annex I, if the due reforms have not been implemented by the end of 2018 or within the agreed timeframe;

6.2. Countermeasures

314. Renews its call for the EU and its Member States to undertake effective and dissuasive countermeasures against non-cooperative jurisdictions with a view to incentivising good cooperation on tax matters and compliance by the countries included in Annex I of the EU

 ¹⁵¹ <u>Country Report Belgium 2018;</u> <u>Country Report Cyprus 2018;</u> <u>Country Report Hungary 2018;</u> <u>Country Report Ireland 2018;</u> <u>Country Report Luxembourg 2018;</u>

¹⁵⁰ In the first section of 'The missing profits of nations' by Tørsløv, T.R., Wier L.S. and Zucman G., it is suggested, using modern macroeconomic models and recently published balance of payments data, that the gap in global tax revenues amount to around USD 200 billion and that FDI channelled through tax-haven jurisdictions accounts for somewhere between 10 and 30 % of total FDI. These figures are rather higher than previous estimations using other methods.

Country Report Malta 2018;

Country Report The Netherlands 2018.

list;

- 315. Deplores the fact that most countermeasures proposed by the Council are left to national discretion; notes with concern that during the TAX3 committee hearing of 15 May 2018, some experts¹⁵² highlighted the fact that countermeasures might not sufficiently incentivise non-cooperative jurisdictions to comply, since 'the EU list omits some of the most notorious tax havens'; believes that this undermines the credibility of the listing process, as some experts have also pointed out;
- 316. Calls on the Member States to adopt a single set of strong countermeasures, such as withholding taxes, exclusion from calls for public procurement tenders, increased auditing requirements and automatic CFC rules for companies present in listed non-cooperative jurisdictions unless the taxpayers convey genuine economic activities there;
- 317. Invites both tax administrations and taxpayers to cooperate to gather the relevant facts in case the controlled foreign company carries out substantive real economic activity and has substantial economic presence supported by staff, equipment, assets and premises, as evidenced by relevant facts and circumstances;
- 318. Notes that developing countries might not possess the resources to implement newly agreed international or European tax standards; calls on the Council, therefore, to exclude countermeasures such as cuts in development aid;
- 319. Notes that countermeasures are essential to fight tax evasion, aggressive tax planning and money laundering; further notes that the economic clout of the European Union can serve to deter non-cooperative jurisdictions and taxpayers from exploiting the tax loopholes and harmful tax practices offered by those jurisdictions;
- 320. Calls on the European financial institutions¹⁵³ to consider applying reinforced and enhanced due diligence on a project-by-project basis to jurisdictions listed in Annex II of the EU list in order to avoid EU funds being invested in or channelled through entities in third countries which do not comply with EU tax standards; notes the EIB's announcement of its new non-complying jurisdictions policy and calls for this policy to be regularly updated and to include increased transparency requirements in line with EU standards;

6.3. Position of the EU as a global leader

- 321. Reiterates its call for the EU and its Member States to have, following ex-ante coordination, a leading role in the global fight against tax evasion, aggressive tax planning and money laundering, in particular through Commission initiatives in all related international forums, including the UN, G20 and OECD, which played a central role in tax matters, especially after the international financial crisis;
- 322. Recalls that multilateral policies and international cooperation between countries, including developing countries, remains the preferred means to achieve concrete results while respecting the principle of reciprocity; regrets the fact that some legislative proposals that

¹⁵² Contributions by Alex Cobham (Tax Justice Network) and Johan Langerock (Oxfam), TAX3 committee hearing on the fight against harmful tax practices within the EU and abroad, 15 May 2018.

¹⁵³ Namely the European Investment Bank and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development.

go beyond the OECD BEPS recommendations and could serve as a basis for further fruitful work at an international level are stalled in the Council;

- 323. Believes that the creation of an intergovernmental tax body within the framework of the UN, which should be well equipped and have sufficient resources and, where appropriate, enforcement powers, would ensure that all countries can participate on an equal footing in the formulation and reform of a global tax agenda¹⁵⁴ to fight harmful tax practices effectively and ensure an appropriate allocation of taxing rights; takes notes of recent calls for the UN Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters to be upgraded to an intergovernmental UN Global Tax Body¹⁵⁵; stresses that the UN Model Tax Convention ensures a fairer distribution of taxing rights between source and residence countries;
- 324. Calls for an intergovernmental summit on the remaining necessary global tax reforms in order to enhance international cooperation and put pressure on all countries, in particular their financial centres, to comply with transparency and fair taxation standards; calls for the Commission to take the initiative for such a summit and for the summit to launch a second set of international tax reforms to follow up on the BEPS action plan and to allow for the establishment of the abovementioned intergovernmental global tax body;
- 325. Takes note of the Commission's action and contribution to the OECD Global Forum on Transparency and Exchange of Information and the Inclusive Framework on BEPS, namely to promote higher standards of tax good governance globally, while ensuring that the international tax good governance standards continue to be fully respected within the EU;

6.4. Developing countries

- 326. Believes that supporting developing countries in combating tax evasion and aggressive tax planning, as well as corruption and secrecy that facilitate illicit financial flows, is of the utmost importance for strengthening policy coherence for development in the EU and improving developing countries' tax capacities and ability to mobilise their own resources for sustainable economic development; stresses the need to increase the share of financial and technical assistance to the tax administrations of developing countries, so as to create stable and modern legal taxation frameworks;
- 327. Welcomes the cooperation between the EU and the African Union (AU) as part of the Addis Tax Initiative (ATI), the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) and the Kimberley Process; calls on the Commission and Member States to support AU countries in the implementation of transparency policies; encourages, in this regard, national and regional tax authorities to exchange information automatically; recalls the convenience of close, reinforced cooperation between Interpol and Afripol;
- 328. Recalls the need for Member States, in close cooperation with the Commission, to undertake regular spillover analyses of the material impact of tax policies and bilateral tax

¹⁵⁴ European Parliament resolution of 6 July 2016 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect (OJ C 101, 16.3.2018, p. 79) and recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (OJ C 369, 11. 10.2018, p. 132). ¹⁵⁵ The G77 called for such a body in 2017.

treaties on other Member States and developing countries, while acknowledging that some work has taken place in this regard within the framework of the Platform for Tax Good Governance; calls on all Member States to conduct such spillover analyses under the supervision of the Commission;

- 329. Recalls the need to take into account the specific legal features and vulnerabilities of developing countries, in particular in the context of automatic exchange of information, namely in terms of the transition period and their need for support in their capacity-building;
- 330. Notes that closer work with regional organisations is needed, in particular with the AU in order to combat illegal financial flows and corruption in the private and public sectors;
- 331. Welcomes the participation on an equal footing of all countries involved in the Inclusive Framework, which brings together over 115 countries and jurisdictions to collaborate on the implementation of the OECD/G20 BEPS Package; calls on the Member States to support a reform of both the mandate and functioning of the Inclusive Framework to ensure that developing countries' interests are taken into consideration; recalls, however, the exclusion of over 100 developing countries from the negotiations on the BEPS actions;
- 332. Acknowledges that tax haven regimes are also present in developing countries; welcomes the Commission's proposal for enhanced cooperation with third countries in fighting the financing of terrorism and, in particular, the creation of an import license for antiques;
- 333. Recalls that public development aid targeting poverty reduction should be directed to a greater extent towards the implementation of an appropriate regulatory framework and the bolstering of tax administrations and institutions responsible for fighting illicit financial flows; calls for this aid to be provided in the form of technical expertise in relation to resource management, financial information and anti-corruption rules; calls for this aid to also favour regional cooperation against tax fraud, tax evasion, ATP and money laundering; stresses that this aid should include support to civil society and media in developing countries to ensure public scrutiny over domestic tax policies;
- 334. Expects the Commission to come up with adequate resources to implement the 'Collect More Spend Better' approach, notably through its flagships programmes¹⁵⁶;
- 335. Calls for concerted external action from the EU and its Member States, at all levels of policy, to provide third countries and developing countries in particular with the wherewithal to bolster balanced economic development and avoid dependence on one single sector, especially finance;
- 336. Recalls the need for fair treatment of developing countries when negotiating tax treaties, taking into account their particular situation and ensuring a fair allocation of tax rights according to genuine economic activity and value creation; calls, in this regard, for adherence to the UN Model Tax Convention to be considered as a minimum standard and for transparency around treaty negotiations to be ensured; acknowledges that the OECD

¹⁵⁶ European Commission discussion paper: <u>A Contribution to the Third Financing for Development Conference in</u> <u>Addis Ababa</u>.

Model Tax Treaty grants more rights to the country of residence;

337. Invites the Commission to include provisions against financial crimes, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning in the treaty to be negotiated with ACP countries upon expiry of the current Cotonou Agreement in February 2020; notes the particular importance of transparency in tax matters for such provisions to be implemented effectively;

6.5. EU agreements with third countries

- 338. Recalls that tax good governance is a global challenge which requires, above all, global solutions; recalls its position therefore that a 'tax good governance' clause should be included systematically in new relevant EU agreements with third countries in order to ensure that these agreements cannot be misused by companies or intermediaries to avoid or evade taxes or launder illicit proceeds, without hampering the EU's exclusive competences; takes the view that this clause should include specific rules on State aid under the form of a tax advantage, transparency requirements and anti-money laundering provisions;
- 339. Encourages the Member States to use their bilateral relations with the respective third countries in a coordinated manner, with the support of the Commission if appropriate, to establish further bilateral cooperation between FIUs, tax authorities and competent authorities to fight financial crime;
- 340. Notes that, in parallel to the political agreements containing this tax good governance clause, the EU's free trade agreements (FTAs) include tax exceptions that provide policy space for implementing the EU's approach to fight tax evasion and money laundering, for example by insisting on tax good governance and via effective use of the EU list of non-cooperating tax jurisdictions; further notes that FTAs also aim to promote relevant international standards and their enforcement in third countries;
- 341. Considers that the EU should not conclude agreements with non-cooperative tax jurisdictions as appearing in Annex I of the EU list until the jurisdiction is compliant with EU tax good governance standards; calls on the Commission to investigate whether non-compliance with EU tax good governance standards affects the proper functioning of FTAs or of political agreements in cases where an agreement has already been signed;
- 342. Recalls that tax good governance and transparency clauses, as well as the exchange of information, should be included in all new relevant EU agreements with third countries, and should be negotiated as part of the revision of existing agreements, in view of the fact that they are core instruments of EU external policy and yet, depending on the specific policy field, involve different levels of competence;

6.6. Bilateral tax treaties concluded by Member States

343. Notes that some experts consider that many tax treaties concluded by EU Member States currently in force restrict the tax rights of low and lower-middle income countries¹⁵⁷; requests than when negotiating tax treaties, the European Union and its Member States

¹⁵⁷ Action Aid, Mistreated Tax Treaties Report, February 2016.

should comply with the principle of policy coherence for development established in Article 208 TFEU; underlines that it is the prerogative of Member States to conclude tax treaties;

- 344. Notes that the intensity of losses due to tax avoidance is substantially greater in low and middle-income countries, especially in sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, and South Asia than in other regions¹⁵⁸; asks Member States, therefore, to renegotiate their bilateral tax treaties with third countries with the aim of introducing anti-abuse clauses, preventing 'treaty shopping' and a race to the bottom among developing countries;
- 345. Calls on the Commission to review all tax treaties in force and signed by Member States with third countries to ensure that they are all compliant with new global standards such as the Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting ('MLI'); notes that the MLI represents OECD-based standards which were not established with consideration for the needs or challenges of developing countries; asks the Commission to release recommendations to Member States regarding their existing bilateral tax treaties to ensure that they include general anti-abuse rules, looking at genuine economic activity and value creation;
- 346. Is aware that bilateral tax treaties do not reflect the current reality of digitalised economies; calls on Member States to update their bilateral tax treaties based on the Commission recommendation relating to the corporate taxation of a significant digital presence¹⁵⁹;

6.7. Double taxation

- 347. Welcomes the strengthened framework on avoiding double non-taxation; emphasises that the elimination of double taxation is of great importance for ensuring that honest taxpayers are treated fairly and their trust is not undermined; calls on Member States to abide by their double taxation treaties and cooperate sincerely and swiftly in cases of reported double taxation;
- 348. Welcomes the adoption of Council Directive (EU) 2017/1852 of 10 October 2017 on tax dispute resolution mechanisms in the EU, implementing the standard set out in BEPS action 14; points out that the implementation deadline of the directive (30 June 2019) has not yet elapsed and that the provisions will need to be monitored in order to ensure that they are efficient and effective;
- 349. Calls on the Commission to collect and release information on the number of tax disputes submitted and resolved, sorted by type of dispute per year and by countries involved, so as to monitor the mechanism and ensure that it is efficient and effective;

6.8. Outermost regions

350. Calls on the Commission and the Member States to ensure that the EU's outermost regions implement the BEPS minimum standards, as well as ATAD;

 ¹⁵⁸ Cobham, A and Janský, P., 2017. '<u>Global distribution of revenue loss from tax avoidance</u>'.
 ¹⁵⁹ C(2018) 1650.

351. Notes that the Commission has opened an in-depth investigation into the application of the Madeira Free Zone regional aid scheme by Portugal¹⁶⁰;

7. Intermediaries

- 352. Welcomes the broad definition of both 'intermediary'¹⁶¹ and 'reportable cross-border arrangement' in the recently adopted DAC6¹⁶²; calls for the hallmarks under DAC6 to be updated in order to cover, amongst others, dividend arbitrage schemes, including the granting of dividend and capital gains tax refunds; calls on the Commission to reassess the extension of the DAC6 reporting obligation to domestic cases; recalls the obligation of intermediaries under DAC6 to report schemes based on structural loopholes in tax legislation to tax authorities, particularly in view of the increasing number of cross-border tax avoidance strategies; considers that schemes deemed to be harmful by the relevant domestic authorities should be addressed and made public in an anonymised manner;
- 353. Reiterates that intermediaries play a crucial role in facilitating money laundering and the financing of terrorism and should be held accountable for these actions;
- 354. Reiterates the need for enhanced cooperation between tax administrations and financial supervisors for joint and effective surveillance of the role of financial intermediaries and in the light of the fact that some tax-driven financial instruments may pose a risk to financial market stability and market integrity;
- 355. Considers that the Union should lead by example, and calls on the Commission to ensure that intermediaries promoting aggressive tax planning and tax evasion should not have a role in guiding or advising the Union's policy-making institutions on these matters;
- 356. Calls on the Commission and the Member States to recognise and address the risks of conflicts of interest stemming from the provision of legal advice, tax advice and auditing services when advising both corporate clients and public authorities; notes that a conflict of interest can take several forms, such as public procurement contracts that require the provision of paid advice for such services, the provision of informal or unpaid advice, official advisory and expert groups, or revolving doors; stresses, therefore, the importance of transparent indication of what services are provided to a particular client and a clear separation between these services; reiterates its requests from previous reports¹⁶³ on this

¹⁶⁰ An in-depth Commission investigation to examine whether Portugal has applied the Madeira Free Zone regional aid scheme in conformity with its 2007 and 2013 decisions approving it, namely by verifying whether tax exemptions granted by Portugal to companies established in the Madeira Free Zone are in line with the Commission decisions and EU State aid rules; highlights that the Commission is verifying whether Portugal complied with the requirements of the schemes, i.e. whether the company profits benefiting from the income tax reductions originated exclusively from activities carried out in Madeira and whether the beneficiary companies actually created and maintained jobs in Madeira.

¹⁶¹ Also referred to as enablers, promoters or facilitators in some legislation.

¹⁶² Council Directive (EU) 2018/822 of 25 May 2018 amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation in relation to reportable cross-border arrangements (OJ L 139, 5.6.2018, p. 1).

¹⁶³ See, for example, the European Parliament recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion, paragraph 143 (OJ C 369, 11.10.2018, p. 132).

issue;

- 357. Welcomes the monitoring of the enforcement of Directive 2014/56/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 amending Directive 2006/43/EC on statutory audits of annual accounts and consolidated accounts¹⁶⁴ and of Regulation (EU) 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities and repealing Commission Decision 2005/909/EC¹⁶⁵, in particular the provision on statutory auditors or audit firms carrying out statutory audits of public-interest entities; points out the need to ensure that the rules are properly applied;
- 358. Calls on the Member States to consider the introduction of mandatory tax reporting for all tax and financial intermediaries referred to in Action 12 of the BEPS Project who, in the course of their professional activities, become aware of the existence of abusive or aggressive transactions, devices or structures;
- 359. Calls for a rotation of auditors every seven years to prevent conflicts of interest and for the provision of non-audit services to be kept to a minimum;
- 360. Reiterates that financial institutions, advisors and other intermediaries that knowingly, systematically and repeatedly facilitate, engage or participate in money laundering or tax evasion activities, or that establish offices, branches or subsidiaries in EU-listed jurisdictions to offer their clients aggressive tax planning schemes, should face effective, proportional and dissuasive penalties; calls for such institutions and individuals to have their operational businesses licenses subjected to a serious review in the event that they are convicted for participating in fraudulent behaviour, or they are cognisant of it being carried out by their clients, and, where applicable, for restrictions on their operating in the single market;
- 361. Points out that professional secrecy cannot be used for the purposes of protecting or covering up illegal practices or for violating the spirit of the law; urges that attorney-client privilege should not impede adequate STRs or the reporting of other potentially illegal activities, without prejudice to the rights guaranteed by the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union and the general principles of criminal law;
- 362. Calls on the Commission to issue guidance on the interpretation and application of the legal privilege principle for professionals and to introduce a clear line of demarcation between traditional judicial advice and lawyers acting as financial operators, in line with the case-law of the European courts;

8. Protection of whistle-blowers and journalists

363. Believes that the protection of whistle-blowers in both the private and public sectors is of major importance to ensure that unlawful activities and abuse of law are prevented or do not prosper; recognises that whistle-blowers play a crucial role in strengthening democracy in societies in the fight against corruption and other serious crimes or illegal activities, and

¹⁶⁴ OJ L 158, 27.5.2014, p. 196.

¹⁶⁵ OJ L 158, 27.5.2014, p. 77.

in the protection of the Union's financial interests; stresses that whistle-blowers are often a crucial source for investigative journalism and should therefore be protected from all forms of harassment and retaliation; notes the importance of making all reporting channels available;

- 364. Deems it necessary to protect the confidentiality of the sources of investigative journalism, including whistle-blowers, if the role of investigative journalism as a watchdog in democratic society is to be safeguarded;
- 365. Considers, therefore, that the duty of confidentiality should only be waived in exceptional circumstances where disclosure of the information relating to the reporting person's personal data is a necessary and proportionate obligation required under Union or national law in the context of investigations or judicial proceedings or to safeguard the freedoms of others including the right of defence of the person concerned, and in any case should be subject to appropriate safeguards under such laws; considers that appropriate sanctions should be provided for in the event of breaches of the duty of confidentiality concerning the reporting person's identity¹⁶⁶;
- 366. Notes that the US False Claims Act provides a solid framework for rewarding whistleblowers in cases where the government recovers funds lost as a result of fraud¹⁶⁷; underlines that according to a US Justice Department report, whistle-blowers were directly responsible for the detection and reporting of 3.4 billion of the total USD 3.7 billion recovered; calls on Member States to establish safe and confidential communication channels for whistle-blowers' reporting within the relevant authorities and private entities;
- 367. Calls on the Commission to examine best practices around the world¹⁶⁸ on protecting and providing incentives for whistle-blowers and, where appropriate and necessary, to consider reviewing existing legislation in order to make similar schemes in the EU even more effective;
- 368. Calls for a general EU fund to be set up to provide appropriate financial support to whistleblowers whose livelihoods are put at risk as a result of disclosures of criminal activity or facts which are clearly in the public interest;
- 369. Worries that whistle-blowers are often discouraged from reporting their concerns for fear of retaliation and that if retaliation is not discouraged and remains unpunished, potential whistle-blowers may be dissuaded from reporting their concerns; considers that the recognition in AMLD5 of the right of whistle-blowers to present a complaint in a safe manner to the respective competent authorities, i.e. via a single point of contact in complex international cases, when exposed to a threat or retaliation and of their right to an effective remedy, constitutes a significant improvement of the situation of individuals reporting suspicions of money laundering or terrorist financing internally within the company or to a FIU; urges Member States to transpose, in a timely manner, and to duly enforce, the

PE627.890v02-00

¹⁶⁶ Report on the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 November 2018 on the protection of persons reporting on breaches of Union law $(COM(2018)0218) - C8\ 0159/2018 - 2018/0106(COD))$.

¹⁶⁷ TAX3 hearing of 21 November 2018.

¹⁶⁸ In particular the relevant US legislation.

provisions on whistle-blower protection laid down in AMLD5;

- 370. Welcomes the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the protection of persons reporting on breaches of Union law, and calls for the swift conclusion of the interinstitutional negotiations; calls for the final text to be balanced and to avoid creating an excessive administrative burden for SMEs;
- 371. Recalls that EU officials enjoy whistle-blower protection under the Staff Regulations and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Union¹⁶⁹ and invites Member States to introduce comparable standards for their civil servants;
- 372. Considers that non-disclosure agreements included in employment contracts and dismissal agreements should by no means prevent employees from reporting suspected cases of violations of law and of human rights¹⁷⁰ to the competent authorities; calls on the Commission to assess the possibility of proposing legislation prohibiting abusive non-disclosure agreements;
- 373. Notes that the TAX3 committee invited the whistle-blowers in the cases of Julius Bär and Danske Bank to testify at public parliamentary hearings¹⁷¹; is concerned that whistle-blower protection in financial institutions is not fully satisfactory and that fears of retaliation from both employers and authorities may prevent whistle-blowers from coming forward with information on breaches of law; deeply regrets the fact that the Danske Bank whistle-blower could not freely and fully share his insight into the Danske Bank case owing to legal restraints;
- 374. Deplores the fact that the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority failed to make contact with the whistle-blower who reported massive money-laundering activities in Danske Bank; is of the opinion that this omission constitutes gross negligence on the part of the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority of its duty to conduct proper investigations following serious allegations of large-scale and systematic money laundering through a bank; calls on the relevant EU and Member State authorities to make full use of the information provided by whistle-blowers and to act swiftly and decisively on the information obtained from them;
- 375. Calls on the Member States to work closely within the Council of Europe for the promotion and implementation in the domestic law of all Council of Europe Member States of the recommendation on the protection of whistle-blowers; calls on the Commission and the Member States to take the lead in other international fora to promote the adoption of binding international standards for the protection of whistle-blowers;
- 376. Notes that in addition to guaranteeing the confidentiality of the identity of whistle-blowers as an essential measure for the protection of the reporting person, anonymous reporting

¹⁶⁹ Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004 amending the Staff Regulations of officials of the European Communities and the Conditions of Employment of other servants of the European Communities (OJ L 124, 27.4.2004, p. 1).

¹⁷⁰ As suggested by the Council of Europe in its Recommendation CM/Rec(2014)7 of the Committee of Ministers to Member States on the protection of whistleblowers, adopted on 30 April 2014.

¹⁷¹ Mr Rudolf Elmer, hearing on 1 October 2018; Mr Howard Wilkinson, hearing on 21 November 2018.

should be further protected from generalised threats and attacks issued by those allegedly offended which seek to discredit the reporting person;

- 377. Acknowledges the difficulties faced by journalists when investigating or reporting on cases of money laundering, tax fraud, tax evasion and ATP; worries that investigative journalists are often subjected to threats and intimidation, including legal intimidation by strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPPs); calls on the Member States to improve protection for journalists, particularly those involved in investigations on financial crime;
- 378. Strongly condemns acts of violence against journalists; recalls with dismay that in recent years journalists involved in the investigation of dubious activities with a money laundering component have been murdered in Malta and Slovakia¹⁷²; underlines that according to the Council of Europe, abuses and crimes committed against journalists have a deeply chilling effect on freedom of expression and amplify the phenomenon of self-censorship;
- 379. Urges the Maltese authorities to deploy all available resources to make progress in identifying the instigators behind the murder of the investigative journalist Daphne Caruana Galizia; welcomes the initiative of 26 international media freedom and journalists' organisations pushing for an independent public inquiry into the murder of Daphne Caruana Galizia and to assess whether it could have been avoided; urges the Maltese Government to initiate this independent public inquiry without delay; notes that the Maltese Government has engaged with international organisations such as Europol, the FBI and the Dutch Forensic Institute, in an effort to strengthen its expertise;
- 380. Encourages the Slovak authorities to continue their investigation into the murders of Ján Kuciak and Martina Kušnírová and identify the real instigators behind those murders; calls on the Slovak authorities to fully investigate the cases of large-scale tax evasion, VAT fraud and money laundering brought to light by Ján Kuciak's investigations;
- 381. Deplores the fact that investigative journalists, including Daphne Caruana Galizia, are often victims of abusive lawsuits intended to censor, intimidate and silence them by burdening them with the costs of legal defence until they are forced to abandon their criticism or opposition; recalls that these abusive lawsuits constitute a threat to fundamental democratic rights, such as to freedom of expression, freedom of the press and freedom to disseminate and receive information;
- 382. Calls on the Member States to put in place mechanisms to prevent SLAPPs; considers that these mechanisms should duly take into consideration the right to a good name and reputation; calls on the Commission to assess the possibility and the nature of the concrete action that should be taken in this area;
- 383. Deplores the fact that Swiss libel laws are used to silence critics in Switzerland and worldwide because the burden of proof lies with the defendant and not the plaintiff; highlights that this not only affects journalists and whistle-blowers, but also reporting

¹⁷² Daphne Caruana Galizia, killed in Malta on 16 October 2017; Ján Kuciak, killed together with his partner Martina Kušnírová, in Slovakia on 21 February 2018.

entities in the European Union and obliged persons under the beneficial ownership register, as in the event that the obligation of reporting a Swiss beneficial owner should arise, the reporting person may end up being prosecuted in Switzerland for libel and slander, which are criminal offences¹⁷³;

9. Institutional aspects

9.1. Transparency

- 384. Welcomes the work done by the Platform for Tax Good Governance; notes that the mandate of the Platform applies until 16 June 2019; calls for it to be extended or renewed to ensure that civil society concerns and expertise are heard by Member States and the Commission; encourages the Commission to broaden the scope of the experts invited to the Expert Group on Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing (EGMLTF) to include experts from the private sector (business and NGOs);
- 385. Stresses that the European Ombudsman has the mandate to look into the EU institutions' application of EU rules on public access to documents, including into the working methods of the Council or the CoC Group in the area of taxation;
- 386. Recalls the results of the Ombudsman's own-initiative inquiry into the Council's working methods and its recommendation of 9 February 2018 concluding that the Council's practice of not making legislative documents widely accessible, its disproportionate use of the 'LIMITE' status and its systematic failure to record the identities of Member States that take a position in a legislative procedure constitute maladministration¹⁷⁴;
- 387. Recalls that taxation remains the competence of the Member States and that the European Parliament has limited powers in these matters;
- 388. Points out, however, that issues of tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning cannot be effectively tackled by Member States individually; deplores the fact, therefore, that despite requests to the Council, no relevant documents have been made available to the TAX3 committee; is greatly concerned about the lack of political will from the Member States in the Council to take substantial steps in the fight against money laundering, tax fraud, tax evasion and aggressive tax planning or to comply with the TEU and the principle of sincere cooperation¹⁷⁵ by ensuring sufficient transparency and cooperation with the other EU institutions;
- 389. Regrets the fact that the rules currently in place for accessing classified and other confidential information made available to Parliament by the Council, Commission or Member States, do not provide full legal clarity but are generally interpreted as excluding accredited parliamentary assistants (APAs) from consulting and analysing non-classified 'other confidential information' in a secure reading room; calls, therefore, for the introduction of a clearly worded provision in a negotiated interinstituional agreement guaranteeing the right of access to documents for APAs on the basis of the 'need to know'

¹⁷³ TAX3 committee hearing of 1 October 2018.

¹⁷⁴ <u>Recommendation</u> of the European Ombudsman in case OI/2/2017/TE on the Transparency of the Council legislative process.

¹⁷⁵ Article 4(3) of the TEU.

principle, in their supporting role for Members;

390. Regrets the fact that despite repeated invitations, the representatives of the Council Presidency refused to appear before the TAX3 committee to report on progress in implementing the recommendations of the TAXE, TAX2 and PANA committees; emphasises that working contacts between the Council Presidency and special and inquiry committees of the European Parliament should be standard practice;

9.2. Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation

- 391. Notes the increased communication from the CoC Group and welcomes in particular the biannual publication of its report to the Council, as well as the letters sent to jurisdictions and commitments received in the context of the EU listing process;
- 392. Regrets, however, the opaque nature of the negotiations regarding the EU listing process, and calls on the Member States to ensure transparency in the forthcoming update of the lists;
- 393. Welcomes the fact that the Chair of the CoC Group appeared before the TAX3 committee, in a reversal of the CoC Group's previous position; also notes that since the start of the work of the TAX3 committee, compilations of the CoC Group's work have been made available¹⁷⁶; regrets, however, that those documents were not published sooner and that important parts of them have been redacted;
- 394. Stresses that the abovementioned Ombudsman recommendations also apply to the CoC Group, which should provide the necessary information, relating in particular to harmful tax practices of Member States and the EU listing process;
- 395. Calls on the CoC Group to take further measures to ensure the transparency of its meetings, in particular by making public the positions of the different Member States on the discussed agenda no later than six months after the meeting;
- 396. Calls on the Commission to report on the implementation of the code of conduct for business taxation and on the application of fiscal State aid, as laid down in recital N of the code¹⁷⁷;
- 397. Believes that the mandate of the CoC Group needs to be updated, since it addresses matters beyond the assessment of harmful EU tax practices, which is more than simply providing technical input to the decisions made by the Council; calls, based on the nature of the work undertaken by the Group which is also of a political nature, for such tasks to be brought

 $^{^{176}}$ In particular as recalled in the CoC Group report to the Council of June 2018: the Procedural Guidelines for carrying out the process of monitoring commitments concerning the EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes (doc. 6213/18); a compilation of all the agreed guidance since the creation of the Group in 1998 (doc. 5814/18 REV1); a compilation of all the letters signed by the COCG Chair seeking commitments by jurisdictions (doc. 6671/18); a compilation of the commitment letters received in return, when consent was given by the jurisdiction concerned (doc. 6972/18 and addenda); and an overview of the individual measures assessed by the Group since 1998 (doc. 9 639/18).

¹⁷⁷ The code is set out in Annex I to the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council Meeting of 1 December 1997 concerning taxation policy, recital N of which relates to the monitoring and revision of the code's provisions (OJ C 2, 6.1.1998, p. 1.).

back under a framework which enables democratic control or supervision, starting by applying transparency;

398. Calls in this context for the opaque nature of the composition of CoC Group to be remedied by publishing a list of its members;

9.3. Enforcement of EU legislation

- 399. Calls for the newly elected Parliament to initiate an overall assessment on progress as regards access to documents requested by the TAXE, TAX2, PANA and TAX3 committees, comparing the requests made with those granted by the Council and other EU institutions, and to initiate, if needed, the necessary procedural and/or legal measures;
- 400. Calls for the creation of a new Union Tax Policy Coherence and Coordination Centre (TPCCC) within the structure of the Commission, which should be able to assess and monitor Member States' tax policies at Union level and ensure that no new harmful tax measures are implemented by Member States;
- 401. Considers that such a TPCCC would ensure effective and expeditious cooperation between Member States¹⁷⁸ and facilitate early warning in cases such as the cum-ex scandal; consider, moreover, that such a TPCCC should be able to monitor Member States' compliance with the common Union list of uncooperative jurisdictions; urges Member States to support this call and for the Commission to present a legislative proposal for such a mechanism;

9.4. Cooperation of non-institutional participants

- 402. Welcomes the participation and input of stakeholders in TAX3 committee hearings, as referred to in section IV.3 of the overview of activities during the mandate of the TAX3 committee; deplores the fact that other stakeholders refused to participate in TAX3 committee hearings, as referred to in section IV.4 of the overview of activities; notes that no dissuasive sanctions could be found for cases where no reason was given for this refusal;
- 403. Calls on the Council and the Commission to agree on the establishment of a publicly accessible and regularly updated list of non-cooperative non-institutional parties in the interinstitutional agreement on a mandatory transparency register for lobbyists; considers, in the meantime, that a record should be kept of those professionals and organisations who without justifiable reason refused to attend the TAXE, TAX2, PANA and TAX3 committee hearings; invites the EU institutions to bear this attitude in mind during any future dealings with the stakeholders concerned and to withdraw their access badges to their premises;

9.5. Parliament's right of inquiry/investigative right

404. Considers that it is vital for the exercise of democratic control over the executive that Parliament be empowered with investigative and inquiry powers that match those of

¹⁷⁸ According to recommendations made by the TAXE2 and PANA committees.

Member States' national parliaments; believes that in order to exercise this role Parliament must have the power to summon and compel witnesses to appear and to compel the production of documents;

- 405. Believes that in order for these rights to be exercised Member States must agree to implement sanctions against individuals for failure to appear or produce documents in line with national law governing national parliamentary inquiries and investigations;
- 406. Urges the Council and the Commission to engage in the timely conclusion of the negotiations on the proposal for a regulation of the European Parliament on the detailed provisions governing the exercise of Parliament's right of inquiry;

9.6. Unanimity vs qualified majority voting

- 407. Reiterates its call on the Commission to use, if appropriate, the procedure laid down in Article 116 of the TFEU which makes it possible to change the unanimity requirement in cases where the Commission finds that a difference between the provisions laid down by law, regulation or administrative action in Member States is distorting the conditions of competition in the internal market;
- 408. Welcomes the Commission's contribution through its communication 'Towards a more efficient and democratic decision making in EU tax policy' proposing a roadmap to qualified majority voting for specific and pressing tax policy issues where vital legislative files and initiatives aimed at combating tax fraud, tax evasion and ATP have been blocked in the Council to the detriment of a large majority of Member States; welcomes the support expressed by some Member States for this proposal¹⁷⁹;
- 409. Stresses that all scenarios should remain envisaged, and not only that of shifting from unanimity to qualified majority voting through a passerelle clause; calls on the European Council to add this point to a Summit agenda before the end of 2019 in order to engage in a fruitful debate on how to facilitate decision-making on tax issues in the interests of the functioning of the single market;

9.7. Follow-up

410. Takes the view that the work of the TAXE, TAX2, PANA and TAX3 committees should be continued, in the forthcoming parliamentary term, in a permanent structure within Parliament such as a subcommittee to the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs (ECON), with a view to facilitating cross-committee participation;

o o

0

411. Instructs its President to forward this resolution to the European Council, the Economic and Financial Affairs Council, the Commission, the European External Action Service, the European Supervisory Authorities, the European Public Prosecutor's Office, the European Central Bank, Moneyval, the Member States, the national parliaments, the UN, the G20,

¹⁷⁹ TAX 3 hearing with the Spanish Secretary of State for Finance, 19 February 2019.

the Financial Action Task Force and the OECD.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES DURING THE MANDATE

March 2018 - February 2019

* * *

I. LIST OF ACRONYMS

APAs	Accredited Parliamentary Assistants
AU	African Union
-	
ATP	Aggressive Tax Planning
ATAD	Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive
AML	Anti - Money Laundering
AMLD	Anti-Money Laundering Directive
BEAT	Base Erosion and Anti- Abuse Tax
BEPS	Base Erosion and Profit Shifting
СТР	Certified Taxable Person
СВІ	Citizenship by Investment (Golden visa programmes)
CoC Group	Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation
ССТВ	Common Corporate Tax Base
СССТВ	Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base
CRS	Common Reporting System
CFC	Controlled Foreign Corporation
CIT	Corporate Income Tax
CSR	Corporate Social Responsibility
CDD	Customer Due Diligence
DAC	Directive on Administrative Cooperation in the tax area
Commission	European Commission
The Council	The Council of the European Union
EBA	European Banking Authority
EPPO	European Public Prosecutor's Office
ESAs	European Supervisory Authorities
EU (or the Union)	European Union
FATF	Financial Action Task Force
FIU	Financial Intelligence Unit

FDII	Foreign Derived Intangible Income
FDR	Foreign Direct Investment
FTAs	Free Trade Agreements
GAAR	General Anti- Abuse Rule
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GILTI	Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income
IMF	International Monetary Fund
JTPF	Joint Transfer Pricing Forum
KYC	Know Your Customer
ML	Money Laundering
MLI	Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (Multilateral Instrument)
MNE	Multinational Enterprise
NGOs	Non-Governmental Institutions
NOE	Non -Observed Economy
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OLAF	European Anti- Fraud Office
R&D	Research & Development
RBI	Residency by Investment
SMEs	Small and Medium- sized Enterprises
SEZ	Special Economic Zone
SPE	Special Purpose Entity
SLAPP	Strategic Lawsuits against Public Participation
TAX3	Special Committee on Financial Crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
TF	Terrorist Financing
TFEU	Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union
UBO	Ultimate Beneficial Owner
UCC	Union Customs Code
UHNWI	High Net Worth Individuals (HNWI)/ Ultra High Net Worth Individuals
UN	United Nations
VAT	Value Added Tax
WTO	World Trade Organisation

II. COMMITTEE MANDATE

P8_TA(2018)0048

Setting up a special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (TAX3)

European Parliament decision of 1 March 2018 on setting up a special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (TAX3), and defining its responsibilities, numerical strength and term of office (2018/2574(RSO))

The European Parliament,

- having regard to the proposal for a decision of the Conference of Presidents,
- having regard to its decision of 12 February 2015¹⁸⁰ on setting up a special committee on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect (the 'TAXE 1 special committee'), its powers, numerical strength and term of office,
- having regard to its resolution of 25 November 2015 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect¹⁸¹,
- having regard to its decision of 2 December 2015¹⁸² on setting up a special committee on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect (the 'TAXE 2 special committee'), its powers, numerical strength and term of office,
- having regard to its resolution of 6 July 2016 on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect¹⁸³,
- having regard to its decision of 8 June 2016¹⁸⁴ on setting up a Committee of Inquiry to investigate alleged contraventions and maladministration in the application of Union law in relation to money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion (the 'PANA inquiry committee'), its powers, numerical strength and term of office,
- having regard to its recommendation of 13 December 2017 to the Council and the Commission following the inquiry into money laundering, tax avoidance and tax evasion¹⁸⁵,
- having regard to Rule 197 of its Rules of Procedure,
- 1. Decides to set up a special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance, vested with the following powers:
 - (a) to build on and complement the work carried out by the TAXE 1 and TAXE 2 special committees, in particular focusing on the effective implementation by Member States, Commission and/or the Council, and the impact of, the recommendations in its abovementioned resolutions of 25 November 2015 and 6 July 2016;
 - (b) to build on and complement the work carried out by the PANA inquiry committee, in particular focusing on the effective implementation by Member States, Commission and/or

¹⁸⁰ OJ C 310, 25.8.2016, p. 42.

¹⁸¹ OJ C 366, 27.10.2017, p. 51.

¹⁸² OJ C 399, 24.11.2017, p. 201.

¹⁸³ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2016)0310.

¹⁸⁴ OJ L 166, 24.6.2016, p. 10.

¹⁸⁵ Texts adopted, P8_TA(2017)0491.

the Council, and the impact of, the recommendations in its abovementioned recommendation of 13 December 2017;

- (c) to follow up on the progress by the Member States in ending tax practices which allow for tax avoidance and/or tax evasion that are harmful for the proper functioning of the single market, as referred to in its abovementioned resolutions of 25 November 2015 and 6 July 2016 and recommendation of 13 December 2017;
- (d) to assess how EU VAT rules were circumvented in the framework of the Paradise Papers and to evaluate in a more general way the impact of VAT fraud and administrative cooperation rules in the Union; and to analyse the exchange of information and coordination policies between the Member States and Eurofisc;
- (e) to contribute to the ongoing debate on taxation of the digital economy;
- (f) to assess national schemes providing tax privileges (such as citizenship programmes);
- (g) to follow closely the ongoing work of, and contribution by, the Commission and Member States in international institutions, including the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, G20, UN and the Financial Action Task Force (FATF), while fully respecting the competences of the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs regarding taxation matters;
- (h) to access documents relevant to its work and to make the necessary contacts and hold hearings with international, European (including the Code of Conduct Group for Business Taxation) and national institutions and fora, the national parliaments and governments of the Member States and third countries, as well as representatives of the academic community, business and civil society, including social partners, in close cooperation with the standing committees; in doing so taking into account efficient use of Parliament resources;
- to analyse and assess the third-country dimension in tax avoidance practices, including the impact on developing countries; to monitor improvements and existing gaps in the exchange of information with third countries in this respect, with particular attention to be given to the Crown Dependencies and Overseas Territories;
- (j) to assess the Commission's own assessment and screening process for listing countries in the AMLD delegated act on high-risk third countries;
- (k) to assess the methodology, country screening and impact of the EU list of noncooperative jurisdictions for tax purposes (EU blacklist of tax havens), the removal of countries from the list, and the sanctions adopted towards listed countries;
- (I) to examine the consequences of bilateral tax treaties concluded by Member States;
- (m) to make any recommendations that it deems necessary in this matter;
- 2. Decides that the Special Committee should take into account in its work the recent Paradise Papers revelations from 5 November 2017 and any relevant developments within the remit of the Committee that emerge during its term;
- 3. Decides that the special committee shall have 45 members;
- 4. Decides that the term of office of the special committee shall be 12 months, beginning on the date of adoption of this decision.

III. COMMITTEE COMPOSITION

1. Bureau		
Petr JEŽEK (CS)	Chairman	ALDE
Roberts ZĪLE (LV)	1st Vice-Chair	ECR
Eva JOLY (FR)	2nd Vice-Chair	Greens/EFA
Esther DE LANGE (NL)	3rd Vice-Chair	EPP
Ana GOMES (PT)	4th Vice-Chair	S&D

2. Coordinators	
Dariusz ROSATI (PL)	EPP
Tom VANDENKENDELAERE (NL) (Deputy Coordinator)	EPP
Peter SIMON (DE)	S&D
Monica MACOVEI (RO)	ECR
Nils TORVALDS (SV)	ALDE
Sven GIEGOLD (DE)	Greens/EFA
Martin SCHIRDEWAN (DE)	GUE/NGL
David COBURN (EN)	EFDD
Mario BORGHEZIO (IT)	ENF
3. Co-Rapporteurs	
Luděk NIEDERMAYER (CS)	EPP
Jeppe KOFOD (DA)	S&D
4. Shadow-Rapporteurs	
Roberts Zile (LV)	ECR
Wolf KLINZ (DE)	ALDE

Molly SCOTT CATO (EN)	Greens/EFA
Miguel URBÁN CRESPO (ES)	GUE/NGL
	EFDD
Mario BORGHEZIO (IT)	ENF

5. Members of the Committee

The committee is composed of $\underline{45\,\text{Members}}$ distributed by political groups as follows:

EPP	14
S&D	11
ECR	4
ALDE	4
GUE/NGL	4
Greens/EFA	3
EFDD	2
ENF	2
N-A	1

6. List of Full Members and Substitutes

	FULL MEMBERS			SUBSTITUTES	
L	EPP	14/14	L	EPP 14/14	
MT	CASA David		EL	CHRISTOFOROU Lefteris	
DE	FERBER Markus		IT	COMI Lara	
PT	FERNANDES José Manuel		FR	DIDIER Geoffroy	
DE	KARAS Othmar		FR	ENGEL Frank	
NL	DE LANGE Esther		EN	HAYES Brian	
DE	LANGEN Werner		SV	HÖKMARK Gunnar	
LV	LOSKUTOVS Aleksejs		PL	JAZŁOWIECKA Danuta	
RO	MUREŞAN Siegfried		EL	KYRTSOS Georgios	

	FULL MEMBERS		SUBSTITUTES	
CS	NIEDERMAYER Luděk	FR	LAMASSOURE Alain	
PL	ROSATI Dariusz	DE	MANN Thomas	
ES	SALAFRANCA SÁNCHEZ-NEYRA Jos Ignacio	sé ES	MATO Gabriel	
IT	SALINI Massimiliano	MT	METSOLA Roberta	
FR	SANDER Anne	BG	RADEV Emil	
NL	VANDENKENDELAERE Tom	SK	ŠTEFANEC Ivan	
L	S-D 11/	/11	S-D	11/11
FR	DELVAUX Mady	FR	BERÈS Pervenche	
EN	GILL Neena	RO	FRUNZULICĂ Doru Claudian	
PT	GOMES Ana	DE	KOHN Arndt	
IT	GUALTIERI Roberto	DE	KÖSTER Dietmar	
ES	JÁUREGUI ATONDO Ramón	ES	LÓPEZ AGUILAR Juan Fernando	
DA	KOFOD Jeppe	SV	LUDVIGSSON Olle	
RO	PAVEL Emilian	RO	POPA Răzvan	
DE	REGNER Evelyn	MT	SANT Alfred	
FR	ROZIÈRE Virginie	IT	SCHLEIN Elly	
DE	SIMON Peter	HU	SZANYI Tibor	
NL	TANG Paul	IT	VIOTTI Daniele	
L	ECR 4/	4	ECR	1/4
RO	MACOVEI Monica	DE	LUCKE Bernd	
PL	OŻÓG Stanisław			
FI	RUOHONEN-LERNER Pirkko			
LV	ZĪLE Roberts			
L	ALDE 4/	4		
	ALDE 4/	-	ALDE	4/4
CS	JEŽEK Petr	ES	ALDE CALVET CHAMBON Enrique	4/4
CS DE				4/4
	JEŽEK Petr	ES	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique	4/4
DE	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf	ES FR	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry	4/4
DE FR	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis	ES FR NL ES	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline	4/4
DE FR SV	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis TORVALDS Nils	ES FR NL ES	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline PAGAZAURTUNDÚA RUIZ Maite	
DE FR SV L	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis TORVALDS Nils GUE/NGL 4/	ES FR NL ES 4	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline PAGAZAURTUNDÚA RUIZ Maite GUE/NGL	
DE FR SV L EN	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis TORVALDS Nils GUE/NGL 4/ CARTHY Matt	ES FR NL ES 4 EL	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline PAGAZAURTUNDÚA RUIZ Maite GUE/NGL KOULOGLOU Stelios	
DE FR SV L EN PT	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis TORVALDS Nils GUE/NGL 4/ CARTHY Matt MATIAS Marisa	ES FR NL ES 4 EL ES	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline PAGAZAURTUNDÚA RUIZ Maite GUE/NGL KOULOGLOU Stelios LÓPEZ BERMEJO Paloma	
DE FR SV L EN PT FR	JEŽEK Petr KLINZ Wolf MICHEL Louis TORVALDS Nils GUE/NGL 4/ CARTHY Matt MATIAS Marisa MAUREL Emmanuel	ES FR NL ES 4 EL ES ES DE PT	CALVET CHAMBON Enrique CORNILLET Thierry NAGTEGAAL Caroline PAGAZAURTUNDÚA RUIZ Maite GUE/NGL KOULOGLOU Stelios LÓPEZ BERMEJO Paloma SCHIRDEWAN Martin	

	FULL MEMBERS			SUBSTITUTES
FR	JOLY Eva		ES	SOLÉ Jordi
EN	SCOTT CATO Molly		ES	URTASUN Ernest
L	EFDD	2/2		EFDD 2/2
EN	COBURN David		FR	MONOT Bernard
EN	FINCH Raymond		IT	VALLI Marco
L	ENF	2/2		ENF 2/2
IT	BORGHEZIO Mario		FR	LEBRETON Gilles
DE	KAPPEL Barbara		DE	PRETZELL Marcus
L	N-A	1/1		
EL	ZARIANOPOULOS Sotirios			

IV. ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

IV-1. Summary of the Committee's activities

The constitutive meeting took place on 22 March 2018.

The TAX3 Committee held **34 Committee meetings, public hearings and workshops** from March 2018 until end of February 2019.

Including:

- In the context of the TAX3 Report, **3 Committee meetings**:
 - Consideration of draft report, on 27 November 2018
 - > Consideration of amendments, on 29 January 2019
 - > Vote on TAX3 report in Committee, on 27 February 2019
- 10 exchanges of views with:
 - Commissioner Pierre Moscovici, on 27 March 2018, jointly with Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs (ECON)
 - Commissioner Vera Jourova, on 25 June 2018
 - Fabrizia Lapecorella, Chair of the Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation, on 10 October 2018
 - The French Minister for Economy and Finance, Bruno Le Maire, on 23 October 2018, jointly with Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs (ECON)
 - Commissioner Pierre Moscovici, on 27 November 2018
 - Commissioner Vera Jourova, on 10 December 2018
 - > Owen Bonnici, Minister for Justice of Malta, on 11 February 2019
 - > National Parliaments, jointly with ECON, on 18 February 2019
 - Commissioner Margrethe Vestager on 19 February 2019
 - Inés María Bardón Rafael, Spanish State Secretary for the Treasury, on 19 February 2019
- **18 public hearings**, among which:
 - > 16 TAX3 public hearings
 - 1 joint public hearing with the Special Committee on Terrorism (TERR) on "The use of tax frauds –including VAT or carousel fraud- to finance terrorism", on 28 June 2018

- I joint public hearing with the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs (ECON) on the "Cum-Ex scandal: financial crime and the loopholes in the current legal framework", on 26 November 2018
- 3 workshops
 - "Taxation and fight against Money Laundering: Crypto Currencies, Digitalisation and the European Semester" with the Policy Department "A" for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life, on 7 June 2018
 - Presentation of Study on "VAT fraud: economic impact, challenges and policy issues", with the Policy Department "A" for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life, on 10 October 2018
 - Golden Visas, Free Ports, and Shell Companies in the EU: Money Laundering, Tax Evasion And Tax Avoidance Risks" with the European Parliamentary Research Service (EPRS), on 18 October 2018

Coordinators' meetings

- > 22 March 2018 in Brussels
- > 27 March 2018 in Brussels
- > 12 April 2018 in Brussels
- > 15 May 2018 in Brussels
- > 11 June 2018 in Strasbourg
- > 25 June 2018 in Brussels
- > 13 September 2018 in Strasbourg
- > 1st October 2018 in Strasbourg
- > 15 October 2018 in Brussels
- > 27 November 2018 in Brussels
- 14 January 2019 in Strasbourg
- > 19 February 2019 in Brussels

Shadow-Rapporteurs meetings

- > Tuesday, 15 January 2019, in Strasbourg
- > Wednesday, 23 January 2019, in Brussels
- > Tuesday, 12 February 2019, in Strasbourg
- > Wednesday, 13 February 2019, in Strasbourg
- > Tuesday, 19 February 2019, in Brussels
- > Wednesday, 20 February 2019, in Brussels

* * *

The TAX3 Committee held 4 fact-findings missions from July 2018 until February 2019:

- > 16-18 July 2018 Mission to USA (Washington)
- > 30-31 August 2018 Mission to Latvia (Riga)
- > 22-23 November 2018 Mission to Isle of Man
- > 6-8 February 2019 Mission to Estonia and Denmark

PANA TAXE TAX2 TAX3 TOTAL Activities Mandate: 10 Mandate: 8 Mandate: 18 Mandate: 12 months months months months Public hearings 4 5 13 18 40 Exchanges of views (Commission, Council, 9 8 5 10 32 Ministers, National Parliaments...) Discussions on the Report 3 2 4 3 12 3 9 Workshops 1 1 4 Total Committee 16 13 30 34 93 meetings 6 3 8 Missions 4 21 6 16 12 45 Coordinators' meetings 11 Studies 6 4 9 6 25

List of activities of TAX1, TAX2, PANA and TAX3 Committees

Special Committee on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect (TAXE) - From 12 February 2015 to 30 November 2015

Special committee on tax rulings and other measures similar in nature or effect (TAXE2) - From 2 December 2015 to 2 August 2016

Committee of Inquiry to investigate alleged contraventions and maladministration in the application of Union law in relation to money laundering, tax avoidance (PANA) - From 8 June 2016 to 8 December 2017

Special committee on financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance (TAX3) - From 1st March 2018 to 1st March 2019

IV-2. Programme of Committee meetings / Public hearings / Workshops and missions

Date	Topic / objective
Tuesday, 27 March 2018 09.00 - 10.30 Joint Public meeting with ECON	Exchange of views with Commissioner Pierre Moscovici on "Digital taxation and aggressive tax planning in the context of the European <u>Semester</u> "
Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Combatting Money Laundering in the EU Banking System
Tuesday, 15 May 2018 14.30 - 18.00 Public Hearing	The Fight against Harmful Tax Practices within the European Union and abroad
Thursday, 7 June 2018 14.00 - 18.00 Workshop	Taxation and fight against Money Laundering: Crypto Currencies, Digitalisation and the European Semester
Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Lessons Learnt from Paradise Papers
Monday, 25 June 2018 17.00 - 18.30 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Commissioner Vera Jourova
Thursday, 28 June 2018 9.00 - 11.00 TAX3/TERR Joint public hearing	<u>The use of tax frauds - including VAT carousel fraud - to finance</u> <u>terrorism</u>
Thursday, 28 June 2018 11.00 - 13.00 Public hearing	VAT Fraud
Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Mission to Washington D.C.

Date	Topic / objective
Thursday 30 August 2018 To Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Monday, 10 September 2018 20.00 - 22.00 Public hearing	Digital taxation
Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
Monday, 1st October 2018 20.30 - 22.00 Public Hearing	<u>Relations with Switzerland in Tax Matters and the Fight against Money</u> Laundering
Wednesday, 10 October 2018 14.00 - 15.00 Workshop	Presentation of Study on "VAT fraud: economic impact, challenges and policy issues"
Wednesday, 10 October 2018 15.00 - 16.30 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Fabrizia Lapecorella, Chair of the Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation
Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	<u>Golden visas and other national schemes providing tax privileges (free</u> ports, Special Economic Zones)
Thursday, 18 October 2018 14.00 - 17.30 Workshop	Presentation of EPRS Studies (Golden visas, shell companies and free ports)
Tuesday, 23 October 2018 12h00 - 13h00 TAX3/ECON joint meeting	Exchange of views with Bruno Le Maire, French Minister for Economy and Finance
Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Combatting Money laundering in the EU banking sector
Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	<u>Mission to Isle of Man</u>

Date	Topic / objective
Monday, 26 November 2018 19.00 - 20.30 ECON/TAX3 Joint hearing	<u>Cum-Ex scandal: financial crime and the loopholes in the current legal</u> <u>framework</u>
Tuesday, 27 November 2018 15.00 - 16.30 Committee meeting	Consideration of TAX3 draft report
Tuesday, 27 November 2018 16.00 - 17.15 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Commissioner Moscovici
Tuesday, 27 November 2018 17.15 - 18.30 Public hearing	Alleged Aggressive Tax Planning in the EU
Monday, 10 December 2018 19.15 - 21.45 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Commissioner Jourova
Thursday, 24 January 2019 9h00-10h30 Public hearing	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia
Thursday, 24 January 2019 10h30-12h00 Public hearing	Evaluation of the tax gap
Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14h30-17h30 Public hearing	Money laundering cases involving Russian individuals and their effect on the EU
Tuesday, 29 January 2019 17h30-18h30 Committee meeting	Consideration of amendments
Monday, 4 February 2019 18h30-20h00 Public hearing	<u>Deutsche Bank</u>

Date	Topic / objective
Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9h00 - 12h00 Public hearing	Impact of tax evasion and money laundering on local real estate markets, in particular in European cities
Wednesday 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Mission to Estonia and Denmark
Monday, 11 February 2019 19h00-20h00 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Dr. Owen Bonnici, Minister for Justice of Malta
Monday, 11 February 2019 19h00-20h00 Public hearing	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Malta
Monday, 18 February 2019 15h00-17h00 ECON/TAX3 joint meeting	Exchange of views with National Parliaments
Tuesday, 19 February 2019 17h30 - 18h30 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with Commissioner Vestager
Tuesday, 19 February 2019 17h30 - 18h30 Committee meeting	Exchange of views with María Bardón Rafael, Spanish State Secretary for the Treasury
Wednesday, 27 February 2019 9h00-13h00 Committee meeting	<u>Vote on TAX3 Report</u>



Special Committee on Financial Crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance

VI-3. List of speakers (Committee meetings/Public hearings /workshops and missions)

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Pierre Moscovici	Tuesday, 27 March 2018 09.00 - 10.30 Joint exchange of views with ECON	European Commission (EC)	Commissioner responsible for Economic and Financial Affairs, Taxation and Customs	European Union	Digital taxation and aggressive tax planning in the context of the European Semester
Peter Putnins	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Financial and Capital Market Commission (FCMC)	Chairman	Latvia	<u>Combatting Money</u> Laundering in the EU <u>Banking System</u>
Jamal El-Hindi	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) of the U.S Department of Treasury	Acting Director	United States	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>
Marianne Scicliuna	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA)	Director General	Malta	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>

PE627.890v02-00

86/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Kenneth Farrugia	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Financial Intelligence Analysis Unit (FIAU)	Director	Malta	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>
Andre Nõmm	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Financial Supervision Authority (FSA)	Member of the Management Board	Estonia	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>
Piers Haben	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	European Banking Authority (EBA)	Director of Banking Markets, Innovation and Consumers	United Kingdom	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>
Mauro Grande	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Single Resolution Board (SRB)	Director of Strategy and Policy Coordination; Board Member	Belgium	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>Laundering in the EU</u> <u>Banking System</u>
Roberto Ugena	Thursday, 26 April 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	European Central Bank (ECB)	Deputy Director of the General Legal Services	Germany	<u>Combatting Money</u> Laundering in the EU <u>Banking System</u>
Emily O'Reilly	Tuesday, 15 May 2018 14.30 - 18.00 Public Hearing	European Ombudsman	European Ombudsman	European Union	<u>The Fight against</u> <u>Harmful Tax Practices</u> <u>within the European</u> <u>Union and abroad</u>

87/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Valère Moutarlier	Tuesday, 15 May 2018 14.30 - 18.00 Public Hearing	European Commission (EC)	Director of the Dir D - Direct Taxation, Tax Coordination, Economic Analysis and Evaluation, DG of Taxation and Customs Union (TAXUD)	European Union	<u>The Fight against</u> <u>Harmful Tax Practices</u> <u>within the European</u> <u>Union and abroad</u>
Elly Van de Velde	Tuesday, 15 May 2018 14.30 - 18.00 Public Hearing	Hasselt University	Professor of Tax Law	Belgium	<u>The Fight against</u> <u>Harmful Tax Practices</u> <u>within the European</u> <u>Union and abroad</u>
Alex Cobham	Tuesday, 15 May 2018 14.30 - 18.00 Public Hearing	Tax Justice Network (TJN)	Chief Executive (CEO)	United Kingdom	<u>The Fight against</u> <u>Harmful Tax Practices</u> <u>within the European</u> <u>Union and abroad</u>
Robby Houben	Thursday, 7 June 2018 14.00 - 18.00 Workshop	University of Antwerp	Professor of Company and Financial Law	Belgium	<u>Taxation and fight</u> against Money <u>Laundering: Crypto</u> <u>Currencies, Digitalisation</u> and the European <u>Semester</u>
Eli Hadzhieva	Thursday, 7 June 2018 14.00 - 18.00 Workshop	Dialogue for Europe (NGO)	Founder	Belgium	<u>Taxation and fight</u> <u>against Money</u> <u>Laundering: Crypto</u> <u>Currencies, Digitalisation</u> <u>and the European</u> <u>Semester</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
John Vella	Thursday, 7 June 2018 14.00 - 18.00 Workshop	University of Oxford	Associate Professor of Taxation	United Kingdom	<u>Taxation and fight</u> <u>against Money</u> <u>Laundering: Crypto</u> <u>Currencies, Digitalisation</u> <u>and the European</u> <u>Semester</u>
Valère Moutarlier	Thursday, 7 June 2018 14.00 - 18.00 Workshop	European Commission (EC)	Director of the Dir D - Direct Taxation, Tax Coordination, Economic Analysis and Evaluation, DG of Taxation and Customs Union (TAXUD)	European Union	<u>Taxation and fight</u> <u>against Money</u> <u>Laundering: Crypto</u> <u>Currencies, Digitalisation</u> <u>and the European</u> <u>Semester</u>
Dr. Achim Pross	Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	Head of the International Co- operation and Tax Administration division	France	<u>Lessons learnt from the</u> <u>Paradise Papers</u>
Juliette Garside	Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	The Guardian	Financial Correspondent Reporter on Panama Papers for ICIJ	United Kingdom	<u>Lessons learnt from the</u> <u>Paradise Papers</u>
Lucía Rossel Flores	Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	"Combating Fiscal Fraud and Empowering Regulators (COFFERS) Project	Researcher	The Netherlands	<u>Lessons learnt from the</u> <u>Paradise Papers</u>
Irene Yates	Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	McDonald's	Vice-President, Corporate Tax	United States	<u>Lessons learnt from the</u> <u>Paradise Papers</u>

89/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Patricia Johnson	Thursday, 21 June 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Nike Inc.	Vice-President and Chief Tax Officer	United States	<u>Lessons learnt from the</u> <u>Paradise Papers</u>
Věra Jourová	Monday, 25 June 2018 17.00 - 18.30 Committee meeting	European Commission (EC)	Commissioner responsible Justice, Consumers and Gender Equality	European Union	<u>Exchange of views with</u> <u>Commissioner Jourova</u>
Bo Elkjaer	Thursday, 28 June 2018 9.00 - 11.00 TAX3/TERR Joint public hearing	Danish Broadcasting Corporation	Investigative Reporter	Denmark	<u>The use of tax frauds -</u> <u>including VAT carousel</u> <u>fraud - to finance</u> <u>terrorism</u>
Elena Hach	Thursday, 28 June 2018 9.00 - 11.00 TAX3/TERR Joint public hearing	Romanian General Attorney Office in the Board of the FIAU (the National Office for Prevention and Control of Money Laundering)	Representative	Romania	<u>The use of tax frauds -</u> <u>including VAT carousel</u> <u>fraud - to finance</u> <u>terrorism</u>
Pedro Seixas Felicio	Thursday, 28 June 2018 9.00 - 11.00 TAX3/TERR Joint public hearing	European Union Agency for Law Enforcement (EUROPOL)	Head of Unit - Economic Operations and Property Crime	The Netherlands	<u>The use of tax frauds -</u> <u>including VAT carousel</u> <u>fraud - to finance</u> <u>terrorism</u>
Marius-Cristian Frunza	Thursday, 28 June 2018 9.00 - 11.00 TAX3/TERR Joint public hearing	Schwarzthal Kapital	Managing Partner	United Kingdom	<u>The use of tax frauds -</u> <u>including VAT carousel</u> <u>fraud - to finance</u> <u>terrorism</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Neven Mates	Thursday, 28 June 2018 11.00 - 13.00 Public hearing	European Court of Auditors (ECA)	Member	European Union	VAT Fraud
Maite Fabregas Fernandez	Thursday, 28 June 2018 11.00 - 13.00 Public hearing	European Commission (EC)	Director of Dir C — Indirect taxation and tax administration	European Union	<u>VAT Fraud</u>
Alma Olofsdottir	Thursday, 28 June 2018 11.00 - 13.00 Public hearing	EUROFISC	Chair	Sweden	<u>VAT Fraud</u>
Richard Murphy	Thursday, 28 June 2018 11.00 - 13.00 Public hearing	Tax Research UK Fair Tax Mark	Director Technical Director	United Kingdom	<u>VAT Fraud</u>
David O'Sullivan	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	EU Delegation in the United States (U.S)	Ambassador	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

91/154

PE627.890v02-00

ΕN

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Antoine Ripoll	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	European Parliament Liaison Office in Washington	Director	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Gary Kalman	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Financial Accountability & Global Transparency (FACT) Coalition	Executive Director	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Lilian Faulhaber	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Georgetown University	Professor of Law	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Eric Toder	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Urban Institute	Institute Fellow and Coordinator, Tax Policy Center	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Jamal El-Hindi	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) of the U.S Department of Treasury	Acting Director	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Marina Walker Guevara	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Consortium of Investigative Journalism (ICIJ)	Deputy Director	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Will Fitzgibbon	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Consortium of Investigative Journalism (ICIJ)	Reporter	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Nadim Kyriakos-Saad	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Assistant General Counsel	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Michael Keen	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Deputy Director of the Fiscal Affairs Department	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Gerd Schwartz	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Deputy Director in the Institute for Capacity Development (ICD)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Victoria J. Perry	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Assistant Director	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Ruud de Mooij	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF) Fiscal Affairs Department	Division Chief at the Tax Policy Division	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

93/154

PE627.890v02-00

ΕN

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Alexander Klemm	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Western Hemisphere Department on Mexico at the International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Senior Economist	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
David Amaglobeli	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	International Monetary Fund (IMF)	Advisor to the Director	United States/ Georgia	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Steve Pearce	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Congress	Represents New Mexico Second District	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Peter Roskam	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Congress	Represents Illinois Sixth District	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Barbara Angus	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The Committee on Ways and Means of the United States House of Representatives	Chief Tax Council	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Jane Gravelle	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Congressional Research Service, United States Congress	Senior Specialist in Economic Policy	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Phillip Bullock	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc.	Senior Director of Taxes	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Julia MacRae	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc.	Tax director for Europe, Middle East and Africa	Ireland	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Claire Thwaites	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc.	Senior Director of European government affairs	United Kingdom	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Noreen Krall	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc.	Vice President and Chief Litigation Counsel	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Josh Rosenstock	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc.	Director for Communications	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Christian Riis-Madsen	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	Apple Inc. O'Melveny	Legal Partner	Belgium	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

95/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Joshua Kirschenbaum	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The German Marshall Fund of the United States	Senior Fellow at Alliance for Securing Democracy	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Richard E. Zuckerman	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Travis A. Greaves	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
David A. Hubbert	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Acting Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Stuart M. Goldberg	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Acting Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Eileen M. Shatz	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Senior Counsellor to the Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

PE627.890v02-00

96/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Charles M. Edgar Jr.	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Trial Attorney	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Hilarie E. Snyder	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Nathaniel S. Pollock	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Jacob E. Christensen	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Thomas J. Sawyer	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Senior Counsel for International Tax Matters	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Nanette L. Davis	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Assistant Chief at the Northern Criminal Enforcement Section	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

97/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Mark F. Daly	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Senior Litigation Counsel	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Kimberle E. Dodd	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	The United States Department of Justice Tax Division	Attorney	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Chip Harter	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of the Treasury	Deputy Assistant Secretary at the International Tax Affairs	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Dan Winnick	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of the Treasury	Attorney Advisor at the Office of the International Tax Counsel	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Kamela Nelan	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of the Treasury	Attorney Advisory, Office of the International Tax Counsel II: Terrorism and Financial Intelligence	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Sarah Runge	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of the Treasury	Director of the Office of Strategic Policy for Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

PE627.890v02-00

98/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Emery Kobor	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of Treasury	Deputy Director of Strategic Planning at the Office of Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Scott Rembrandt	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of Treasury	Assistant Director for Strategic Policy at the Office of Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Young Lee	Monday, 16 July 2018 To Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of Treasury	Senior Policy Advisor at the Office of Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Allison LeBlanc	Monday, 16 July 2018 to Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of Treasury	Policy Advisor at the Office of Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
Crina Ebanks	Monday, 16 July 2018 to Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	United States Department of Treasury	Policy Advisor at the Office of Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC)	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>
James Jim A. Brumby	Monday, 16 July 2018 to Wednesday 18 July Committee mission	World Bank Group	Director of the Governance Global Practice	United States	<u>Mission to Washington</u> <u>D.C</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Ansis Zeltins	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Freeport of Riga	Chief Executive Officer (CEO)	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Edgars Suna	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Freeport of Riga	Deputy CEO for Port Development Matters	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Lauris Krivans	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Freeport of Riga	Head of the Customs Clearance Unit and Customs Process Management	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Maris Purins	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Freeport of Riga	Deputy Head of Customs Control Points of Riga Customs Control Points' Division of the National Customs Board	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Sanda Liepina	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Finance Latvia Association	Chairman of the Management Board	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Janis Brazovskis	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Finance Latvia Association	Member of the Management Board	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>

PE627.890v02-00

100/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Sanita Jemberga	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Re: Baltica	Journalist	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Juris Paiders	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Neatkariga Rita Avize (nra.lv)	Journalist	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Liene Gatere	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Transparency International in Latvia	Interim Executive Director	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Guna Paidere	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	The Register of Enterprises	Head Notary Public	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Laima Letina	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	The Register of Enterprises	Deputy Head of the Legal Department	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Peters Putnins	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Financial and Capital Market Commission (FCMC)	Chairman	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>

101/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Zoja Razmusa	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Central Bank of Latvia	Deputy Governor	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Ilze Znotina	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Office for Prevention of Laundering of Proceeds Derived from Criminal Activity (FIU Latvia)	Head	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Ainars Latkovskis	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Latvian Parliament Defence, Internal Affairs and Corruption Prevention Committee	Chairman	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Imants Paradnieks	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Latvian Parliament Budget and Finance Committee	Deputy Chairman	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Ints Dalderis	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Latvian Parliament Budget and Finance Committee	Secretary	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Dana Reizniece-Ozola	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	Government of Republic of Latvia	Minister of Finance	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>

PE627.890v02-00

102/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Dace Pelēkā	Thursday 30 August to Friday, 31 August 2018 Committee mission	State Revenue Service	Acting Director General	Latvia	<u>Mission to Riga (Latvia)</u>
Eric Robert	Monday, 10 September 2018 20.00 - 22.00 Public hearing	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	Tax Policy Advisor	France	Digital taxation
Eduard Folch Sogas	Monday, 10 September 2018 20.00 - 22.00 Public hearing	European Commission (EC) Directorate General for Taxation and Customs Union (TAXUD)	Policy Officer - VAT Policy and Legislation	European Union	Digital taxation
Bart Van Raaij	Monday, 10 September 2018 20.00 - 22.00 Public hearing	European Commission (EC) Directorate General for Taxation and Customs Union (TAXUD)	Policy Officer	European Union	Digital taxation
Dame Margaret Hodge	Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	Parliament of the United Kingdom	Member (Labour Party)	United Kingdom	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
Tove M. Ryding	Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Network on Debt and Development (Eurodad)	Policy and Advocacy Manager- Tax Justice	Belgium	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance

103/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Sandra Gallina	Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Commission (EC)	Deputy Director General at the DG Trade	European Union	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
Hannah Brejnholt Tranberg	Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	ActionAid Denmark	Tax Policy and Programme Management	Denmark	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
Eric Mensah	Wednesday, 26 September 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	United Nations (UN) Committee of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters	Coordinator of the Subcommittee	United States	The third country dimension in the Fight against Tax crimes, Tax Evasion and Tax Avoidance
Dieter Kischel	Monday, 1st October 2018 20.30 - 22.00 Public Hearing	European Commission (EC) Directorate General for Taxation and Customs Union (TAXUD)	Head of Sector of Harmful Tax Practices, State Aids and Transfer Pricing	European Union	<u>Relations with</u> <u>Switzerland in Tax</u> <u>Matters and the Fight</u> <u>against Money</u> <u>Laundering</u>
Rudolf Elmer	Monday, 1st October 2018 20.30 - 22.00 Public Hearing	Julius Bar	Whistle-blower	Switzerland	Relations with Switzerland in Tax Matters and the Fight against Money Laundering

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Andreas Frank	Monday, 1st October 2018 20.30 - 22.00 Public Hearing	Bank	Former banker and money laundering expert	Germany	<u>Relations with</u> <u>Switzerland in Tax</u> <u>Matters and the Fight</u> <u>against Money</u> <u>Laundering</u>
Dr Marie Lamensch	Wednesday, 10 October 2018 14.00 - 15.00 Committee meeting	Vrije University Brussels	Research Professor in International and European Taxation	Belgium	Presentation of Study on <u>"VAT fraud: economic</u> <u>impact, challenges and</u> <u>policy issues"</u>
Fabrizia Lapecorella	Wednesday, 10 October 2018 15.00 - 16.30 Committee meeting	Council of the European Union Code of Conduct Group	Chair	European Union	<u>Exchange of views with</u> <u>Ms Lapecorella</u>
Philip Kerfs	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	OECD Centre for Tax Policy and Administration	Head of Unit	France	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>
Rachel Owens	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	Global Witness	Head of EU Advocacy	Belgium	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Despina Vassiliadou	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Commission DG JUST - Dir C Financial Crime	Deputy Head of Unit	European Union	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>
Monika Mosshammer	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Commission DG JUST - Dir D Union Citizenship Rights and Free Movement	Deputy Head of Unit	European Union	Golden visas and other national schemes providing tax privileges (free ports, Special Economic Zones)
Sergio Piazzardi	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Commission DG DEVCO - Dir C Public Private Partnership, Investment, Blending and Private Sector	Policy Officer	European Union	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>
Charles Carr	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	C and F Partners	Co- Founder Financial Crime Expert	Italy	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>
Fabien Grasser	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	Le Quotidien du Luxemburg	Journalist	Luxembourg	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Philip Kermode	Monday, 15 October 2018 15.00 - 18.30 Public hearing	European Commission DG TAXUD - Dir A Customs	Director	European Union	<u>Golden visas and other</u> <u>national schemes</u> <u>providing tax privileges</u> <u>(free ports, Special</u> <u>Economic Zones)</u>
Amandine Scherrer	Thursday, 18 October 2018 14.00 - 17.30 Public hearing	European Parliament Research Service (EPRS)	Policy Analyst	European Union	Presentation of EPRS Studies (Golden visas, shell companies and free ports)
Ron Korver	Thursday, 18 October 2018 14.00 - 17.30 Public hearing	European Parliament Research Service (EPRS)	Policy Analyst	European Union	Presentation of EPRS Studies (Golden visas, shell companies and free ports)
Elodie Thirion	Thursday, 18 October 2018 14.00 - 17.30 Public hearing	European Parliament Research Service (EPRS)	Policy Analyst	European Union	Presentation of EPRS Studies (Golden visas, shell companies and free ports)
Ivana Kiendl Krišto	Thursday, 18 October 2018 14.00 - 17.30 Public hearing	European Parliament Research Service (EPRS)	Policy Analyst	European Union	Presentation of EPRS Studies (Golden visas, shell companies and free ports)
Bruno Le Maire	Tuesday, 23 October 2018 12h00 - 13h00 TAX3/ECON joint meeting	French Government	Minister of Economy and Finance	France	Exchange of views with Bruno Le Maire, French Minister for Economy and Finance

107/154

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Diederik van Wassenaer	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	ING Bank NV - ING Groep N.V.	Global Head of Regulatory and International Affairs	The Netherlands	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU <u>banking sector</u>
Howard Wilkinson	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Danske Bank	Whistle-blower	United Kingdom	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>laundering in the EU</u> <u>banking sector</u>
Stephen M. Kohn	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Kohn, Kohn & Colapinto LLP	Attorney Expert in whistleblowing	United States	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU <u>banking sector</u>
Jesper Nielsen	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Danske Bank	Interim CEO	Denmark	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU <u>banking sector</u>
Åsa Arffman	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	Swedish Bankers' Association	Chief Legal Counsel	Sweden	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU banking sector"
Adam Farkas	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	European Banking Authority (EBA)	Executive Director	United Kingdom	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU <u>banking sector</u>
Martin Merlin	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	European Commission (EC)	Director - DG FISMA Dir D	European Union	<u>Combatting Money</u> <u>laundering in the EU</u> <u>banking sector</u>

PE627.890v02-00

108/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Alexandra Jour- Schroeder	Wednesday, 21 November 2018 9.00 - 12.30 Public hearing	European Commission (EC)	Acting Deputy Director- General DG JUST - Dir B and E	European Union	<u>Combatting Money</u> laundering in the EU banking sector
Paul Beckett	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	MannBenham Advocates Limited	Senior Counsel	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to Isle of Man</u>
Howard Quayle	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Minister	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to Isle of Man</u>
Alfred Louis Cannan	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Minister for the Treasury	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Laurence Skelly	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Minister for Enterprise	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Will Greenhow	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Secretary	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>

109/154

PE627.890v02-00

ΕN

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Walter Wannenburgh	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	HM Solicitor General	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Sheila Lowe	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Financial Officer	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Sandra Skuszka	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	The Collector of Customs and Excise	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Paul Martin	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Deputy Assessor of Income Tax	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Michael Crowe	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Executive of the Finance Agency	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Della Fletcher	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Executive Director, Crown & External Relations	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Michael Vercnocke	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Head of European Affairs	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
John Quinn	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Parliament of the Isle of Man (Tynwald)	Attorney General	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Gary Roberts	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Constable	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Lindsey Bermingham	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Director of Financial Intelligence Unit	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Karen Ramsay	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Head of AML/CFT Policy	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Lillian Boyle	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (IOMFSA)	Chair	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Tom Maher	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (IOMFSA)	General Counsel and Head of Corporate Governance	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Ashley Whyte	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (IOMFSA)	Manager - AML	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Roxanne Oldham	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	Isle of Man Financial Services Authority (IOMFSA)	Head of Policy and Authorisations Division	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Ron Spencer	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chairman - IOM Gambling Supervision Commission	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Steve Brennan	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Chief Executive - IOM Gambling Supervision Commission	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Mark Rutherford	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Government of the Isle of Man	Director of Policy and Legislation - IOM Gambling Supervision Commission	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Stephen Rodan	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	The Parliament of the Isle of Man (Tynwald)	President	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Chris Till	Thursday, 22 November to Friday, 23 November Committee mission	Isle of Man Bankers Association (IOMBA)	President	Isle of Man	<u>Mission to the Isle of</u> <u>Man</u>
Gerhard Schick	Monday, 26 November 2018 19.00 - 20.30 Joint Public hearing (ECON)	German Bundestag	Member and co- rapporteur of the former Bundestag Inquiry committee on the Cum Ex scandal	Germany	<u>"Cum -Ex scandal:</u> financial crime and the loopholes in the current legal framework"
Christoph Spengel	Monday, 26 November 2018 19.00 - 20.30 Joint Public hearing (ECON)	ZEW University of Manheim	Research Associate The Chair of Business Administration and Taxation II	Germany	<u>"Cum -Ex scandal:</u> financial crime and the loopholes in the current legal framework"
Oliver Schröm	Monday, 26 November 2018 19.00 - 20.30 Joint Public hearing (ECON)	CORRECTIV	Editor - in- chief Founder and Head of the "CumEx Files" Project	Germany	<u>"Cum -Ex scandal:</u> financial crime and the loopholes in the current legal framework"
Pierre Moscovici	Tuesday, 27 November 2018 16.00 - 17.15 Committee meeting	European Commission (EC)	Commissioner responsible for Economic and Financial Affairs, Taxation and Customs	European Union	<u>Exchange of views with</u> <u>Commissioner Moscovici</u>

113/154

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Adam Cohen	Tuesday, 27 November 2018 17.15 - 18.30 Public hearing	Google	Head of Economic Policy	United States	<u>Alleged Aggressive Tax</u> <u>Planning in the EU</u>
Alan Lee	Tuesday, 27 November 2018 17.15 - 18.30 Public hearing	Facebook	Tax Public Policy Manager	United States	<u>Alleged Aggressive Tax</u> <u>Planning in the EU</u>
Sophie Maddaloni	Tuesday, 27 November 2018 17.15 - 18.30 Public hearing	Kering Group	Tax Director	France	<u>Alleged Aggressive Tax</u> <u>Planning in the EU</u>
Věra Jourová	Monday, 10 December 2018 19.30 - 21.45 Committee meeting	European Commission (EC)	Commissioner responsible Justice, Consumers and Gender Equality	European Union	Exchange of views with Commissioner Jourova
Peter Bárdy	Thursday, 24 January 2019 9.00 - 10.30 Public hearing	Aktuality.sk	Journalist Editor-in-Chief	Slovakia	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia
Ladislav Hanniker	Thursday, 24 January 2019 9.00 - 10.30 Public hearing	Slovak Financial Administration	General Director of the Fight Againt Fraud and Risk Analysis Section	Slovakia	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia
Lubomir Provaznik	Thursday, 24 January 2019 9.00 - 10.30 Public hearing	Slovak Financial Administration	Director of the Criminal Office	Slovakia	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia

PE627.890v02-00

114/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Maros Zilinka	Thursday, 24 January 2019 9.00 - 10.30 Public hearing	Slovakian General Prosecutor's Office	Head of the Economic Criminality Department	Slovakia	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia
Radovan Kajaba	Thursday, 24 January 2019 9.00 - 10.30 Public hearing	Slovakian General Prosecutor's Office	Head of the Criminal Department	Slovakia	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Slovakia
Gaetan Nicodeme	Thursday, 24 January 2019 10.30 - 12.00 Public hearing	European Commission (EC)	Head of Unit - DG TAXUD, Dir D, Economic Analysis, Evaluation and Impact Assessment Support	European Union	<u>Evaluation of the Tax</u> <u>Gap</u>
Annette Alstadsæter	Thursday, 24 January 2019 10.30 - 12.00 Public hearing	Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU)	Proffessor at the School of Economics and Business	Norway	<u>Evaluation of the Tax</u> <u>Gap</u>
Petr Janský	Thursday, 24 January 2019 10.30 - 12.00 Public hearing	Charles University	Associate Proffessor at the Faculty of Social Sciences, Institute of Economic Studies	Czech Republic	<u>Evaluation of the Tax</u> <u>Gap</u>
Anders Åslund	Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14.30 - 17.30 Public hearing	Atlantic Council	Residemt Senior Fellow	Sweden	<u>Money laundering cases</u> involving Russian individuals and their effect on the EU

115/154

PE627.890v02-00

ΕN

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation	Function	Country	Link
Joshua Kirschenbaum	Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14.30 - 17.30 Public hearing	The German Marshall Fund of the United States	Senior Fellow at Alliance for Securing Democracy	United States	<u>Money laundering cases</u> <u>involving Russian</u> <u>individuals and their</u> <u>effect on the EU</u>
Richard Brooks	Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14.30 - 17.30 Public hearing	The Guardian, Private Eye	Journalist	United Kingdom	<u>Money laundering cases</u> <u>involving Russian</u> <u>individuals and their</u> <u>effect on the EU</u>
Bill Browder	Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14.30 - 17.30 Public hearing	Hermitage Capital Management	CEO and Founder	United Kingdom USA	<u>Money laundering cases</u> <u>involving Russian</u> <u>individuals and their</u> <u>effect on the EU</u>
Günter Schirmer	Tuesday, 29 January 2019 14.30 - 17.30 Public hearing	Council of Europe	Head of the Legal Affairs and Human Rights Secretariat	European Union	<u>Money laundering cases</u> <u>involving Russian</u> <u>individuals and their</u> <u>effect on the EU</u>
Stephan Wilken	Monday, 4 February 2019 18.30-20.00 Public hearing	Deutsche Bank	Head of Anti-Financial Crime and Group Anti- Money Laundering Officer	Germany	<u>Public Hearing on</u> Deutsche Bank
Jens Fürhoff	Monday, 4 February 2019 18.30-20.00 Public hearing	Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin)	Director-General of the Directorate for the Prevention of Money Laundering	Germany	<u>Public Hearing on</u> <u>Deutsche Bank</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Janet Sanz	Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9.00 - 12.00 Public hearing	Barcelona Mayor's Office City Council	Vice-Mayor Member in charge of Real Estate, Environment and Mobility	Spain	The impact of tax evasion and money laundering on local real estate markets, in particular in European <u>cities</u>
Ilse Verker	Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9.00 - 12.00 Public hearing	City Council of Amsterdam	Head of Unit at the Department of Public Order and Security, responsible for the Programme on Illegal Money Flows and Undermining	Netherlands	<u>The impact of tax</u> evasion and money <u>laundering on local real</u> <u>estate markets, in</u> <u>particular in European</u> <u>cities</u>
Christoph Trautvetter	Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9.00 - 12.00 Public hearing	Netzwerk Steuergerechtigkeit			The impact of tax evasion and money laundering on local real estate markets, in particular in European <u>cities</u>
Nilmesh Baruah	Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9.00 - 12.00 Public hearing	OECD CTPA's Senior Tax and Crime Advisor		European Union	<u>The impact of tax</u> <u>evasion and money</u> <u>laundering on local real</u> <u>estate markets, in</u> <u>particular in European</u> <u>cities</u>

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Max Heywood	Tuesday, 5 February 2019 9.00 - 12.00 Public hearing	Transparency International Global Advocacy Coordinator		European Union	<u>The impact of tax</u> <u>evasion and money</u> <u>laundering on local real</u> <u>estate markets, in</u> <u>particular in European</u> <u>cities</u>
Sulev Vedler	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Ekspress Journalist		Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> Denmark
Harry Tuul	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	EESTI Meedia	Journalist	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> Denmark
Frederik Bjørn	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank	Executive Vice President, Head of International, Governance & Secretariat	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Ramūnas Bičiulaitis	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank			<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Darius Jasinskis	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank	Danske Bank Head of Estonia Branch		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>

PE627.890v02-00

118/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Kim Larsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank Head of Communication and Relations		Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Kilvar Kessler	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Financial Supervision Authority Finantsinspektsioon	Chairman of the Board Estonia		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Andre Nõmm	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Financial Supervision Authority Finantsinspektsioon	Member of the Estonia Management Board		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Matis Mäeker	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Financial Supervision Authority Finantsinspektsioon	Head of AML/CFT, PSP Supervision Estonia Department		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Livia Vosman	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Financial Supervision Authority Finantsinspektsioon	Head of Communication Estonia		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Lavly Perling	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Office of the Prosecutor General	General Proscutor	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Marek Vahing	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Office of the Prosecutor General	State Prosecutor	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>

119/154

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Madis Reimand	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Financial Head Intelligence Unit		Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Aivar Alavere	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Central Criminal Police	al Police Head		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Toomas Tõniste	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Ministry of Finance	Minister	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Märten Ross	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Ministry of Finance	Deputy Secretary General for Financial Policy and External Relations	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Dmitri Jegorov	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Ministry of Finance	Deputy Secretary General on Taxation	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Toomas Vapper	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Council of Europe Development Bank (CEB)	Member of the Board of Auditors	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Andres Kuningas	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Estonian Ministry of Finance	Head of EU and International Affairs Department	Estonia	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>

PE627.890v02-00

120/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Morten Niels Jakobsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danish Prosecution Office	sh Prosecution Office State Prosecutor for Serious Economic and International Crime		<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Niels Fastrup	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	DR (Danish Broadcasting Television)	Jounralist	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> Denmark
Natascha Linn Felix	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Transparency International Denmark	Chair of the Board	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Helle Munk Ravnborg	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Action Aid Denmark	Chairwoman	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Michael Rasmussen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Bankers' Association (FIDA) Nykredit Realkredit A/S	Chairman Group Managing Director	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Ulrik Nødgaard	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Finance Denmark	CEO	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Sinne Backs Conan	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Finance Denmark	Executive Director European Affairs	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>

121/154

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Jesper Nielsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank Interim CEO		Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Ronan Peter Coyle	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank	Head of Business Unit Compliance	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Kim Larsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danske Bank	Head of Communication and Relations	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Morten Bødskov	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Parliament	Chairman of The Business, Growth and Export Committee	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Lea Wermelin	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Parliament	Chairwoman of The Fiscal Affairs Committee	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Peter Hummelgaard Thomsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Parliament	Member of The Business, Growth and Export Committee and The Fiscal Affairs Committee	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Rune Lund	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Parliament	Member of The Business, Growth and Export Committee and The Fiscal Affairs Committee	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>

PE627.890v02-00

122/154

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Lisbeth Bech Poulsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Member of The Business, Growth and Export Committee and The Fiscal Affairs Committee		Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Jesper Berg	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danish Financial Supervisory Authority (FSA)	Director General	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> Denmark
Kristian Vie Madsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danish Financial Supervisory Authority (FSA)	Deputy Director General	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Stig Nielsen	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	Danish Financial Supervisory Authority (FSA)	Director, Division for Anti Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Rasmus Jarlov	Wednesday, 6 February to Friday 8 February 2019 Committee mission	The Danish Parliament	Minister of Industry, Business and Financial Affairs	Denmark	<u>Mission to Estonia and</u> <u>Denmark</u>
Owen Bonnici	Monday, 11 February, 2019 19.00-20.00 Committee meeting	Maltese Ministry of Justice	Minister	Malta	<u>Alleged financial crimes,</u> <u>tax evasion and tax</u> <u>avoidance in Malta</u>
Stephen Grey	Monday, 11 February, 2019 20.00-21.00 Public hearing	Reuters	Journalist Reporter	United Kingdom	<u>Alleged financial crimes,</u> tax evasion and tax avoidance in Malta

123/154

PE627.890v02-00

Name	Date Meeting/Delegation	Organisation Function		Country	Link
Matthew Caruana Galizia	Monday, 11 February, 2019 19.00-21.00 Public hearing	International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ)	Journalist and Software Engineer	Malta	Alleged financial crimes, tax evasion and tax avoidance in Malta
Margrethe Vestager	Tuesday, 19 February 2019 17.30 - 18.30 Committee meeting	European Commission (EC)	Commissioner responsible for Competition	European Union	Exchange of views with Commissioner Vestager
María Bardón Rafael	Tuesday, 19 February 2019 18.30 - 19.30 Committee meeting	Ministry of the Treasury	State Secretary	Spain	Exchange of views with María Bardón Rafael, Spanish State Secretary for the Treasury

PE627.890v02-00

124/154

IV-4. State of play on "Who refused to participate in hearing/delegation and why?"

TAX3 Public Hearings

Public Hearing on "Combat of Money Laundering in the EU Banking system" of 26 April 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Board of ABLV Bank	Invitation sent by email	Declined by email	<i>Mr.</i> Bernis will not be able to attend the hearing on "Combat of Money- Laundering in the EU banking system" on April 26. He did attempt to rearrange his schedule for the date, however, that particular week is proving to be extremely busy as it is the one where everything has to be prepared and finalised to hand over the Bank to the liquidators, therefore, Mr. Bernis is required to be here and attend to these matters.
	Several	No	
Pilatus Bank	invitations sent by	answer	
	email	received	

Public hearing on "The fight against harmful tax practices within the European Union and abroad" of 15 May 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Minister Vladislav Goranov, Bulgarian Finance Minister and Chair of the ECOFIN Council	Invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to his reply

Public hearing on "Lessons learnt from the Paradise Papers" of 21 June 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Appleby	Invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to his reply
Baker McKenzie	Invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to his reply

2nd invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to his reply
----------------------------------	----------	-------------------

TAX3 Meeting of 25 June 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Minister Vladislav Goranov, Bulgarian Finance Minister and Chair of the ECOFIN Council	Invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to his reply
Monika Panayotova Deputy Minister for the Bulgarian Presidency of the Council of the EU	Invitation sent by letter	Declined	Link to her reply

Public hearing on "Golden visas and other national schemes providing tax privileges (free ports, Special Economic Zones)" on 15 October 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Director of the Portuguese Immigration and Borders Service	Invitation sent by Letter	Declined by email	<i>Unfortunately the National Director of the Portuguese Immigration and Borders Service, Carlos Matos Moreira, cannot attend this meeting.</i>
CEO of « Le Freeport Luxembourg »	Invitation sent by Letter	Declined	Link to his reply

Mission to the Isle of Man - 22/23 November 2018

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Appleby	Invitation sent by Letter	Declined	Link to his reply

Public hearing on "Money laundering cases involving Russian individuals and their effect on the EU"- 29 January 2019

Person/Institution	Status	Answer	Reason
Andreas Gross Former representative of the Council of Europe	Invitation sent by Letter	Declined By email	<i>Mr Gross did not accept the financial conditions of the reimbursement offered by the European Parliament, which would only cover their expenses.</i>
Executive Director of Europol's Financial Intelligence Group	Invitation sent by letter	Declined by email	Europol runs an Analysis Project (AP) on Eastern European Organised Crime (EEOC) which aims at preventing and combating the forms of criminality within Europol's. Through the AP EEOC at Europol, ongoing investigations of EU Member States and associated operational cooperation partners are supported, by sharing sensitive, as well as classified operational information. The Europol Regulation, in Article 19, () does not allow for sensitive or classified operational information to be shared with the general public. Europol is not in a position to publicly report about the supported cases by AP EEOC and any related suspected individuals

IV-5. Fact-finding missions of the TAX3 Committee

IV-5.1 Mission to Washington D.C. - 16 - 18 July 2018

1. PROGRAMME

Monday, 16 July 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Topics
08:30-10:00	Briefing by David O'Sullivan, EU Ambassador in Washington, and Antoine Ripoll, Head of the EP Liaison Office	 Briefing on EU and US matters Developments in the field of financial market regulations and taxation
10:15-11:30	Meeting with Gary Kalman, Executive Director of the FACT Coalition	 Briefing on current US politics involving tax, money laundering, beneficial ownership and related issues; Different approaches in the fight vs money laundering; Corporate ownership reporting rules;
11:45-12:45	Meeting with US tax experts Lilian Faulhaber, Associate Professor of Law, Georgetown Law School Eric Toder, Institute Fellow and Co- director, Tax Policy Center	 Digital Taxation OECD BEPS implementation in the US Public country-by-country reporting of corporate income tax by companies FATCA US Tax Reform
14:30-15:30	Meeting withJamal El- Hindi, FinCEN Deputy Director	 EU-US cooperation against money laundering

		 risk and challenges of crypto- currencies connected to money laundering Financial supervision powers of the institution: investigative powers, punitive powers, extraterritorial jurisdiction, etc. EU-US cooperation within FATF
16:00-17:15	Meeting with ICIJ journalists Marina Walker, ICIJ deputy director Will Fitzgibbon, ICIJ Reporter	 Works done by ICIJ on Panama and Paradise Papers Cooperation TAX3- journalists US reaction to Panama and Paradise Papers reaction and eventual differences with EU Anonymised cases
18:00	Transatlantic Week Oper Hosted by David O'SULLIVA	hing Reception N, EU Ambassador to the US

* * *

Tuesday, 17 July 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Topics
8:30-9:45	Meetings with International Monetary Fund (IMF)	
	Nadim Kyriakos-Saad	Legal Department:
		AML aspects of cryptocurrencies
	Michael Keen, Deputy Director Gerd Schwartz, Deputy Director Victoria Perry, Assistant Director Ruud de Mooij, Division Chief, Tax Policy Division	 Fiscal Affairs Department : Fight against tax evasion and tax avoidance at global level Spillovers in International Corporate Taxation Digital taxation

	Alexander Klemm, Deputy Division Chief, Tax Policy Division David Amaglobeli, Advisor to the Director	
10:20 - 10:45	Rep. Steve Pearce (R-NM), House Financial Services Committee, Chairman of the Subcommittee on Terrorism and Illicit Finance	 US Tax Reform Digital Taxation: reaction of Congress public country-by-country reporting of corporate income tax by companies: reaction of Congress Fight against Money Laundering within the US: corporate ownership reporting rules; shell companies US reaction to EU and OECD lists of tax havens, sanctions against tax havens, negotiating approach towards countries with potential harmful tax systems, cooperation against proliferation of tax havens Fight against tax evasion FATCA: reciprocity in exchange of information?
11:00 - 11:30	Rep. Peter Roskam (R-IL), House Ways and Means Committee, Subcommittee on Tax Policy	 US Tax Reform Digital Taxation: reaction of Congress public country-by-country reporting of corporate income tax by companies: reaction of Congress Fight against Money Laundering within the US: corporate ownership reporting rules; shell companies US reaction to EU and OECD lists of tax havens, sanctions against tax havens, negotiating approach towards countries with potential harmful tax systems, cooperation against proliferation of tax havens Fight against tax evasion FATCA: reciprocity in exchange of information?

11:45-12:30	House Ways and Means Committee Barbara Angus, Chief Tax Counsel	 US Tax Reform Digital Taxation: reaction of Congress public country-by-country reporting of corporate income tax
		 by companies: reaction of Congress Fight against Money Laundering within the US: corporate ownership reporting rules; shell companies US reaction to EU and OECD lists of tax havens, sanctions against tax havens, negotiating approach towards countries with potential harmful tax systems, cooperation against proliferation of tax havens Fight against tax evasion FATCA: reciprocity in exchange of information?
14:00-15:30	Meeting with Congressional Research Service (CRS) Jane Gravelle, Government and Finance Division	 US Tax Reform Digital Taxation: reaction of Congress public country-by-country reporting of corporate income tax by companies: reaction of Congress Fight against Money Laundering within the US: corporate ownership reporting rules; shell companies US reaction to EU and OECD lists of tax havens, sanctions against tax havens, negotiating approach towards countries with potential harmful tax systems, cooperation against proliferation of tax havens Fight against tax evasion FATCA: reciprocity in exchange of information?
16:15 - 17:30	Meeting with Apple Phil Bullock, Global Head of Tax (also attending: Julia McRae, Director of Tax, EMEIA) Claire Thwaites, Senior Director Government Affairs, Europe & Russia Noreen Krall, Legal Josh Rosenstock, Director of Communications	 Digital taxation Public Country - by-country reporting on corporate income tax impact of their tax planning in EU

Christian Riis-Madsen, Legal)		
Meeting with Joshua Kirschenbaum, senior fellow at German Marshall Fund's Alliance for Securing Democracy	•	Proposals for the discussion of a central EU AML authority Covering banks vs non-banks and eurozone vs non-eurozone countries Recent developments in Cyprus, Estonia, Latvia, and Malta Financial intelligence information sharing between the U.S. and the EU

* * *

Wednesday, 18 July 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Topics
08:30-09:30	Meeting with Richard E. Zuckerman, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, US Department of Justice, TAX Division (also attending from the US Dept. of Justice: Travis A. Greaves, Deputy Assistant Attorney General; David A. Hubbert, Deputy Assistant Attorney General; Stuart M. Goldberg, Senior Counselor to the Assistant Attorney General; Eileen M. Shatz, Senior Counselor to the Assistant Attorney General; Charles M. Edgar, Jr., Counsel to the Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General; Hilarie E. Snyder, Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General; Nathaniel S. Pollock, Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General; Jacob E. Christensen, Counsel to the Deputy Assistant Attorney General; Thomas J. Sawyer, Senior Litigation Counsel; Nanette L. Davis, Senior Litigation Counsel; Mark F. Daly, Senior Litigation Counsel; Kimberle E. Dodd, Attorney)	 OECD BEPS implementation and role of the tax division in its enforcement in the US US Tax Reform with regard to criminal enforcement Different approaches in the fight vs money laundering; corporate ownership reporting rules; shell companies Fight against tax evasion and tax avoidance and global cooperation, especially with the EU Cooperation with US Treasury and distribution of competences

10:15-11:30	US Department of the Treasury I. Tax Policy: Chip Harter, Deputy Assistant Secretary (International Tax Affairs) Dan Winnick, Attorney Advisory, Office of the International Tax Counsel Kamela Nelan, Attorney Advisory, Office of the International Tax Counsel II. Terrorism and Financial Intelligence: Sarah Runge, Director for the Office of Strategic Policy (OSP) – Terrorist Financing and Financial Crimes (TFFC) (also attending: Emery Kobor, Deputy Director for OSP/TFFC Scott Rembrandt, Associate Director for OSP/TFFC Young Lee, Policy Advisor – OSP/TFFC Allison LeBlanc, Policy Advisor – OSP/TFFC	 US Tax Reform OECD works in the field of taxation and particularly BEPS Digital taxation US reaction to EU and OECD lists of tax havens, sanctions against tax havens, negotiating approach towards countries with potential harmful tax systems, cooperation against proliferation of tax havens Public Country by Country Reporting of corporate income tax by companies: reaction in US FATCA
12:00-13:00	Meeting with James Brumby, World Bank Governance Director	 Fight against tax evasion and tax avoidance at global level digital taxation Impact of tax evasion and tax avoidance on developing countries BEPS implementation and need for more?

2. List of participants

Petr JEZEK, Chair	ALDE
Ludek NIEDERMAYER, Co-Rapporteur	EPP
Jeppe KOFOD, Co-rapporteur	S&D
Ivan ŠTEFANEC	EPP
Paul TANG	S&D
Wolf KLINZ	ALDE
Sven GIEGOLD	Greens
Barbara KAPPEL	ENF
Petr JEZEK, Chair	CS

3. Key Findings from delegation visit:

Main issues discussed:

- The US tax reform might be in some points incompatible with the WTO agreement. However, the US administration does not intend to introduce any change unless it is forced by the outcome of a case litigation.
- There is a need to further clarify the principle according to which "taxation takes place where value is created". Is the place of value creation where an investment is made? Is it where intangible assets are located? Do consumers create value?
- The EU proposals on digital taxation are not well received in the US as well as the state aid cases that included some US companies. They are seen as exclusively targeting US companies and based on false principles.
- On FATCA, it seems unlikely that the current US administration and Congress will commit to a full reciprocal exchange of information on tax matters with the EU.
- There is no appetite in the US for public CBCR or to name and blame countries for bad fiscal practices.
- On beneficial ownership transparency, although in the US this as a State competence (corporate law), there are some moves at federal level, notably following a recent letter sent by the Secretary of State of Delaware to Congress accepting to consider the issue and supporting collecting these data at federal level. The reaction of other US States to this move is critical for further developments on the matter.

- US laws allow for any information exchanged by FINCEN to be used by law enforcement authorities without any additional specific request. FinCEN would favour that this applies also in other countries.
- Cryptocurrencies are increasingly used for money laundering purposes. While the trade of those currencies is already highly regulated in the US, most countries and the EU have not introduced any regulation yet.
- Evidence in the Paradise Papers shows that very well-known banks put intermediaries in difficulties by telling them that they are ultimate beneficial owners (UBO) of a company. Then intermediaries take the risk of starting business with the company because they know that risk is shared with the bank.
- The Panama Papers and the Paradise Paper have not been investigated by the relevant institutions. There has been only very limited reaction by the public.
- There are worrying signals in terms of money laundering in European Eastern Countries.

LINK TO THE FULL REPORT

IV-5.2 Mission to Riga (Latvia) - 30 - 31 August 2018

1. PROGRAMME

Thursday, 30 August 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Address/Tel	Subject
13:45 bus leaving the airport. Transfer to the passenger terminal of the port.			
14:00 - 16:15	Meeting with free ports authorities (including visit of free port) Mr Ansis Zeltins, CEO Edgars Suna, Deputy CEO and the Customs representatives: Mr Lauris Krivans, Head of the Customs Clearance Unit and Customs Process Management and Maris Purins, Deputy Head of Customs Control Points of Riga Customs Control Points' Division of the National Customs Board	<i>Visit of the freeport by boat (20 minutes) followed by meeting.</i>	 Transparency of customs freeports
Transfer to EP p	Transfer to EP premises: 30 minutes		
16:45 - 17.45	Meeting with relevant banks involved in ML issues as well as resident banks: The Finance Latvia Association (Association of Latvian Commercial Banks until July 2018)(Board and Council Members invited, main speakers Ms Sanda Liepina and Mr Janis Brazovskis; Swedbank and Luminor bank represented by this entity) ABLV Bank	EPLO office in Riga, Aspazijas bulvāris 28, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050	 Compliance with Anti Money Laundering rules

Time	Institution/Host	Address/Tel	Subject
	liquidator team represented by Andris Kovaļčuks, Arvīds Kostomārovs and Eva Berlaus		
17.50 - 18.50	Meeting with stakeholders: Ms Sanita Jemberga, Mr Juris Paiders, Ms Liene Gatere	EPLO office in Riga, Aspazijas bulvāris 28, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050	 Fight against money laundering, corruption Golden visas permits Fight against aggressive tax planning and tax evasion
19:00 - 19.45	Register of Enterprises, responsible for the beneficial ownership register (Ms Guna Paidere, Chief State Notary; Ms Laima Letina, Deputy Head of Legal department)	EPLO office in Riga, Aspazijas bulvāris 28, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050	 Beneficial ownership register
Transfer to the	hotel and own arrangements	for dinner	

* * *

Friday 31st August 2018

Transfer from the hotel to the EP Premises: 30 minutes. Depart from the hotel at 8:15			
8:45 - 10:00	Meeting with representatives of AML authorities Mr Peters Putnins, Chairman, Financial and Capital Market Commission; Ms Ilze Znotina, Chairperson, Office for Prevention of Laundering of Proceeds Derived from Criminal Activity (FIU Latvia)) and Bank of Latvia (Ms Zoja Razmusa, Deputy	EPLO office in Riga, Aspazijas bulvāris 28, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050	 Anti Money Laundering enforcement Banking supervision

Time	Institution/Host	Address/Tel	Subject
	Governor, currently acting Governor		
Transfer to the	Parliament of Latvia and secu	rity checks: 30 minut	tes
10:30 - 11:45	Meeting with National Parliament representatives Defence, Internal Affairs and Corruption Prevention Committee Mr Ainars Latkovskis, Chairman) Budget and Finance Committee; (Mr. Imants Parādnieks, Deputy Chairman, Mr. Ints Dālderis, Secretary	Jēkaba iela 11, Red Hall, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050, Latvia	 Fight against Money Laundering Taxation policy
12.15 - 13:00	Meeting with Minister of Finances Ms Dana Reizniece- Ozola) and the acting director general of the State Revenue Service (Ms Dace Pelēkā)	Smilšu iela 1, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050, Latvia	 Fight against Money Laundering Fight against aggressive tax planning and tax evasion
13:00	End of mission		
13:15 - 13:30	Press conference	EPLO office in Riga, Aspazijas bulvāris 28, Centra rajons, Rīga, LV-1050	Only for the Chair and the Co- rapporteurs

2. List of participants

Petr JEZEK, Chair	ALDE
Ana GOMES	S&D
Jeppe KOFOD	S&D
Dariusz ROSATI	EPP
Emil RADEV	EPP
Wolf KLINZ	ALDE
Molly SCOTT CATO	Greens
Paloma LOPEZ BERMEJO	GUE
Mario BORGHEZIO	ENF

3. Key Findings from delegation visit:

- The Port Authority does not check the origin of funds invested in the Port. However, the Port Authority claims that this check is made by the bank of the company investing in the Port. Customs only is allowed to make checks on goods entering the Freeport. 60 customs officials are based in the free port. Goods stay in the Freeport for a short period of time; the Freeport is not used for long-term storage of goods. However, there were situations when a company was not accepted to conclude a contract with the Freeport because of risk of money laundering.
- Fight against ML is very high on the political agenda. Many reforms have been undertaken in the recent years and months with already concrete results visible (decrease of shell companies and non-residents funds).
- Latvia was not the final destination of dirty money. Latvia was a state of transit and funds that left Latvia are now elsewhere in the EU and Europe. Destination countries include Cyprus, Malta, Austria and in particular Switzerland and the UK.
- Latvia has introduced a law banning shell companies that exist for money transfer rather than real economic activity. Many institutions met recommend this law being introduced at EU level. Many also recommend AML being regulated in Europe by a Regulation instead of a Directive to ensure consistency. They also favour the set-up of an EU FIU.
- Latvia introduced a public, online beneficial ownership register at the end of 2017.
 Every legal person has to register. It is a criminal offence to fill in wrong information in the register. The quality of data is reduced when it comes to non-residents owners.

- The Moneyval report is in general positive on national laws introduced in Latvia but very negative on the implementation and enforcement sides.
- The Golden Visas programme is declining because it is more expensive than in other EU countries Latvian experts regret that no information has been made public on who obtained visas in the framework of the Golden Visas programme.
- Many persons met call for the fight against money laundering to be dealt with at EU level, which could also include the ECB.

LINK TO THE FULL REPORT

1. PROGRAMME

Thursday, 22 November 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
17.00 - 18.00	Meeting with Paul Beckett, Senior Counsel at Mannbenham Advocates and author of different books and articles on the impact on tax havens on international human rights	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT
18.10 - 19.10	CANCELLED - Meeting with Appleby Ms Faye Moffett, Managing Partner	 Fight against money laundering, tax evasion and tax avoidance Transparency of beneficial ownership
19.45 - 22.00	Working dinner with: Hon Howard Quayle MHK, Chief Minister Hon Alfred Cannan MHK, Minister for the Treasury Hon Laurence Skelly MHK, Minister for Enterprise Mr Will Greenhow, Chief Secretary Walter Wannenburgh, Solicitor General Ms Sheila Lowe, Chief Financial Officer Treasury Ms Sandra Skuszka, Collector of Customs and Excise Isle of Man Mr Paul Martin, Deputy Assessor of Income Tax, Treasury Mr Michael Crowe, Chief Executive Isle of Man Finance Agency Ms Della Fletcher MBE, Executive Director, Crown and External Relations Michael Vercnocke, Head of Brussels Office	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT

Friday, 23 November 2018

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
8.00 - 9.15	Meeting with: Mr John Quinn, HM Attorney General Gary Roberts, Isle of Man Constabulary representative Ms Lindsey Bermingham, Director, Isle of Man Financial Intelligence Unit Ms Karen Ramsey, Head of AML/CFT Policy, Isle of Man Government	 Fight against money laundering tax evasion and tax avoidance
09.30 - 10.45	Meeting with: Hon Alfred Cannan MHK, Minister for the Treasury, Mr Paul Martin, Deputy Assessor of Income Tax, Treasury Ms Sandra Skuszka, Collector of Customs and Excise	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT
11.00 - 12.15	Meeting with: Ms Lillian Boyle, Chair, Isle of Man Financial Services Authority Mr Tom Maher, General Counsel, Isle of Man Financial Services Authority Ashley Whyte Manager in the AML Unit of the Isle of Man Financial Services Authority Ms Roxanne Oldham, Head of Policy and Authorisations Division, Isle of Man Financial Services Authority Mr Ron Spencer, Chair of the Isle of Man Gambling Supervision Commission Mr Steve Brennan, CEO, Isle of Man Gambling Supervision Commission Mr Mark Rutherford, Director of Policy and Legislation, Isle of Man Gambling Supervision Commission	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT

Time	Institution/Host	Subject	
12.30 - 14:00	Lunch Meeting with Board of the Island of Man Society of Chartered Accountants, Isle of Man Branch of the Council of the Trust and Estate Practitioners, and Island of Man Law Society Council	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT 	
14.15 - 14.45	Tour of Tynwald, House of Keys and Legislative Chamber led by Hon Stephen Rodan MLC, President of the Tynwald		
14.45-15.45	Meeting with Members of Tynwald: Economy Policy Review Committee, Public Accounts Committee	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership VAT 	
16.00-17.00	Meeting with Mr Chris Till, President of the Isle of Man Bankers association, and with representatives on the Isle of Man of RBS, Lloyds, Barclays and HSBC	 Fight against money laundering Fight against corporate and individual tax evasion Transparency of beneficial ownership 	
	End of mission		

2. List of participants

Petr JEZEK, Chair	ALDE
Ana GOMES, 4th Vice-Chair	S&D
Tom VANDENKENDELAERE, Vice Coordinator	EPP
Nils TORVALDS, Coordinator	ALDE
Arndt KOHN	S&D
Matt CARTHY	GUE/NGL
Barbara KAPPEL	ENF

3. Key Findings from delegation visit:

- The Isle of Man (IoM) economy is not captured by the financial sector, unlike Caribbean tax havens, as there are 10 sectors of economic activity on the island, and only one of them is finance. Other important sectors, for instance, are egambling or bio management.
- The problem of international taxation is the "beneficial ownership avoidance", which is created by the financial and tax industries. The lack of Ultimate Beneficial Ownership's (UBO) knowledge opens the door not only to tax evasion, but also to terrorism financing, "dark web" activities and other criminal activities.
- The Isle of Man legislation is largely aligned with international standards, but authorities confirm that they will not go beyond these in order to remain competitive.
- In regards to the UBO transparency, the UBO register is not public, but authorities ensure the data is accurate and available for the authorities and taxation purposes. The government insisted that public registries are not compulsory as per international standards, and there is no added value in granting public access to the information.
- The purpose of the "Non Charitable Purpose Trust" (NCPT) is to hide UBO information; it is a controversial instrument, which raised many questions. The Isle of Man government and other local stakeholders guarantee that this legal instrument does not pose aggravated risks, since the service provider must collect and supply BO information, if requested.
- Regarding the enforcement procedure initiated by the European Commission concerning abuse of VAT rules, the Manx authorities believe there is no infringement on their side since they put in place controls to guarantee that the aircrafts, which benefit from VAT deduction, are actually used predominantly for business purposes by the final owner.
- On the use of letterbox companies by big corporations on the Isle of Man, with the purpose of avoiding tax in other jurisdictions, Manx authorities sustained that they

are amending their legislation to ensure that any company established on the island fulfils the "economic substance" requirements. A new law should be introduced by March and ensure compliance with the EU standards. With an introduction of this law, Manx authorities expect to soon be out of the EU list on Non-Cooperative Jurisdictions.

- The local FIU recommends multilateral exchange of information, and better feedback from foreign counterparts on the use of information supplied.
- Since 2008, the banking industry has dramatically changed. There are less licenses now than in 2008 but no decrease of deposits since the implementation of the Common Reporting Standard.
- All banks on the IoM are global banks; they respect global standards, while only respecting local standards if they are stronger than global ones.

LINK TO THE FULL REPORT

IV-5.4 Mission to Estonia and Denmark -6-8 February 2019

1. PROGRAMME

Wednesday, 6 February 2019 - Tallinn, Estonia

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
13:45 - 15:00	Meeting with: Mr Sulev Vedler, Journalist at Ekspress Mr Harry Tuul, Journalist at EESTI Meedia	Fight against money laundering and terrorism financing in Estonia Money laundering through financial institutions in Estonia, with particular attention to the Danske Bank case Protection of journalists and whistle-blowers in Estonia Tax evasion and tax avoidance in Estonia
15:00 - 16:15	Meeting with Mr Frederik Bjørn, Head of the Baltics and Russia, Danske Bank Mr Ramūnas Bičiulaitis, Head of Danske Bank Baltic branches Mr Darius Jasinskis Head of the Estonian branch, and Mr Kim Larsen, Head of Communication and Relations	Danske Bank case and measures put in place in its Estonian branch to prevent money laundering
Transfer to Eston	ian Financial Supervisory Authority	
16:30 - 17:45	Meeting with Mr Kilvar Kessler, Chair of the board of Finantsinspektsioon (Estonian Supervisory Authority) Mr Andre Nõmm, Member of the Management Board, Mr Matis Mäeker, Head of AML/CFT and PSP Supervision Department, and Ms Livia Vosman, Head of Communication	Role of the Estonian Supervisory Authority in the fight against money laundering, with particular attention to the Danske Bank case and cooperation with the Danish Supervisory Authority Cooperation with other stakeholders, particularly enforcement authorities and Estonian FIU
Transfer to Office	of Estonia Prosecutor General	1

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
18:00-19:15	Meeting with: Ms Lavly Perling, Estonia Prosecutor General, and Mr Marek Vahing, State Prosecutor Mr Madis Reimand, Head of the Estonian Financial Intelligence Unit Mr Aivar Alavere, Head of Central Criminal Police	Role of the Prosecutor General's Office, Estonian FIU and Criminal Police in the fight against money laundering in Estonia, with particular attention to the Danske Bank case Cooperation with the Estonian Financial Supervisory Authority and with other Member States' FIUs and police forces
		State of play of Estonian AML/CTF legislation
Transfer to hotel		

* * *

Thursday, 7 February 2019 - - Tallinn, Estonia

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
8:15	Transfer to Estonian Parliament	
	Meeting with: Mr Toomas Tõniste, Estonia Minister of Finance, and	Fight against monoy laundaring
	Mr Märten Ross, Deputy Secretary General on Financial Services	Fight against money laundering in Estonia
8:30 - 9:30	Mr Dmitri Jegorov, Deputy Secretary General on Taxation	State of play of transposition of 4AMLD and plans for
0.30 - 9.30	Mr Toomas Vapper	transposition of 5AMLD
	Mr Andres Kuningas, Head of EU and International Affairs Dept.	CumEx and administrative cooperation with other Member
	Mrs Ivi Heldna, Head of the Public Relations Department	States
	Ms Ülle Eelmaa, lawyer involved in AMLD4-5 transposition	Fight against tax fraud and tax avoidance in Estonia
9:30 - 10:00	Press conference (Minister with Chair and Co-rapporteurs)	
Transfer to Tallinn Airport		

* * *

Thursday, 7 February 2019 - Copenhagen, Denmark

		State of play of the Danske Bank case
17:30 - 18:15	Meeting with Mr Morten Niels Jakobsen, State Prosecutor for Serious Economic and International Crime	State of play of Danish AML/CTF legislation
		CumEx
		Cooperation with authorities of other Member States and third countries
Transfer to hotel		

* * *

Friday, 8 February 2019 - Copenhagen, Denmark

Time	Institution/Host	Subject
8:00	Walking from hotel to EPLO	
	Meeting with:	Fight against money laundering
	Mr Niels Fastrup, journalist at DR (Danish public television),	and terrorism financing in Denmark, with particular
	Ms <u>Natascha Linn Felix</u> , Chair of the board Transparency International Denmark	attention to the Danske Bank case
8:30 - 9:45		CumEx
	Ms Helle Munk Ravnborg, Chairwoman, Action Aid Denmark	Protection of journalists and
	Ms Helle Munk Ravnborg, Chairwoman, Action Aid Denmark	whistle-blowers in Denmark
	Mr Lars Koch, Policy Director, Action Aid Denmark	Tax evasion and tax avoidance in Estonia
	Meeting with	Role of the Danish Bankers' Association (FIDA) in the fight
09:45-10:45	Mr Michael Rasmussen, Chairman of the Danish Bankers' Association (FIDA), Group Managing Director of	against money laundering and terrorism financing
09.49-10.49	Nykredit Realkredit A/S, and	State of play of the Danish
	Mr Ulrik Nødgaard, CEO of Finance	AML/CTF legislation
	Denmark,	CumEx

	Ms Sinne Backs Conan, Executive Director European Affairs, Finance Denmark	
	Meeting with	
10:45-11:45	Mr Jesper Nielsen, Interim CEO Danske Bank Mr Ronan Peter Coyle, Head of	State of play of the Danske Bank ML case and measures adopted by the bank to prevent ML cases in the future
	Business Unit Compliance, and	CumEx
	Mr Kim Larsen, Head of Communication and Relations	CUIIEX
Walking from EPL	O to Danish Parliament	
12:00 - 13:30 (Chairs of committees available until 13:00) (Working Lunch)	Meeting with Mr Morten Bødskov, The Social Democratic Party , Chairman of The Business, Growth and Export Committee, firmer Minister for Justice, Ms Lea Wermelin, The Social Democratic Party , Chairwoman of The Fiscal Affairs Committee, Mr Rune Lund, The Red-Green Allianc , Member of The Business, Growth and Export Committee and The Fiscal Affairs Committee.	Danske Bank case State of play of transposition of 4AMLD and plans for transposition of 5AMLD CumEx
13:30 Walking fro	m Danish Parliament to EPLO	
13:45 - 14:45	Meeting with Mr Jesper Berg, Director General, Danish Financial Supervisory Authority, and Mr Kristian Vie Madsen, Deputy Director General, and Mr Stig Nielsen, Director, Division for Anti Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Terrorism	Role of the Danish Supervisory Authority in the fight against money laundering, with particular attention to the Danske Bank case and cooperation with the Estonian Supervisory Authority Cooperation with other stakeholders, particularly enforcement authorities and Danish FIU

		Danske Bank case
15:00 - 16:00	Meeting with Mr Rasmus Jarlov, Minister of Industry, Business and Financial Affairs	State of play of transposition of 4AMLD and plans for transposition of 5AMLD CumEx
16:00 Walking from Ministry to EPLO (Members can decide to leave already, except Chair and Co-rapporteurs)		
16:15 - 16:45 Press Conference (only Chair and Co-rapporteurs)		
End of mission		

2. List of participants

Petr JEZEK, Chair	ALDE
Ana GOMES, 4th Vice-Chair	S&D
Jeppe KOFOD, Co-Rapporteur	S&D
Dariusz ROSATI, Coordinator	EPP
Wolf KLINZ, Shadow Rapporteur	ALDE
Tunne KELAM	EPP

LINK TO THE FULL REPORT

V. LIST OF STUDIES

1. Studies provided by the European Parliamentary Research Service (EPRS)		
18 October 2018	Citizenship and residency by investment schemes in the EU: state of play & impacts	Link to the Study
18 October 2018	Money Laundering and tax evasion risks in free ports and customs warehouses	Link to the Study
18 October 2018	An overview of shell companies in the EU	Link to the Study

2. Studies provided by the Policy Department "A" for Economic, Scientific and Quality of Life		
7 June 2018	Cryptocurrencies and blockchain	Link to the Study
10 October 2018	VAT fraud: economic impact, challenges and policy issues	Link to the Study
21 February 2019	Impact of digitalisation on international tax matters: challenges and remedies	Link to the Study

RR\1179147EN.docx

151/154

PE627.890v02-00

PE627.890v02-00

INFORMATION ON ADOPTION IN COMMITTEE RESPONSIBLE

Date adopted	27.2.2019
Result of final vote	$\begin{array}{cccc} +: & 34 \\ -: & 4 \\ 0: & 3 \end{array}$
Members present for the final vote	Matt Carthy, David Casa, David Coburn, Esther de Lange, Markus Ferber, Sven Giegold, Petr Ježek, Eva Joly, Othmar Karas, Wolf Klinz, Jeppe Kofod, Werner Langen, Aleksejs Loskutovs, Emmanuel Maurel, Louis Michel, Siegfried Mureşan, Luděk Niedermayer, Stanisław Ożóg, Emilian Pavel, Evelyn Regner, Dariusz Rosati, Virginie Rozière, Pirkko Ruohonen-Lerner, José Ignacio Salafranca Sánchez-Neyra, Massimiliano Salini, Anne Sander, Molly Scott Cato, Peter Simon, Paul Tang, Nils Torvalds, Miguel Urbán Crespo, Tom Vandenkendelaere, Roberts Zīle
Substitutes present for the final vote	Pervenche Berès, Arndt Kohn, Gilles Lebreton, Olle Ludvigsson, Elly Schlein, Marco Valli
Substitutes under Rule 200(2) present for the final vote	Jonás Fernández, Sofia Ribeiro

FINAL VOTE BY ROLL CALL IN COMMITTEE RESPONSIBLE

34	+
ALDE	Petr Ježek, Wolf Klinz, Louis Michel, Nils Torvalds
ECR	Pirkko Ruohonen-Lerner
EFDD	Marco Valli
ENF	Gilles Lebreton
GUE/NGL	Emmanuel Maurel, Miguel Urbán Crespo
PPE	Markus Ferber, Othmar Karas, Werner Langen, Aleksejs Loskutovs, Siegfried Mureşan, Luděk Niedermayer, Dariusz Rosati, José Ignacio Salafranca Sánchez-Neyra, Massimiliano Salini, Anne Sander, Tom Vandenkendelaere
S&D	Pervenche Berès, Jonás Fernández, Jeppe Kofod, Arndt Kohn, Olle Ludvigsson, Emilian Pavel, Evelyn Regner, Virginie Rozière, Elly Schlein, Peter Simon, Paul Tang
VERTS/ALE	Sven Giegold, Eva Joly, Molly Scott Cato

4	-
EFDD	David Coburn
PPE	David Casa, Esther de Lange, Sofia Ribeiro

3	0
ECR	Stanisław Ożóg, Roberts Zīle
GUE/NGL	Matt Carthy

Key to symbols: + : in favour

- : against

0 : abstention